Regulation of the activity of integrins during the cell cycle

Salvador Soriano Castell A thesis submitted to the University of Glasgow for the degree of Doctor in Philosophy

Department of Cell Biology University of Glasgow

September 1993 © 1993 S. Soriano Castell



ProQuest Number: 13833764

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 13833764

Published by ProQuest LLC (2019). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

SUMMARY exclusion of the subscription of the s

I compared the expression and activity of integrins in HeLa cells between interphase and mitosis. Cultures enriched in mitotic cells (>90%) were obtained by thymidine and nocodazole blocks. Early synchronisation experiments suggested that serum improved the rate of exit from metaphase in nocodazole-blocked cells. This was confirmed by quantification of postmetaphase cells at different times after release of the nocodazole block.

Immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting showed that HeLa cells express at least three integrin subunits, probably α_5 , α_v and β_1 . However, I could not detect β_3 subunits. Flow cytometry showed that integrins in HeLa cells were not expressed differently in mitosis and interphase. However, I found that, in spreading assays, cells arrested in metaphase with the microtubule inhibitor nocodazole were unable to spread on fibronectin, whereas control interphase cells spread normally in the presence of nocodazole. I could just detect spreading of mitotic cells on fibronectin if 1mM Mn²⁺ was present in the medium, or on glass surfaces in growth medium if the metaphase block was continued for 3-4 hours. Immunofluorescence showed that integrins were redistributed in this limited spreading, as well as in the process of respreading of non blocked, mitotic cells.

Analysis of fibronectin receptor activity using affinity chromatography of detergent extracts on the cell binding fragment of fibronectin showed that the mitotic receptor partially loses its activity. No phosphorylation of either mitotic or interphase receptors could be detected by immunoprecipitation from ³²P-labelled cells. I further investigated integrin phosphorylation and activity in cellular rounding caused by the phosphatase inhibitor calyculin A (CL-A), as it offered a possible model for cellular rounding at mitosis. Although fully spread HeLa cells did not respond to CL-A at concentrations reported to specifically stimulate CDK activity (i.e. 1-2nM), cellular rounding was achieved at ~50nM CL-A. Fibronectin receptor activity was lost from CL-A-treated cells, to a much larger extent than from mitotic cells, but again no phosphorylation was detected. Interestingly, low concentrations of CL-A (0.5-2nM) caused small but significant improvement of cell spreading, both on haemoglobin and on fibronectin, at the early stages (i.e. less than 30 min.). However, this effect was reversed on the long term.

Analysis of the biosynthesis of integrins during the cell cycle was also carried out using immunoprecipitation from ³⁵S-labelled cells. Asynchronous

cultures were compared with cell populations enriched in G1+S phases. The evidence suggests that, although there is a basal level of synthesis throughout the cell cycle, there may be a peak of synthesis in G2, especially of α subunits. The results also show the presence of a large cytoplasmic pool of β subunit.

List of abortylations and an
CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION
1. EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX
1.1.1 Fibronectin structure
1.1.2 Cell-fibronectin interactions
1.1.3. ECM-Fibronectin interactions
12 Vitropectio
1.2 Witropective structure and function
13 Laminin
1.3.1. Laminin recentry.
1 R Presentational and a second s
2 CELL ADDERION MOLECULES
2.1.1 Integriny structure
2.4 Nonutritory oil actuation reportions
201 Cable of the immunel shall some novil
2.3.2 Calemana
2 ÉRIS POLI HINITTONS
2 4 Grant adhering
1 A C TA C TA MANDALIA AND AND A CONTRACT AND A CON
3 DOCTON A POTT ATTOCATE DITOCTOR OF A
C PRATERY MULTUALATION BY FILDS BUNCH WITH THE STATE
D. RECOLLATION OF INTEGRATION AND A STATE
and but receiversher structures in interior local uniting
BCI VILY there are an
5.4. Changes in generalization induced on the trans-
1. 1.1 Suburates for minufic CDF

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Summary	ii
List of tables.	vi
List of illustrations.	vii
List of abbreviations	
Acknowledgements	ix

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.	EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX	2
	1.1. Fibronectin	2
	1.1.1.Fibronectin structure	2
	1.1.2. Cell-fibronectin interactions.	3
	1.1.3. ECM-Fibronectin interactions	4
	1.2. Vitronectin	5
	1.2.1 Vitronectin structure and function	5
	1.3. Laminin	7
	1.3.1. Laminin receptors	9
	1.4. Collagens	10
	1.5. Proteoglycans	11
2.	CELL ADHESION MOLECULES	13
	2.1. Integrins	14
	2.1.1. Integrin structure	15
	2.2. Non-integrin cell adhesion receptors.	19
	2.2.1. CAMs of the immunoglobulin superfamily	19
	2.2.2. Cadherins and morphogenesis	20
	2.2.3. Selectins	21
3.	CELL-ECM JUNCTIONS	22
	3.1. focal adhesions	22
	3.1.1. FA components	22
	3.1.2 Physiological relevance of focal adhesions	24
	3.2 Hemidesmosomes	24
	3.2.1. Hemidesmosome components	25
4.	PROTEIN MODULATION BY PHOSPHORYLATION	25
5.	REGULATION OF INTEGRINS	29
F	5.1. Role of lock-washer structures in integrin ligand-binding	
	activity	29
	5.2. Role of integrins in focal adhesion formation	31
	5.3. Role of integrins in platelets and the immune system	32
	5.4. Changes in gene expression induced by integrins	34
	5.5. Role of integrins in cytoplasmic pH modifications	36
6.	CELL CYCLE	37
	6.1. Regulation of the cell cycle	38
	6.1.1. Substrates for mitotic CDKs	40
	6.1.2. Substrates for G1 and S CDKs	44

CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

1. MATERIALS	47
1.1. Media	47
1.2. Tissue culture vessels	49
1.3. Solutions and reagents used for synchronization	49
1.4. Reagents used for Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis	49
1.5. Antibodies	49
1.6. Solutions and reagents used for Western blotting	50
1.7 Solutions and reagents used for immunoprecipitation	50
1.8. Solutions and reagents used for affinity chromatography	52
1.9. Materials and reagents used for spreading assays	53
1.10 Radioactive materials	53
1.11 Calyculin A	54
2. METHODS	55
2.1. Cell culture and growth conditions	55
2.2. Fluorochrome staining for mycoplasma	55
2.3. Cell synchronization	56
2.4. Spreading assays	57
2.5. Immunofluorescence	57
2.6. Flow cytometry	58
2.7. Immunoprecipitation of cell surface integrins	59
2.8. Measurement of radioactivity by TCA precipitation	60
2.9. Protein measurement from 32P-labeled cells	60
2.10. Immunoblotting	60
2.11. Isolation of fibronectin	62
2.12. Affinity chromatography	62
2.13. Analysis of integrin phosphorylation	63
2.14. Bicsynthesis of the fibronectin receptor during the cell cycle	64

CHAPTER 3. RESULTS

1. ISOLATION OF CELL-BINDING FRAGMENT FROM	
FIBRONECTIN	69
2. SPREADING EXPERIMENTS	69
2.1. Interphase cells versus mitotic cells	69
2.2. Effect of serum on metaphase->anaphase transition	70
3. IMMUNOLC'CALIZATION OF MITOTIC AND INTERPHASE $\alpha_5\beta_1$	
AND $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_{3}$ INTEGRUNS	72
4. EXPRESSION OF MITOTIC AND INTERPHASE INTEGRINS	73
4.1. Flow cytometry	74
4.2. Immunocrecipitation of cell surface integrins	74
4.3. Immunoblotting	75

.

· .

5. ANALYSIS OF THE ACTIVITY OF THE FIBRONECTIN RECEPTOR	
IN MITOSIS AND INTERPHASE.	75
6. IMMUNOPRECIPITATION OF INTEGRINS FROM ³² P- AND ³⁵ S-	
LABELED CELLS	76
6.1. Analysis of integrin phosphorylation	
6.2. Cell cycle-related biosynthesis of integrins	76
7. EFFECTS OF CALYCULIN A ON HeLa CELLS	78
7.1. Spreading of CL-A treated cells	78
7.2. Effect of calyculin A on the integrin $\alpha_5\beta_1$	83
8. OPTIMISATION OF SYNCHRONISATION METHODS	84
8.1. Nocodazole and thymidine blocks	84
8.2. Synchronisation methods	85

CHAPTER 4. DISCUSSION

1. SPREADING EXPERIMENTS	
1.1. Spreading of mitotic cells	
1.2. Effects of serum on mitotic cells	
2. IMMUNOLOCALIZATION OF $\alpha_5\beta_1$ AND $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_3$ INTEGRINS	91
3. EXPRESSION OF INTEGRINS	
4. ACTIVITY AND PHOSPHORYLATION STATES OF MITOTIC AN	D
INTERPHASE INTEGRINS	
4.1 isolation of the fibronectin receptor using affinity	
chromatography	
4.2. Changes in phosphorylation	
5. BIOSYNTHESIS OF β_1 INTEGRINS	
6. EFFECTS OF CALYCULIN A ON CELL SPREADING AND ON β1	
INTEGRINS	100
7. FINAL CONCLUSIONS	104

LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

Table 1.1. Integrin subunits and their interactions	
Table 1.2. Sequence alignment of Ca ²⁺ -binding sites in GBP and EF-ha	nd
loops	
Table 1.3.Substrates for CDK/ cyclin complexes	

CHAPTER 3. RESULTS

Table 3.1. Relative amounts of integrin bands in interphase and mitosis,	
from ¹²⁵ I-labeled cells	68
Table 3.2. c.p.m. recovered from CBF columns with EDTA	69
Table 3.3. Relative amounts of integrin bands in interphase and mitosis,	
from ³⁵ S-labeled cells	71
CHAPTER 2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

••••
••••
••••
•••••

CHAPTER 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

ICAM	
	Intermediate filament
LFA	
MAP	
MPP	Maturation-promoting factor
N-CAM	Neural CAM
Ne-CAM	Neural tissue CAM
OA	
PMA	
PSA	
PTP	Protein verosine phosphalase
RFA	
SH	
	Transferences and a faither S
MA	
	Virginatia

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

CKNOWLEDGEMENTS

AJ.	Adherens-type junction
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
CAM	Cell adhesion molecule
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CBF	(Fibronectin) cell-binding fragment
CL-A	Calyculin A e Department of Cell Biology:
CDC	Cell division cycle
CDK	Cyclin-dependent kinase
cDNA	Complementary deoxy ribonucleic acid
ECM	Extracellular matrix Dr. Geolfrey Moores, who have mentioned
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
EHS	Englebreth-Holm-Swarn (murine tumor)
FA	Focal adhesion
FN	Fibronectin y and Bacteriology, for allowing me the use of a LACS
GAG	Glycosaminoglycan
GBP	(Bacterial) galactose-binding protein
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
HA	Hyaluronic acid
HNMR	Proton nuclear magnetic resonance the short shared many good
ICAM	Intercellular CAM
IF	Intermediate filament
LFA	Lymphocyte function-associated antigen
MAP	Mitogen-activated protein
MPF	Maturation-promoting factor so much easier
N-CAM	Neural CAM
Ng-CAM	Neural tissue CAM
OA	Okadaic acid
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PMA	Phorbol myristate acetate
PSA	Polysialic acid
PSP	Protein serine phosphatase
РТР	Protein tyrosine phosphatase
RPA	(DNA-binding) replication protein A
SH	Src homolgy domain
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor β
VLA	Very late after activation-antigen
VN	Vitronectin
VWF	von Willebrand factor

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank C.A.M. (Caja de Ahorros del Mediterraneo, Alicante) for funding this project.

I am also grateful to Professor Adam Curtis, for allowing me the opportunity to work in the Department of Cell Biology.

Dr. John Edwards has given me support, encouragement and guidance throughout these years, for which I am specially indebted to him.

I would also like to thank Dr. Geoffrey Moores, who gave me a hand when things got difficult; Andy Hart for introducing me to photography techniques, Gordon Campbell for his help with cell cultures, and Dr. McSharry, at the Dpt. of Immunology and Bacteriology, for allowing me the use of a FACS machine for flow cytometry studies.

Many thanks to Scot for his invaluable help in the lab, for being such a good friend and for so many memorable Friday evenings at the pub. Thanks also to Enrique, my long-term mate, and Pachi, with whom I shared many good moments.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Ana, who has been the greatest help during these years. She also introduced me to immunoblottings and to some computer tricks that made life so much easier.

And finally, thanks to my family, who supported me and stood behind me all the way.

X

A mis padres

INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER 1

The existence of an extracellular matrix (ECM), the ground substance secreted by cells, has been known for many years. Ultrastructural studies were able to identify well organised collagen fibrils, the only ECM component showing some degree of ethictural order. Little more advance was achieved until the discovery that there were several types of collagen (see below, 1.4, collagens), which suggested that there could be different, possibly cell-type specific, ECM components (Bernfield, 1989). The discovery of fibromectin and the characterization at the molecular level of its interactions (Bernfield, 1989). Ruoslahti, et al., 1981; Ruoslabti, 1988) stimulated many investigators to search for more components and it soon became clear that the ECM is extremely complex. There are two main types of ECM the basal lamina and the interstinal matrix, each containing **INTRODUCTION** ponents, together with proteoglycans and glycoproteins (Bernfield, 1989).

the ECM: fibronectin, vitronuction to some of the most studied components of the ECM: fibronectin, vitronuctin, laminin, collagene and proteoglycans, and also discuss briefly their interactions with cells. I will focus particularly on fibronectin and vitronectin, since the work described in this thesis deals with receptors for these glycoproteins.

1.1. Fibronactin

One of the most studied macromolecules in the ECM is fibronoction. Fibronection is a glycoprotein that mediates both cell anchorage and dynamic processes such as migration and ECM remodelling in wound healing and embryonic development (Euoslahti, 1988; Schwarzbauer, 1991; Yamada, 1989).

1.1.1. Fibronectin structure

The amino acid sequence of the fibroneciin polypept de has and determined for boulne, tet and human species (Hynes, 1990). They share slach degree of sequence similarity. The structure of fibronectin is shown in figure 1.1. The actual fibroneciin molecule is composed of two subunits linked through a pair of disulfithe bonds near the COOFHermious, resulting in a dimer of -550kDa. Each subunit consists of three types of homologous sequences termed L II and HI. These sequences constitute units of follied accordary structure, which may assemble to form domains with specific affinities. For example, four type I and two type II repeats near the N terminus constitute a domain with affinity for collagen (see figure 1.1).

1. EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX

The existence of an extracellular matrix (ECM), the ground substance secreted by cells, has been known for many years. Ultrastructural studies were able to identify well organised collagen fibrils, the only ECM component showing some degree of structural order. Little more advance was achieved until the discovery that there were several types of collagen (see below, 1.4. collagens), which suggested that there could be different, possibly cell-type specific, ECM components (Bernfield, 1989). The discovery of fibronectin and the characterization at the molecular level of its interactions (Bernfield, 1989; Ruoslahti, *et al.*, 1981; Ruoslahti, 1988) stimulated many investigators to search for more components and it soon became clear that the ECM is extremely complex. There are two main types of ECM: the basal lamina and the interstitial matrix, each containing collagens as the major components, together with proteoglycans and glycoproteins (Bernfield, 1989).

I will give a brief introduction to some of the most studied components of the ECM: fibronectin, vitronectin, laminin, collagens and proteoglycans, and also discuss briefly their interactions with cells. I will focus particularly on fibronectin and vitronectin, since the work described in this thesis deals with receptors for these glycoproteins.

1.1. Fibronectin

One of the most studied macromolecules in the ECM is fibronectin. Fibronectin is a glycoprotein that mediates both cell anchorage and dynamic processes such as migration and ECM remodelling in wound healing and embryonic development (Ruoslahti, 1988; Schwarzbauer, 1991; Yamada, 1989).

1.1.1. Fibronectin structure

The amino acid sequence of the fibronectin polypeptide has been determined for bovine, rat and human species (Hynes, 1990). They share a high degree of sequence similarity. The structure of fibronectin is shown in figure 1.1. The actual fibronectin molecule is composed of two subunits linked through a pair of disulfide bonds near the COOH-terminus, resulting in a dimer of ~550kDa. Each subunit consists of three types of homologous sequences termed I, II and III. These sequences constitute units of folded secondary structure, which may assemble to form domains with specific affinities. For example, four type I and two type II repeats near the N terminus constitute a domain with affinity for collagen (see figure 1.1).

2

Type I homologies consist of 45 amino acids containing two disulfide bonds. The two type II sequences present in fibronectin (see figure 1.1) contain two disulfide bonds, as do type I sequences, and are 60 residues long. Type III residues are around 90 amino acids long and lack disulfide bonds (Hynes, 1990).

The structure of a type 1 module has been elucidated using H NMR (Baron *et al.* 1990). The main feature is the existence of two anti-parallel β -sheets. Both sheets have a right-handed twist and are stacked on top of one another, enclosing a hydrophobic core containing three highly conserved aromatic residues and the two consensus disulphide bonds. The secondary structure of a type III module has also been elucidated using NMR (Baron *et al.* 1993). There are seven β -strands in two antiparallel β -sheets, with the RGD sequence located on a loop between two β -strands.

The molecular weight of fibronectin varies according to the source, since cell type specific alternative splicing occurs within the fibronectin gene (Tamkun, Schwarzbaure *et al.*, 1984). Thus, plasma fibronectin, synthesized mainly in the liver (Tamkun, Schwarzbaure *et al.*, 1983), has two subunits with different molecular weight and is smaller than fibrillar fibronectin produced by other cell types. Alternative splicing is also responsible for at least 20 variants of the human fibronectin family (Reviewed by K.M. Yamada, 1989).



Figure 1.1.Structure of fibronectin. Modules I, II and III are assembled into domains with specific affinities. IIICS region is regulated by alternative splicing. CS1 signal consists of the octapeptide EILDVPST and CS5, which is active in binding to melanoma cells, contains REDV as the active sequence. See text for detail. Sekiguchi *et al.* 1991.

As mentioned above, inbronections (notic plasma and cellular forms) also bind to other extracellular matrix comparisents. Their binding to collagen and gelatin has been extensively studied. Collagens I, II, III, IV and V all show some

1.1.2. Cell-fibronectin interactions.

Fibronectin promotes cell adhesion and spreading by binding directly to its receptor(s) (see below, integrins section). Some molecular details about this interaction have been unveiled. Experiments involving controlled proteolysis of the fibronectin molecule and further sequence analysis (Pierschbacher and Ruoslahti, 1984; Pierschbacher et al., 1981) demonstrated that the presence of a tetrapeptide (RGDS) is sufficient to promote cell adhesion significantly. This sequence is found in a type III repeat (III-10) in the fibronectin molecule, is conserved between species and is present also in other extracellular matrix components with cell binding capacity, like vitronectin, collagen, thrombin and fibrinogen. There are other sites for cell adhesion in the fibronectin molecule in the vicinity of III-7 or III-8, which act cooperatively with the RGDS sequence (Obara et al., 1987; Obara et al., 1988), and in the IIICS (also called V) region. This region, which has no homology to any other segment of fibronectin, is subject to alternative splicing and is less conserved among species. It has cellattachment activity contained in the sequence REDV (melanoma cells) and in the segment CSI (with EILDVPST as the active sequence), in neural crestderived cells and lymphocytes (Humphries et al., 1986; Humphries et al., 1987; Yamada and Kleinman, 1992). It has been reported that the heparin-binding site at the C-terminal side of III-10 also has cell-binding capacity, probably through the proteoglycans present in the cell surface (reviewed by Hynes, 1990).

Integrins are the best known fibronectin receptors. They are the main mediators of fibronectin-induced signals, involving regulation of cell adhesion, migration, wound healing and other processes (see below, integrins section). Other cell surface molecules, mainly proteoglycans, may also bind specifically to fibronectin. Laterra and Culp (1982) and Stamatoglou and Keller (1982) observed the binding of cell surface heparan sulfate, but not other cell surface GAGs, to plasma fibronectin, using low salt concentrations in the absence of phosphate. However, little is known about the physiological relevance of these interactions. It is possible that heparan sulfate is involved in late adhesion events or cell spreading, since treatment with heparinase does not affect attachment, although spreading on fibronectin is inhibited (Laterra *et al.*, 1983; McInnes *et al.*, 1987).

1.1.3. ECM-Fibronectin interactions

As mentioned above, fibronectins (both plasma and cellular forms) also bind to other extracellular matrix components. Their binding to collagen and gelatin has been extensively studied. Collagens I, II, III, IV and V all show some

homologies to other peptides. The most obvious example is the somatomedar B

degree of affinity for fibronectin, which is enhanced when heat-denatured forms of collagen (gelatin) are used (Engvall and Ruoslahti, 1977; Engvall, Ruoslahti *et al.*, 1978). Fibrin and fibrinogen also bind to plasma fibronectin in a non covalent way, although covalent cross-linking occurs in the presence of blood clotting factor XIIIa (Mosher, 1975; Mosher, 1976). K.M. Yamada et al (1980) showed that cellular chicken fibronectin binds reversibly to the glycosaminglycans (GAGs) heparin and hyaluronic acid (HA) but not to chondroitin sulfate.

The interactions of fibronectin with other ECM macromolecules to form fibronectin-rich matrices are very likely to play central roles in the regulation of its structure and function.

1.2. Vitronectin

Early experiments using gel filtration chromatography to assess the spreading activity of serum (Knox and Griffiths, 1980) identified two peaks, one corresponding to fibronectin and the other to an unrelated 70 kDa protein (serum spreading factor). (Knox and Griffiths, 1980). The same authors (Knox and Griffiths, 1980; Knox and Griffiths, 1982) showed that the 70K protein is the cell spreading factor under normal culture conditions, rather than fibronectin. Other authors, using different approaches , have identified a serum spreading factor, vitronectin, which apparently refers to the same glycoprotein, so called because of its affinity for glass beads (Hayman *et al.* 1983; Barnes and Silnutzer, 1983).

1.2.1Vitronectin structure and function

The amino acid sequence of vitronectin has been elucidated from cDNA (Suzuki *et al.*, 1985). The study of the gene intron-exon organization (Jenne and Stanley, 1987) shows that there are eight exons and seven introns and there is no indication of alternative splicing. Vitronectins from different species are in the range of 56K-80K (Kitagaki-Ogawa*et al.*, 1990), and there is a substantial immunological cross-reactivity between porcine, human, horse and bovine vitronectins (Preissner, 1991). Unlike fibronectin, vitronectin has no series of repeating domains. However, there are several domains with strong homologies to other peptides. The most obvious example is the somatomedin B domain, at the N terminus (see figure 1.2), so called from its identical sequence to the peptide somatomedin B (Suzuki *et al.*, 1984). Another protein with strong homology is the human membrane glycoprotein PC-1 (Buckley *et al.*, 1990), which contains tandem repeats of the somatomedin B domain with eight

5

interlinked cysteines in identical positions. The physiological relevance of those domains as independent peptides or as part of other proteins, like vitronectin, remains obscure. It is possible that, in vitronectin, the somatomedin B domain is released after proteolysis between Thr-44 and Arg-45 or Arg-45 and Gly-46, interfering with the activity of the R45-G46-D47 sequence (Preissner, 1991), in which the main cell-binding activity of vitronectin resides. This sequence constitutes the first three residues of the connecting segment.



Figure 1.2. Vitronectin structure. The connecting segment starts with the sequence RGD, followed by a cysteine-free region from residues 48 to 130. The central domain contains six hemopexin-type repeats (see text for details); it also contains the protease-sensitive site between Arg379 and Ala380. Modified from Suzuki et al. (1984).

RGD is present in other ECM molecules (see above, fibronectin section) and is recognized by many integrins (D'Souza *et al.*, 1991; Humphries, 1990), which are the main vitronectin receptors identified so far (Humphries, 1990).

The connecting segment also contains a region free of cysteines, between residues 48 (just after RGD) and 130, with no homology to other known sequences, and responsible for the collagen-binding activity of vitronectin (Gebb *et al.*, 1986; Izumi *et al.*, 1988). As this segment also contains crosslinking sites at Gln 93 and two adjacent Gln, through which factor XIIIa/transglutaminase may catalyse the formation of vitronectin oligomers (Sane *et al.*, 1988), it is possible that vitronectin may bind irreversibly, via those sites, to collagen-rich matrices (Preissner, 1991).

Vitronectin also contains two domains homologous to hemopexin. Hemopexin is a serum glycoprotein that binds heme groups and transports them to the liver for salvage of iron. It contains two homologous domains, each made up of four homologous repeats and connected by a hinge region (Takahashi *et al.*, 1985). In the vitronectin molecule, six hemopexin-type repeats span from residues 132 to 459, with a putative hinge region around Pro-268, suggesting an incomplete four repeat-domain duplication during evolution (Preissner, 1991). As with hemopexin, binding of heme groups to vitronectin

6

may alter its conformation, although it is not known if heme-vitronectin interactions have physiological relevance (Preissner, 1991).

Although vitronectin is synthesized as a single chain glycoprotein, some plasma vitronectin may appear as two chains (65kDa and 10kDa) when run on SDS gels under reducing conditions. This is due to the presence of a protease sensitive site at Arg-379/Ala380 (see figure 1.2), near the C terminus (Preissner, 1991). The possible relevance of this proteolytic site is unknown.

The heparin-binding domain participates in cell binding. It binds to vessel-wall heparan sulfate and other cell surface GAGs. It consists of a Cterminal segment of 40 aminoacids rich in basic residues and containing several heparin-binding consensus sequences of the type: X-B-B-X-B-X (B:basic residue) (Preissner, 1991). Although the native vitronectin does not bind appreciably to heparin, conformational changes increase heparin affinity. This feature is likely to have physiological relevance: vitronectin seems to play a role in haemostasis via its heparin-binding activity (Preissner et al., 1987b). Various GAGs (including heparin) act as cofactors enhancing the inhibition of thrombin and other coagulation enzymes (Damus et al., 1973). The heparin-binding ability of vitronectin inhibits the heparin-accelerated interaction of thrombin or factor Xa with antithrombin, thus neutralizing the anticoagulant properties of heparin (Preissner, 1991; Preissner and Muller-Berghaus, 1987a; Preissner et al., 1987b). The mechanism involves protecting thrombin from fast inactivation by the complex antithrombinIII-heparin. Vitronectin competes directly with the inhibitor for the binding site on heparin. Heparin-binding forms of vitronectin are present in plasma in quantities that suggest that the above mechanism may occur in vivo (Preissner, 1991).

Vitronectin may also form a ternary complex: vitronectin-thrombinantithrombin, with properties still unknown (Preissner *et al.*, 1987b; Tomasini and Mosher, 1988). Its formation also involves a change in vitronectin conformation, exposing the heparin-binding domain. These ternary complexes are recognized by integrins at the vitronectin and possibly the thrombin RGD sites. As these complexes are likely to be concentrated in vessel walls, due to their affinity for endothelial cell GAGs, it is possible that they have a role in integrating integrin- and non integrin- mediated responses at sites of vessel wall injury (Preissner, 1991).

Vitronectin has also been shown to block lytic pore formation by the complement system by a mechanism dependent on the heparin-binding domain (Preissner, 1991).

It is clear from this information that vitronectin cannot be considered just as a substrate molecule on which cells adhere and spread. It is rather a versatile molecule that links cell adhesion to other processes, particularly those involved in immune defense, hemostasis and wound healing.

1.3. Laminin

Laminin is a glycoprotein present in basement membranes, the thin ECM surrounding epithelial tissues, nerves, fat cells and muscles. It was initially characterised in Englebreth-Holm-Swarm (EHS) murine tumor (Timpl *et al.* 1979). EHS laminin consists of three large polypeptide chains, A, B1 and B2. Their sizes are 300kDa (440 glycosylated), 205kDa (225 glycosylated) and 185kDa (205 glycosylated) respectively. These subunits are held together in a cruciform structure via many inter- and intra-chain disulfide bonds (Martin and Timpl, 1987). Studies with cDNA clones have shown that the A chain has three globular domains at the amino terminus separated by three EGF-like repeats (see figure 1.3.). The remainder forms part of the long arm and has a coiled-coil structure, finishing in a large globular domain. B1 and B2 chains are structurally similar, containing two globular domains and two EGF-like repeats (reviewed by Kleinman and Weeks, 1989).



Figure 1.3. Schematic model of Laminin structure. Filled circles represent globular domains. Numbers indicate protrolytic fragments from elastase treatment. See text for details. Adapted from Maxham, 1991.

Laminin exhibits several biological activities, including promotion of cell adhesion, migration and neurite outgrowth. Several data suggest that laminin is central in development. It is synthesised at the two-cell stage (Mecham, 1987), it is able to cause differentiation of mesenchymal cells into epithelium in the kidney, and it is localised along the path of neural crest cell migration in developing tissues but not in the adult (reviewed by Kleinman and Weeks, 1989).

The active sites within the laminin molecule have been identified using controlled proteolysis (Rao *et al.* 1982: Edgar *et al.* 1984: Palm *et al.* 1985). Numbers in figure 1.3. indicate different fragments obtained by digestion with elastase. Fragment 1-4 (also E1-4), the three short arms, binds to collagen IV and promotes the attachment of MCF-7 epithelium-derived cells (Terranova *et al.* 1983). Fragment 1 (E1; not shown) contains the short arms, except the terminal globular domains. It retains cell attachment activity, but lacks the collagen-binding activity (Terranova *et al.* 1983). Fragment 8 (E8) spans the lower 35 nm of the long arm and stimulates neurite outgrowth (Edgar *et al.* 1984). Fragment 4 (E4) binds to collagen (Martin and Timpl. 1987). The large globular domain at the end of the long arm (C terminus) contains a heparin-binding site (Ott *et al.* 1982).

The rod-like segments between the globular domains in the short arms exhibit homology to EGF, and fragments 1 and 1-4, both containing EGF-like repeats, show growth-factor activity, possibly mediated through the EGF receptor. The evidence for this function comes from studies (Panayotou *et al.* 1989) showing that fragments 1 and 1-4 stimulate thymidine incorporation in cells expressing EGF receptors but have no effect in cells lacking those receptors. However, laminin and its fragments 1 and 1-4 failed to compete with the EGF receptor in assays of radioligand inhibition. The authors suggest that laminin and its fragments might bind to a different site on the receptor than EGF. Alternatively, a receptor co-expressed with the EGF receptor might be involved.

1.3.1. Laminin receptors

Early studies using affinity chromatography showed the presence of a laminin-binding protein of 67 kDa from tumour cells (Rao *et al.* 1983; Malinoff and Wicha, 1983). Subsequently, several laboratories identified the 67 kDa receptor in several other cell types (reviewed by Mecham, 1991). Later on this receptor was shown to be identical to the elastin receptor, a galactose-specific lectin (Mercurio, 1990). Other lectins have been reported as laminin-binding proteins *in vitro* (reviewed by Mecham, 1991). However, their physiological relevance as *in vivo* receptors for laminin is not yet understood.

levels of organization, collagen fibrils can form fibres which, in turn, associate

artheitis (Cawston et al., 1984; Maciewicz et al., 1989).

The best characterised laminin receptors belong to the integrin family (see below, integrins section). $\alpha_1\beta_1$, $\alpha_2\beta_1$, $\alpha_3\beta_1$, $\alpha_6\beta_1$, $\alpha_7\beta_1$ and $\alpha_v\beta_3$ have been reported to bind to laminin *in vitro* (reviewed by Hynes, 1992). Although the laminin molecule contains an RGD sequence (see above, fibronectin section) in the central EGF-like repeat of the A chain, this sequence is inactive in integrin binding. Elastase-derived fragment 8 binds to $\alpha_3\beta_1$ and $\alpha_6\beta_1$, and fragment 1 binds to $\alpha_1\beta_1$.

Integrin $\alpha_6\beta_4$ adheres to the fragment 8 of laminin, at least in a colon adenocarcinoma-derived human cell line. However, the role of this integrin as a laminin receptor in other cell lines remains controversial (Lee *et al.* 1992).

1.4. Collagens

Collagens are the most abundant components of the extracellular matrix, forming the banded fibres seen ultrastucturally in the majority of vertebrate tissues (Burgeson, 1988). At present there are fourteen known types of collagen, all containing triple helical and globular domains. The triple helix is made up of three α chains, which are left-handed helices wound together to produce a right-handed helix. The overall structure is approximately 1.4 nm in diameter, with variable length (Burgeson, 1988). Figure 1.4 shows the structure of some collagens in a simplified form. Each α chain consists of more than 1000 aminoacids. The triple helix-forming sequence is (gly-x-y)_n, where x is usually a proline and y is a hydroxyproline. The alicyclic nature of both aminoacids prevents rotation around the C-N bond in the peptide backbone, thus providing rigidity to the α chain.

In some cases, the triple helices aggregate in an overlapping way to form collagen fibrils, stabilised by intra and intermolecular crosslinking. In further levels of organization, collagen fibrils can form fibres which, in turn, associate to form fibre bundles (Light and Bailey, 1981; Reid, 1991).

The role of collagens is mainly structural, being the main contributors to the determination and stabilization of adult tissue architecture. In development, collagen degradation is an important process, as tissues are continuously being remodeled. The enzymes responsible for collagen degradation fall into three categories: metalloproteinases, neutral proteinases and lysosomal cathepsins (reviewed by Reid, 1991). These enzymes are also active in wound healing and in some pathological processes involving destruction of connective tissue, such as lytic tumor invasion and rheumatoid arthritis (Cawston *et al.*, 1984; Maciewicz *et al.*, 1989).

10

Collagens have multiple receptors. The best characterized are β_1 and β_3 integrins (see below, integrins section). Syndecan, a proteoglycan, binds also to collagens I, III and V (see below, proteoglycans, section). In HeLa cells, four proteins of 102, 87, 45 and 38 KDa have been claimed to be integrin-unrelated collagen receptors by several criteria (Beacham and Jacobson, 1990; Lu *et al.*, 1989). In fibroblasts and chondrocytes, anchorin CII has also been characterized as a collagen receptor (Fernandez *et al.*, 1988). It is interesting that so many apparently unrelated proteins should act as collagen receptors. Obviously, further work will be needed to establish the possible relationships between them, and their role *in vivo*.



Figure 1.4 Collagens. Simplified structures of several collagen types. Open rods and circles indicate portions removed prior to incorporation into insoluble matrices. The rest of the molecule is indicated in closed circles and rods. Modified from Burgesson, 1988.

1.5. Proteoglycans

Proteoglycans are present at the cell surfaces and in the ECM in multiple forms. They consist of a protein core covalently bound to glycosaminoglycans, which are large carbohydrates made up of disaccharide repeats. Glycosaminoglycans exist in four different forms: hyaluronic acid, keratan sulfate, chondroitin sulfate and dermatan sulfate, and heparan sulfate and heparin (Ruoslahti and Yamaguchi, 1991). They all have strong negative charge, especially the sulfated ones, which enable them to bind to a large number of components. However, binding specificity is provided by specific carbohydrate sequences, rather than by the charge itself. In fact, the potential of carbohydrate sequences to encode biologic information is remarkable. This potential becomes obvious if we realize that glucose may form up to 11 different disaccharides and 35,560 different tetrasaccharides, against 2 dipeptides and 24 tetrapeptides respectively for aminoacids, although a small subset of oligosacccharides actually exists.

There is a known hexasaccharide sequence in hyaluronic acid which confers cell binding activity. It consists of three repetitions of the disaccharide glucuronic acid-N-acetylglucosamine joined β 1--->3 with the disaccharide units joined β 1--->4 (Aruffo *et al.*, 1990)

The protein core is variable, in accordance with the diversity of distribution of proteoglycans. Aggrecan, perlecan, versican, decorin and fibromodulin are all proteoglycans of the ECM (Ruoslahti and Yamaguchi, 1991). Syndecan is an integral membrane proteoglycan present in epithelial cells. It binds to collagens I, III and V, fibronectin and thrombospondin via its heparan sulfates (Saunders *et al.*, 1989). It is noteworthy that syndecan may act cooperatively with integrins in its interaction with fibronectin (Saunders and Bernfield, 1988). This cooperativity is likely to be important in focal adhesion formation (see below, focal adhesions section).

Proteolglycans have also been shown to bind several growth factors via their glycosaminoglycans, and it is thought that they constitute an ECM reservoir for them (Ruoslahti and Yamaguchi, 1991). Proteolytic degradation of the proteic core would release active growth factor-glycosaminoglycan complexes (see figure 1.5) (Ruoslahti and Yamaguchi, 1991; Saksela and Rifkin, 1990).

Betaglycan, a cell membrane proteoglycan, and decorin, an ECM proteoglycan, bind to transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) through their proteic core. Interestingly, binding of decorin to TGF- β inactivates the growth factor and decorin synthesis is stimulated in several cell types by TGF- β (Ruoslahti and Yamaguchi, 1991).

The role of proteoglycans as growth factor reservoirs in the ECM and/or at the cell surfaces may be important in the control of their activity. It is possible that immobilization of growth factors is important for keeping growth factor activity spatially controlled, helping in the process of formation and maintenance of different tissues (Ruoslahti and Yamaguchi, 1991).

From these data it is clear that proteoglycans are extremely interesting components of the ECM and cell surfaces, regulating cell adhesion and cell growth. A better knowledge of polysaccharide conformational complexity will help understand further the physiological roles of proteoglycans.



Figure 1.5. Proteoglycans. Schematic representation of membrane and ECM proteoglycans and their role as growth factors reservoirs. FGF: fibroblast growth factor. Adapted from Ruoslahti and Yamaguchi (1991).

2. CELL ADHESION MOLECULES

The evolution of mechanisms for cell adhesion was obviously a crucial step in the creation of multicellular organisms. During development, adhesion events play an important role in morphogenesis. These events involve interactions between cells and the ECM, and also between cells, and may be functionally divided into different steps: a first specific interaction between a cell membrane receptor and its ligand(s) is followed by specific responses, which may include cytoskeleton reorganization and generation of second messengers, activation of kinase cascades and, ultimately, changes in gene expression. These responses may result in changes in cell differentiation, or specific immune responses, among others.

Next, I will describe the main adhesion molecules identified so far, including the integrin superfamily of cell-cell and cell-ECM adhesion molecules, the immunoglobulin superfamily of CAMs, cadherins and selectins. In section 5, I will focus in more detail on integrin regulation, since it is directly relevant to my own research.

2.1. Integrins

Integrins are a superfamily of cell membrane receptors mediating cell-cell and cell-ECM interactions. They are heterodimers of noncovalently associated α and β subunits (see Hynes, 1992 for review). At present, at least 8 β and 14 α subunits are known, and they may associate in more than 20 different combinations. However, more α and β subunits and novel associations are likely to be discovered, as intense research is currently being focused on integrins and the field is relatively new.

There is not a simple method of integrin classification. The most widely used is their grouping on the basis of a common β subunit (see table 1.1). The major classes, grouping most integrins, are β_1 , β_2 and β_3 . However, some α subunits may bind to more than one β subunit , complicating the classification. For instance, α_V may bind to β_1 , β_3 , β_5 , β_6 and β_8 .

 β_1 and β_3 integrins are expressed in many cell types and mediate cellmatrix interactions, although $\alpha_2\beta_1$ and $\alpha_3\beta_1$ have been shown to support both cell-matrix and cell-cell interactions (Carter *et al.*, 1990; Larjava, *et al.*, 1990). β_3 are found in a vascular context. $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ is essential in platelet activation (see below, integrin regulation section). β_2 integrins mediate cell-cell adhesion and are restricted to leukocytes.

The specificity of integrins for their ligands is not well defined. As seen in table 1.1, some integrins are able to bind to many ligands and, in the same way, some ligands may bind to several integrins. The reason why receptor-ligand specificities should be "degenerate" is not clear. One possibility is that integrins that share the same ligands serve different functions (Humphries, 1990). For instance, a fibronectin receptor that is expressed in a cell type at some stage of development might promote cell migration through a loose interaction with fibronectin whereas another fibronectin receptor with a stronger affinity, expressed at a different time, might promote cell attachment to the substrate. Obviously, this would imply the participation of integrins in signal

Subunits	5	Ligands	Binding sites
β1	α1	CO, LN	
	α2	CO, LN	DGEA*
	α3	CO, LN, FN	RGD?
	α4	FN, VCAM-1	EILDV
	α5	FN	RGD
	α6	LN	
	α7	LN	
	α8	?	
	αν	VN, FN?	RGD
β2	αL	ICAM-1, ICAM-2	dinar actors
	αM	ICAM-1, FG, factor X, C3b(inact)	and an a state of the state of the
	αΧ	FG, C3b(inact?)	GPRP
β3	αΠb	FG, FN, VWF, VN, TP	RGD, KQAGD
	αv	FG, FN, VWF, VN, TP, OP, CO	RGD
β4	α6	LN?	a deltili el la
β5	av	VN	RGD
β6	αν	FN	RGD
β7	α4	FN, VCAM-1	EILDV
	αIEL	?	
β8	αν	?	THE PARTY OF STREET

CO: collagens; LN: laminin; FN: fibronectin; C3b(inact): C3b component of complement (inactivated); FG: fibrinogen; VWF: von Willebrand factor; TP: thrombospondin; OP: osteopontin. *This binding site has been defined for type I collagen only.

transduction pathways, not as mere anchorage sites for the cell. See below, integrin regulation section, for more details of participation of integrins in signal transduction pathways.

3.1.1. Integrin structure

Figure 1.6 shows schematically the overall structure of a typical integrin. Structurally, all α subunits are related. They all have short cytoplasmic

domains and three or four repeats homologous to the Ca²⁺-binding loop found in the EF-hand structure of calmodulin.



Figure 1.6 Integrin structure. All α subunits contain calciumbinding sites. The large loop in the β subunit is stabilized by intrachain disulfide binding (S-S). The β subunit contains 4 cysteine-rich repeats. Both subunits participate in the making of the ligand-binding region. The cytoplasmic domains of both subunits may be linked to cytoskeletal structures in focal adhesion structures. M++ sites make reference to metal binding sitesSee text for detail.

However, there is a fundamental difference between these structures and the homologous repeats of the integrins. Edwards *et al.* (1988) drew attention to the fact that the Ca²⁺-binding sites present in α_v resembled more the sequence found in the so called "lock-washer" (Vyas *et al.*, 1987) structures of the bacterial galactose binding protein (GBP). Six carboxylate oxygens of three aspartates and a glutamate, a main chain carbonyl oxygen and an oxygen of a water molecule coordinate to each Ca²⁺ (see figure 1.7). The nine residues of the GBP loop are homologous to the first 9 of the loop of calmodulin and other proteins (see table 1.2).

However, co-ordinating position 12 of the lock-washer comes from the distant Glu205 residue. Two carboxylate oxygens from the Glu205 coordinate with Ca^{2+} in the same way as the Glu in position 12 of the EF-hand. This lack of coordinating sites at position 12 is shared with the integrin subunit α_v (see table 1.2). The missing carboxylate has to be supplied from elsewhere and this

feature is likely to be important in the regulation of integrin activity (see below, 3.1.2.integrin regulation).



Lock-washer structure from GBP

ge matrix protein and type ains is unknown, although ag activity, since $\alpha_1\beta_1$ and may also bind to collagen s underco post-

loop IV of calmodulin

mains. The only exception 1000 ammoacids. Why this is cytoplasmic segment is nost optibelial cells, in areas at it does not participate in besions section). It is likely ment membrane adhesion, on microscopy studies that is microscopy studies that

Figure 1.7. EF-hands and lock-washers. The nine-residue loop in the lock-washer has a similar conformation to that of the twelve-residue loop in the EF-hand. Also, the Glu205 from the lock-washer is equivalent to the invariant Glu residue at position 12 in the calmodulin loop. The sequence of the Ca^{2+} -binding sites in α_v is homologous to that of the lock-washer structure in GBP (see table 1.2), and it is likely to adopt a similar conformation (see text for details).

Some α subunits (α_1 , α_2 , α_L , α_X and α_M) contain an extra segment known as I-domain (I for inserted) of about 180 aminoacids, before the homologous repeats containing the cation-binding domains. It is homologous to the A-type

		*		*		*		*					10.4		
										142		204			
GBP	134	D	L	N	K	D	G	Q	I	Q	-	Ι	Е	205	
α _v		D	I	D	K	N	G	Y	Р	D	L	-	•		
Calmoo	lulin														
Loop IV	/ 129	N	Ι	D	G	D	G	R	v	N	Y	E	E	140	
Tropon	in C								φ. H						
Loop	V 142	D	K	N	N	D	G	R	I	D	F	D	Е	153	

The sequences of the lock-washer structure of GBP (Vyas *et al.* 1987) is compared with two EF loops from troponin and calmodulin. In all cases, the ligand at position 7 is provided by the peptide carbonyl oxygen while the others are from side chain oxygens. Adapted from Vyas *et al.* 1987.

repeat found in von Willebrand factor (VWF), cartilage matrix protein and type VI collagen (Hynes, 1992). The function of the I domains is unknown, although it is possible that they participate in collagen-binding activity, since $\alpha_1\beta_1$ and $\alpha_2\beta_1$ are collagen receptors and the above molecules may also bind to collagen. However, this remains to be proven. Some α subunits undergo post-

translational proteolysis so that they consist of a short transmembrane segment disulfide-bonded to a larger, extracellular fragment.

Most β subunits have short cytoplasmic domains. The only exception known is β_4 , which has a cytoplasmic domain of ~1000 aminoacids. Why this membrane protein should contain such a large cytoplasmic segment is unknown. $\alpha_6\beta_4$ is localized at the basal domain of most epithelial cells, in areas free of F-actin (Marchisio*et al.*, 1991), suggesting that it does not participate in focal adhesion-like structures (see above, focal adhesions section). It is likely that $\alpha_6\beta_4$ is playing a role in epidermal cell-basement membrane adhesion. Sonnenberg *et al.* (1991) showed in immunoelectron microscopy studies that $\alpha_6\beta_4$ at the basal epidermal surface localizes to hemidesmosomes, and they suggested that the β_4 subunit, due to its unusually large cytoplasmic domain, may contributes to the formation of the hemidesmosomal cytoplasmic plaque (see below, hemidesmosomes section).

Crosslinking experiments with β_3 integrins (vitronectin receptor and glycoprotein IIb-IIIa) show that RGD has discrete interactions near the lockwasher repeats in the α subunits (D'Souza *et al.*, 1988; D'Souza *et al.*, 1990; Smith and Cheresh, 1988; Smith and Cheresh, 1990a), although it also binds to a region on the β subunit, near its N-terminal, with homology (although more relaxed than in the α subunits) to an EF-hand repeat, suggesting that both subunits participate in the making of the ligand binding site. All β subunits have four repeats rich in cysteine residues, believed to be internally disulfide-bonded, which cause them to run slower electrophoretically under reducing conditions.

2.2. Non-integrin cell adhesion receptors.

The main non-integrin cell adhesion molecules are involved in cell-cell interactions (CAMs) (Albelda and Buck, 1990). However, a few cell-substratum non-integrin receptors have also been identified. Cell surface proteoglycans are perhaps the best example. As mentioned above, they play important roles in cell physiology and may act cooperatively with integrins.

2.2.1. CAMs of the immunoglobulin superfamily

The CAMs of the immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamily mediate Ca²⁺⁻ independent cell-cell interactions (Williams and Barclay, 1988). N-CAM, Ng-CAM, and fasciclin II are examples of homophilic receptors (acting as both receptor and ligand), in neural tissues. N-CAM is present in many vertebrate species. It exists in three alternatively spliced forms, which differ in the length of the cytoplasmic region (C-terminus). They all contain polysialic acid (PSA), which varies during development and its amount correlates inversely with the binding strength of the receptor (Albelda and Buck, 1990). N-CAM is first detected in gastrulae. In chicken and frog the PSA content is low during early embryonic stages, increases during later embryonic development, and returns to a low content in the adult (Sunshine *et al.*, 1987). The authors suggest that the low content in PSA provides strength in cell-cell interactions during initial morphogenesis, and stabilization in adult tissues. A higher content of PSA would allow more flexibility in establishing cell-cell contacts, essential during histogenesis.

Many of the functions of the immune system also depend on CAMs from the Ig superfamily (Springer, 1990). CD2 (LFA-2) from T cells and LFA-3 in erythrocytes (also present in non hematopoietic cells) bind to each other and are examples of heterophilic receptors (Albelda and Buck, 1990). They are part of the Lymphocyte Function-related Antigens (LFA), together with LFA-1 ($\alpha_L\beta_2$), a member of the integrin family (see above). CD2/LFA-3 interaction is inhibited in resting T cells mainly by charge repulsion due to the presence of sialic acid on the cell membrane (Springer, 1990). These repulsive interactions

are reduced in activated T lymphocytes. Interestingly, the presence of polysialic acid in N-CAM also regulates its binding capacity (see above).

ICAM-1 and ICAM-2, also Ig members, are receptors for LFA-1. Expression of ICAM-1 is induced in inflammation in a wide variety of cells. However, ICAM-2 is not responsive to inflammatory mediators (Springer, 1990).

2.2.2. Cadherins and morphogenesis

Embryonic morphogenesis is brought about by a complex series of interconnected processes. Selective cell-cell and cell-ECM interactions may trigger cellular responses leading to differentiation, migration or cell aggregation. Cadherins have been shown to play important roles in some of those processes. They are calcium-dependent CAMs, mediating preferentially homophilic interactions (Geiger and Ayalon, 1992). There are three major groups: N-cadherins, found in adult neural tissues and muscle, E-cadherins, in adult epithelial cells, and P-cadherins, expressed transiently in development in several tissues, and present in placenta and epithelial cells (Albelda and Buck, 1990).

A classic paper by Townes and Holtfreter (1955) showed that dissociated cells tend to cluster according to their histogenetic origin and form characteristic tissue patterns. Recent work has shown that cadherins may play a role in those histogenetic segregation processes. When N-cadherin and E-cadherin expressing cells are mixed, a preference for homotypic interactions is found, although weaker, heterotypic contacts are also detectable (Volk *et al.*, 1987).

Cadherins are also involved in cell condensation, the transition of cell populations from a dispersed pattern to a compact one. Uvomorulin seems to play a role in cell compaction in the mouse morula (Hyafil *et al.*, 1980).

Cadherins are closely associated with transmembrane-cytoskeleton interactions, in the so called adherens-type junctions (AJs), which are structures typical of epithelia. In polar epithelial cells AJs are part of a junctional complex, with the more apical tight junctions and the more basal desmosomes (see figure 1.8). The transition from mesenchyme to epithelium is another morphogenetic process in which cadherins are involved. Many studies have shown that mesenchymal cells transfected with cadherin cDNA undergo epithelialization (reviewed by Geiger and Ayalon, 1992). Remarkably, transfection of fibroblasts with cadherin cDNA also induces epithelialization.

AJs have some similarities with focal adhesions (Geiger, 1989). For example, many of the cytoskeletal components of AJs are the same, and both contain proteins linking the actin filaments to the integral membrane components. However, there are proteins that associate selectively with FAs or AJs (i.e. talin versus plakoglobin; Geiger and Ayalon, 1992).

E-cadherin is required for the formation of tight junctions, AJs and desmosomes, as measured by the inhibitory effect of specific antibodies (Gumbiner et al., 1988).



Fig 1.8.Cell-cell adhesion structures in polar epithelial cells. Adherent junctions contain cadherins as key components, linking cytoskeleton to the extracellular area (see text for details). Gap and tight junctions are sites of electrical conductanceand metabolic coupling between cells, and control of the extracellular space, respectively; in desmosomes, electron dense plaques are present in the intercellular space (25-35nm wide) and in the cytoplasm. These are attached to tonofilaments, usually of cytokeratin (Garrod, 1984). Figure modified from Garrod, 1984.

ant of cells

2.2.3. Selectins

Selectins are a class of integral membrane proteins involved in lymphocyte and neutrophil interaction with vascular endothelium (Springer, 1990).

They are expressed in leukocytes and endothelial cells. They contain an N-terminal lectin-like domain, followed by an EGF-like module and several repeats characteristic of complement-binding proteins. They contain a single transmembrane domain and a short cytoplasmic tail (Belvilacqua *et al.* 1991).

To date, three different selectins have been described. L-selectin was previously known as the lymph node homing receptor LEC CAM-1, LECAM-1, LAM-1 or the MEL-14, Leu-8, TQ1 and DREG.56 antigens originally described on lymphocytes (Bevilacqua *et al.* 1991). It functions as a lymphocyte recirculation receptor and contributes to neutrophil emigration at inflammatory sites (Springer, 1990). P-selectin (or CD62), previously known as GMP-140 or PADGEM, is stored in α -granules of platelets and in Weibel-Palade bodies of endothelial cells. Stimulation by thrombin causes mobilization to the surface of these cells, where it participates in adhesion of neutrophils and monocytes. E-selectin was previously known as ELAM-1, and is also present in activated endothelial cells (Bevilacqua *et al.* 1991), and participates in neutrophil adhesion.

3. CELL-ECM JUNCTIONS

3.1. Focal adhesions

Many cells in culture interact with their substrate through well delimited regions called focal adhesions (FAs), adhesion plaques or focal contacts (Burridge *et al.*, 1988). In these sites, actin filament bundles are anchored to specialized areas of the cell surface membrane, and the cell-substrate contact is closest. FAs were first described in electron microscope studies (Abercrombie *et al.*, 1971) and were confirmed as focal contacts by interference reflexion microscopy (IRM), a method devised by Curtis (1964) (Izzard and Lochner, 1976; Abercrombie and Dunn, 1975).

FA formation can be divided in different stages: first, attachment of cells occurs on ECM components. Subsequent spreading is then accompanied by the formation of submembranous microfilament bundles, which associate with discrete areas of the membrane, in what can be considered as FA precursors. Finally, the microfilament bundles may enlarge to form fully developed stress fibers, firmly anchored to the membrane, possibly through other cytoplasmic components such as talin, vinculin and α -actinin, which concentrate at FAs concomitantly with actin (Burridge and Connell, 1983; Burridge and Feramisco, 1980; Woods *et al.*, 1986).

3.1.1. FA components

Since the early descriptions of FAs, many of their components have been identified, mainly using immunofluorescence microscopy. These components have been extensively reviewed by Burridge *et al.* (1988). In the ECM, the first component identified was fibronectin (FN). However, FN is present only when serum-free medium is used (Grinnell, 1986). In the presence of serum, vitronectin (VN) is the detectable ECM component. Since cells are normally cultured in the presence of serum, it is possible that VN is the critical ECM component of FAs (Burridge *et al.*, 1988). Cell surface proteoglycans have also been shown to act cooperatively in FA formation in the presence of fibronectin (Culp *et al.*, 1986). However, integrins are the main cell surface components. They are the obvious candidates for the role of linking cytoskeletal structures with the ECM since, apart from their role as receptors for specific ECM components, their cytoplasmic domains also allow interaction with the cytoskeleton (see below, integrins section).

Talin and vinculin are cytoplasmic components of FAs (Burridge and Connell, 1983; Burridge and Feramisco, 1980). Although they may distribute differently in several cell types (Burridge *et al.*, 1988), they have been shown in smooth muscle to bind to each other with high affinity (Burridge and Mangeat, 1984). A vinculin-binding component has been identified, consisting of two bands of 150kDa and 200 kDa. This component was named tensin and is thought to cap the ends of actin filaments, although its particular role in FA formation is not yet clear (Burridge *et al.*, 1988). Fimbrin and α -actinin are the only actin-binding proteins so far identified in FAs. Fimbrin is present in *microvilli* and crosslinks actin filaments *in vitro*, whereas α -actinin is more widely distributed and its actin-crosslinking activity is lower (Bennett *et al.*, 1984; Bretscher, 1981).

Figure 1.9 summarizes the main FA components identified so far, and their *in vitro* interactions. It should be noted, however, that other components are likely to be involved, and that *in vitro* interactions might represent experimental artifacts rather than *in vivo* equivalents (Burridge *et al.*, 1988).

inentices of above (see integrits regulation section), typosine phosphorylation of several companients occurs upon interaction of ECM with integrins, the best characterized of which is a protein of ~125kDa. Interestingly, phosphorylation of this protein correlates with FA formation, rather than with cell adhesion or



Figure 1.9. Focal adhesions. Schematic representation of the main FA components identified so far. α and β are integrin subunits. VN: vitronectin; FN: fibronectin; α A: α -actinin; TN: talin.

3.1.2 Physiological relevance of focal adhesions

The role of FAs *in vivo* is not well established. Although they are present in many cultured cells, FA-like structures within whole organisms have been reported in very few cases. The dense plaque of smooth muscle cells involves a link between ECM and cytoskeleton *via* integrins, and vinculin and talin are also present (Geiger *et al.*, 1981; Geiger *et al.*, 1985). α -actinin has also been reported, although other laboratories have failed to identify it, and its presence has been questioned (Small, 1985).

Similarly, the myotendinous junction of skeletal muscle represents an FAlike structure, with a link between the tendon and actin filaments *via* integrins. Vinculin and talin are present, although the presence of α -actinin, as with the dense plaque, remains controversial (Tidball, 1987). Other examples are the postsynaptic region of neuromuscular junctions and the *zonula adherens* junctions between epithelial cells, both with some components also present in FAs (reviewed by Burridge *et al.* 1988).

The similarities between these structures and FAs have been established mainly on the basis of their components, and physiological links are difficult to verify. Recently, it has been shown that focal adhesions may be involved in signal transduction pathways triggered by ECM-cell interactions. As mentioned above (see integrin regulation section), tyrosine phosphorylation of several components occurs upon interaction of ECM with integrins, the best characterized of which is a protein of ~125kDa. Interestingly, phosphorylation of this protein correlates with FA formation, rather than with cell adhesion or
spreading. An *in vivo* equivalent of pp120 FA-dependent phosphorylation is found in platelets (see above, integrin regulation section).

Although it is increasingly clear that integrins may transduce signals from the ECM to the cytoplasm both *in vitro* and *in vivo*, , it is far from obvious that the FAs, as seen in cultured cells, are necessary for those signal transductions to occur.

3.2 Hemidesmosomes

Hemidesmosomes are cell-substrate adhesion junctions formed between the basal surface of stratified epithelia and the underlying basement membrane. They resemble desmosomes structurally (see above, cadherins section) in a few details, including the anchorage of IF bundles to defined ($\leq 0.4 \mu m$ diameter) plaque-bearing areas of the membrane (Schwarz *et al.* 1990). However, antibodies raised against desmosomal components do not react with hemidesmosomes (Jones *et al.* 1986).

Hemidesmosomes are resistant to Ca^{2+} depletion (Owaribe *et al.* 1990). However, extracellular Ca^{2+} and calmodulin are required for the formation of new hemidesmosomes (Trinkaus-Randall and Gipson 1984).

3.2.1. Hemidesmosome components

To date there is only one well characterised component of hemidesmosomes, a polypeptide localised at the plaque, of ~230kDa, recognised by autoantibodies from patients suffering from bullous pemphigoid and therefore called bullous pemphigoid antigen (Stanley *et al.* 1981). This component is not present in desmosomes or in plaques of cell-substrate junctions of single-layered epithelia, indicating that not all asymmetric plasma membrane plaques represent the same type of hemidesmosome (Schwarz *et al.* 1990).

The integrin $\alpha_6\beta_4$ (see above, integrins section) has also been shown to associate with hemidesmosomes (Stepp *et al.* 1990; Sonnenberg *et al.* 1991). It has been suggested (Sonnenberg *et al.* 1991) that the large β_4 cytoplasmic domain could play a role in assembling IFs to the hemidesmosomal plaque.

4. PROTEIN MODULATION BY PHOSPHORYLATION

Reversible covalent modifications of proteins are major regulatory mechanisms in a wide variety of processes (Uy and Wold, 1977). Reversible phosphorylation, methylation, acetylation and S-S/SH interconversions are perhaps the best known examples. Of these, phosphorylation has proved the most interesting, since the regulation of many fundamentally different processes is based on this reversible modification. Since early experiments showing that enzyme phosphorylation was a regulatory mechanism in glycogen metabolism (Fischer and Krebs, 1955; Sutherland and Wosilait, 1955), it has become clear that phosphorylation is also important in cell division (see below), gene expression (Meisner and Czech, 1991) and indeed in almost every process involving outside-inside signal transduction (Taylor *et al.*, 1992). Protein phosphorylation is brought about by enzymes called protein kinases, which catalyze the transfer of a phosphate group from a nucleotide, typically ATP, to the target substrate (Krebs and Beavo, 1979).

There are two major classes of protein kinases: those whose specific substrates are Ser and/or Thr and those with specificity for Tyr. However, there is at least one kinase able to phosphorylate Ser/Thr and Tyr. wee1 (see below, cell cycle section) is one example. MAP protein kinase (MAP-KK) activators may also belong to the family of dual-specificity protein kinases. Growth factor treatment of cells results in the activating Tyr and Thr phosphorylation of MAP-PKs. Either the activator(s) are dual-specificity kinases or they induce autophosphorylation in Thr and Tyr by MAP-KK (Lindberg *et al.* 1992). However, evidence for this dual role in most cases comes from studies on autophosphorylation *in vitro*,, and physiological relevance of these results in all cases remains to be proven.

There is also a great diversity in terms of subcellular localization, size and mechanism of activation. For example, regulators of kinase activity include Ca²⁺, cAMP, phorbol esters and diacylglycerol (Hunter, 1987).

Despite the great diversity of protein kinases, all of them share a catalytic core of approximately 260 residues (Taylor *et al.*, 1992; Taylor *et al.*, 1993). The conserved motifs are, starting from the N-terminus (see figure 1.10), a glycinerich loop followed by Lys72, both involved in stabilizing the portion of MgATP not directly involved in phosphotransfer, and Asp184, which chelates the Mg²⁺ ion that bridges the β and γ phosphates (Taylor *et al.*, 1993).

26



Figure 1.10. Protein kinases. The conserved catalytic core is shown in black. The catalytic subunit of cAPK contains 350 amino acids and the core extends from residue 40 to 300. Regions thought to be important for regulation are cross-hatched. The putative membrane-spanning segment in the EGF receptor is stippled. Small black rectangles indicate three conserved sequence motifs corresponding to the glycine-rich loop. Lys72 (filled circles) and Asp184 (filled squares) are also indicated. "m" refers to N-terminal myristoylation. A. Ser/Thr kinases. B. Tyr kinases.

Among the Ser/Thr protein kinases, one of the first to be fully characterized was the cAMP-dependent protein kinase (cAPK), and its structure can serve as a general template for the entire protein kinase family (Taylor et al., 1993). It consists of two regulatory subunits (R, which is the primary cAMP receptor), and two catalytic (C) subunits. The activating mechanism is as follows: $R_2C_2 + 4cAMP \rightarrow R_2(cAMP)_4 + 2C$. The two catalytic subunits can now phosphorylate cytoplasmic proteins containing the consensus sequence RRXSY (X: any aminoacid; Y: hydrophobic aminoacid) (Taylor et al., 1993). Protein kinase C (PKC) is a cytoplasmic kinase reversibly associated with membranes. It is activated by Ca²⁺, diacylglycerol, phosphatidylserine and phorbol esters, all of them acting at major regulatory sites near the catalytic core (Nishizuka, 1988). Ca²⁺/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases are normally specific for one substrate and present a great structural diversity. Thus, myosin light chain kinase (MLCK) is a monomer, and glycogen phosphorylase kinase is a hexadecamer (Taylor et al., 1992). Cdc2 kinase is one of the smallest kinases (34kDa). It is essential for cell division and its activity is regulated by phosphorylation/dephosphorylation and association with other proteins whose expression is cell cycle regulated, cyclins (see below, cell cycle section).

The first protein tyrosine kinase to be identified was pp60^{v_src}, the transforming protein of Rous sarcoma virus (Hunter and Sefton, 1980). The authors suggested for the first time that tyrosine phosphorylation might be related to the process of cell transformation. Indeed, this is the case in many instances. Particularly interesting are the receptors with tyrosine kinase activity. Many growth factors and hormones act via these receptors, thus activating signal transduction pathways involving tyrosine phosphorylation. The epidermal growth factor (EGF) receptor, the insulin receptor and the platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) receptor families are all examples of receptor tyrosine kinases (Hunter, 1987). They all contain an extracellular, glycosylated ligand-binding domain, a single transmembrane region and the catalytic domain, which resides in the cytoplasm (Ullrich and Schlessinger, 1990). Their mechanism of activation usually involves oligomerization upon ligand binding. This provides the intracellular conformational changes necessary to activate the catalytic domain, thus triggering the cellular responses. Recently, several of the components of the signal transduction pathway from receptor tyrosine kinases to Ras have been described. The first components in the cascade of events are proteins containing SH domains (Src Homology domains). One example is the protein Grb2, which contains SH2 and SH3 domains, which have been identified in several proteins involved in signal transduction. SH2 has affinity for phosphotyrosine phosphoproteins, and SH3 has affinity for proline-rich regions. Grb2 binds to the active phosphotyrosinecontaining receptor via the SH2 domain, and uses its SH3 domains to bind to the next component in the pathway, which is a Ras activator, Sos, thus forming a complex: receptor-Grb2-Ras activator. Bound Ras activator converts inactive RasGDP to the active RasGTP. The sequence of event is then as follows: first, binding of the ligand causes oligomerization and autophosphorylation of the receptor. Newly formed phosphotyrosine-rich domains in the receptor bind to proteins containing SH2 domains, i.e. Grb2. The activated complex receptor-Grb2 binds to Sos which, in turn, binds to RasGDP, initiating a kinase cascade (McCormick, 1993).

Reversibility of protein phosphorylation implies the existence of enzymes able to remove the phosphate from kinase targets, although there are a few examples of direct reversal of protein kinase-catalyzed reactions (Krebs and Beavo, 1979). Those enzymes are called phosphatases and their characterization is obviously essential for an understanding of phosphorylation-dependent processes. As with kinases, phosphatases can be classified, according to their substrate specificity, as Ser/Thr (PSP) or Tyr (PTP) phosphatases (Tonks, 1990).

PSPs can be divided in four groups. Types 1, 2A, 2B and 2C (reviewed by Cohen, 1989). Of these, only 2B (calcineurin) responds directly to a second messenger, Ca²⁺ in this case, and is involved in signal transduction pathways. Types 1, 2A and 2B are structurally related, whereas 2C derives from a different gene family (Tonks, 1990). PSP1 and 2A are involved in cell cycle regulation, although their exact roles are still unclear. It is possible that PSP1 dephosphorylates phosphothreonine 161 in cdc2 kinase (see below, cell cycle section), allowing, in conjunction with cyclin degradation, exit from metaphase (Pallen et al., 1992). Evidence from studies in Xencpus suggests that PSP1 is also involved in mitosis initiation, as addition of inhibitor-2, a specific PSP1 inhibitor, induces cdc2 activation, and addition of FSP1 causes mitosis retardation (Walker et al., 1992). PSP-2A is required for entry into mitosis. Its exact role could be to maintain cdc25 in a dephosphorylated form (see below, cell cycle section), thus blocking thr14 and tyr15 dephosphorylation of cdc2, since treatment of interphase Xenopus extracts with okadaic acid, a PSP-2A that accelerates entry into mitosis, causes cdc25 inhibitor hyperphosphorylation, stimulating its cdc2 phosphatase activity (Kumagai and Dunphy, 1992).

PTPs can be divided into non-receptor and receptor-like phosphatases. All PTPs share a common segment of ~240 aminoacids, which contains the catalytic domain (Charbonneau and Tonks, 1992). The receptor-like PTPs have a highly conserved cytoplasmic domain where two tandem catalytic domains reside, a single transmembrane segment, and a variable extracellular region. CD45 is included in this group. It is a surface glycoprotein restricted to hematopoietic cells, with a role in signal transduction involving dephosphorylation of phosphotyrosyl residues. Its activity is necessary for the increased phosphatidylinositol turnover observed upon stimulation of the Tcell receptor (Koretzky *et al.*, 1990).

Non-receptor PTPs contain a single catalytic domain and unrelated regulatory sequences, whose main function is to direct the enzyme to specific subcellular compartments (Charbonneau and Tonks, 1992).

There is also a dual-specificity phosphatse, cdc25 (see below, cell cycle section). Although it is remarkable that cdc25 should have threonine and tyrosine as substrates, as PSPs and PTPs bear no sequence similarity, the experiments give overwhelming evidence of this double role for cdc25 (Kumagai and Dunphy, 1991; Millar and Russell, 1992). This is a clear difference from the dual-specificity kinases (see above), whose ability to act on

Ser/Thr and Tyr residues has been proved solely in autophosphorylation experiments.

modulates the cation binding activity (Kirchhofer et al., 1991). The authors

5. REGULATION OF INTEGRINS

5.1. Role of lock-washer structures in integrin ligand-binding activity

Ca²⁺ and/or Mg²⁺ binding is a prerequisite for integrin ligand-binding activity. The divalent metal cation-binding sites present in the α subunits are thus essential structures on the integrin molecule.

Remaining unexplained is the ability of Mn^{2+} to induce spreading of cells even in the absence of adhesive ligands. As it is very likely that Mn^{2+} binds also to the lock-washer domains of integrins (Gailit and Ruoslathi, 1988), the possibility remains that cation binding to the receptor is the key step for its activation, rather than the interaction with the adhesive ligand (Edwards *et al.*, 1987), i.e., the role of RGD and other adhesion motifs would be to fold the putative metal-binding sequences in order to generate complete co-ordinating sites for Ca²⁺ or Mg²⁺, whose binding would then, in some sense, switch on the receptor, involving a series of conformational changes. The fact that much higher concentrations of Mn^{2+} are necessary for activation of cell spreading in the absence of adhesive ligands (Edwards *et al.*, 1987; Rabinovitch and DeStefano, 1973) may be explained if the role of RGD and other adhesion motifs were to fold the integrin metal binding sites in a cooperative way (Edwards *et al.*, 1988).

The lack of co-ordinating sites at position 12 of the metal-binding sequences (see above, integrin structure) present in α subunits offers a possible mechanism for RGD-like activity. Edwards *et al.* (1988) proposed that the receptor binding to its ligand could alter its conformation thus drawing a distant Glu to the position 12. In RGD dependent integrin activity, it would also be possible that the missing carboxylate is supplied by the Asp in the RGD sequence itself.

It is remarkable that other sequences from ECM glycoproteins that have been shown to be active in integrin binding share the presence of an Asp residue. The best characterized of these are REDV, LDV and HHLGGAKQAGDV. This Asp might provide the missing coordinating group in α_v (Humphries, 1990).

A potential role in integrin cation dependence has also been proposed for β subunits. Integrins $\alpha_v\beta_1$ and $\alpha_v\beta_3$ respond in different ways to Ca²⁺ in the

presence of Mg^{2+} and use different cations for binding to their ligands. Since they share the same α subunit, it is possible that the β subunit somehow modulates the cation binding activity (Kirchhofer *et al.*, 1991). The authors suggest that the missing Glu at position 12 from the metal-binding sequence might be provided by the β subunit so that different subunits might account for different cation affinities.

As mentioned above, sequences with homology to those forming lockwasher structures are present in all α subunits, and the presence or absence of the appropriate cations will determine an active or inactive conformation for the receptor. However, the definition of active or inactive is not simple. Integrins may have a wide range of affinities for their ligands according to different environments, and regulation of cation seems unlikely to account for those different affinities *in vivo*. Moreover, different integrins present in the same cell could not be differently regulated by the same cation environment. So we could say that the presence of cations is indispensable for integrin activity, but additional mechanisms are needed for a fine regulation of that activity. In fact, there are several known mechanisms which may modulate integrin affinities, as part of important transduction pathways relevant to cell growth, immune response, cell migration, wound healing or development.

5.2. Role of integrins in focal adhesion formation

Integrins are important components of focal adhesions (see above, focal adhesions section). It was recently reported that the phosphorylation of a 120 kDa protein (pp120) is induced by the interaction between fibronectin and β_1 integrin receptor(s) in NIH3T3 cells (Guan *et al.*, 1991). The β_1 cytoplasmic domain was necessary for phosphorylation of pp120. This phosphorylation was independent of soluble growth factors, was immediately prior to cell spreading, and cell rounding reversed the effect. A homologous protein from rat testis cells was later shown to be a protein tyrosine kinase, FadK (Hanks *et al.*, 1992). The authors suggested that aggregation of integrins at focal adhesions would induce autophosphorylation of FadK (pp120), which would become active, phosphorylating other substrates in a transduction system leading to cell spreading. Schaller *et al.* (1992) reported a similar protein (pp125FAK) in chicken embryo cells.

Thus, a model is possible in which interaction between fibronectin and its integrin receptor(s) may change integrin conformation, possibly via oligomerization, at the cytoplasmic region, leaving the cytoplasmic domain of the β subunit with increased affinity for pp120. The bound pp120 would

phosphorylate itself and subsequently other substrates. When fibronectin detaches from its receptor(s) (cell rounding), integrin conformation would reverse, releasing pp120, which would become dephosphorylated and inactive, interrupting any further signal into the cytoplasm. Alternatively, a cytoplasmic signal could reverse the transduction pathway, the final effect being the inactivation of fibronectin-receptor interaction. However, these considerations are merely speculative.

It is interesting that RGD-containing peptides cannot trigger pp120 phosphorylation (Guan *et al.*, 1991) and that central regions of fibronectin, including the cell-binding domain, induce only intermediate levels of phosphorylation. Only when both the cell-binding domain and the heparinbinding domain were present, high levels of pp120 phosphorylation were detected. This requirement is also necessary for the formation of focal adhesions, which are not seen when the cell-binding domain of fibronectin alone is present as substrate (Woods and Couchman, 1992), even though cells seem to spread well.

This correlation between pp120 phosphorylation and focal adhesion formation is likely to be relevant for the role of pp120. It is also possible that, if focal adhesions are simply artifacts in these systems (see above, FAs section), the phosphorylation of pp120 may also be part of those artifacts. On the other hand, focal adhesions are likely to have some equivalent *in vivo*, in circumstances probably involving strong cell attachment, when structures similar to focal adhesion are likely to develop. However, a role for the action of β_1 integrins on pp120 *in vivo* remains to be discovered.

5.3. Role of integrins in platelets and the immune system

In spite of the current controversy about focal adhesion relevance *in vivo*, integrins have been shown to be physically and functionally the link between insoluble ECM and the cytoskeleton in many systems, independently of their possible involvement in focal adhesions. Also, in other instances, they seem to transduce signals in pathways involving soluble second messengers, functioning similarly to growth factor receptors (see below, this section).

An excellent example of integrin participation in relevant physiological processes is given by the immune system. Interactions of cells from the immune system with other cells and with the ECM are essential for a rapid response to infections. Integrins, selectins and immunoglobulins are the three families of receptors regulating those interactions (Springer, 1990).

Integrins are important in the dynamic regulation of adhesion and migration in the immune system (Springer, 1990). Their activity can be modulated, mainly through induced changes of conformation. Integrins of the immune system are the β_2 integrins ($\alpha_L\beta_2$, $\alpha_M\beta_2$ and $\alpha_x\beta_2$), whose expression is restricted to leukocytes. They may bind to a variety of ligands in activated leukocytes (see table 1.1). Changes of conformation are also involved in different states of integrin activation. There are several mechanisms by which β_2 integrins may be activated. One example relatively well understood is that of $\alpha_L\beta_2$ in lymphocytes. Naive T lymphocytes may be induced by specific antigens to become memory lymphocytes. The process is characterized by the increased and persistent expression of several cell surface molecules, including the integrin $\alpha_L\beta_2$, also known as LFA-1 (lymphocyte function-related antigen-1). In T cell activation, T cell receptor/CD3 in the T lymphocyte recognizes the antigen presented by the major histocompatibility molecules in the antigenpresenting cell. This specific interaction activates $\alpha_L \beta_2$ on the T cell, which will bind avidly to ICAM-1 in the antigen-presenting cell, providing a stronger adhesion between both cells. How $\alpha_L \beta_2$ is activated is unclear, although some evidence points to a change of conformation induced by a protein kinase C (PKC)-dependent mechanism (van Kooyk et al., 1989). Deletions in the cytoplasmic domain of β_2 inactivate the receptor (Hibbs *et al.*, 1991), suggesting a regulatory role for this domain. Mechanisms for signalling from the cytoplasmic regions of $\alpha_L\beta_2$ may include phosphorylation or interaction with soluble cytoplasmic messengers or with the cytoskeleton, similarly to the case of the $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ integrin (see below, this section). In fact, Buyon et al. (1990) reported the phosphorylation of $\beta 2$ in neutrophils and monocytes upon activation by PMA.

Clearly, further research will be needed to elucidate the mechanisms of activation of β_2 integrins.

 β_1 integrins are expressed in many cell types. On lymphocytes, they were called the VLA (very late antigen) family of integrins, because some are expressed in lymphocytes 2-4 weeks after antigen stimulation *in vitro* (Springer, 1990). However, they are constitutively expressed in many other cell types.

In the immune system, they mediate adhesion between the ECM and lymphocytes and are important for migration of activated lymphocytes in tissues during immune responses (Springer, 1990). As with other immune system integrins, β_1 integrins may acquire different states of activity, brought about by conformational changes. Anti- β_1 antibodies strongly enhance binding of U-937 myelomonocytic cells to fibronectin (Arroyo *et al.*, 1992). They showed that VLA-4 and VLA-5 are the mediator integrins in this response. Furthermore, the same antibody induced the ability of VLA-4 to bind to VCAM-1 and fibronectin. PMA had a comparable effect on these interactions, although with different morphological effects, suggesting the existence of more than one transduction signal for U-937 adhesion. As with previous examples, evidence points to a conformational change, directed through the β_1 cytoplasmic domain, to explain VLA activation, and this change might also involve the α subunit, since specific antibodies against VLA α subunits abrogated the effects mediated by the anti- β antibody. It is likely that connection with cytoskeleton is needed, as its disruption cancels this effect. Interestingly, an active Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter was also required, suggesting that alkalinization of the cytoplasm is necessary, as with $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$. This pH rise is likely to have implications in the modulation of other integrins activities (see below).

The platelet integrin $\alpha_{IIB}\beta_3$ is important in platelet activation. Although fibrinogen and VWF are present in blood at concentrations that would saturate an active $\alpha_{IIB}\beta_3$, this integrin in circulating platelets is inactive. When platelets are activated, through an agonist-induced pathway, $\alpha_{IIB}\beta_3$ undergoes a conformational change and binds to its soluble ligands. There is also an agonist-independent activation. Platelets exposed to the subendothelial matrix, after vessel damage, will bind to immobilized fibrinogen and VWF, and these interactions will induce $\alpha_{IIB}\beta_3$ binding to soluble adhesive ligands.

The mechanisms by which $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ conformation is changed in platelet activation is unknown. Deletion of the cytoplasmic region of α_{IIb} constitutively activates the receptor (O'Toole *et al.*, 1991), suggesting that this domain is central in the regulation of the receptor affinity for its ligands, possibly through modulated interactions with the cytoskeleton or soluble messengers in the cytoplasm. Platelet activation involves G protein activation, rises in intracellular pH and Ca²⁺ and activation of protein kinases (Shattil and Brugge, 1991). One possibility is that cytoplasmic domains of $\alpha_{IIt}\beta_3$ are phosphorylated. Indeed, β_3 is phosphorylated in Ser/Thr, although with such a low stoichiometry (less than 3%) that it is likely to have no physiological relevance.

The cytoplasmic tail of β_3 has a Tyr in position 747 with homology to tyrosine phosphorylation sites in EGF and insulin receptors, and pp60^{src} phosphorylates this residue *in vitro*. However, tyrosine phosphorylation has never been detected in $\alpha_{\rm llb}\beta_3$ in intact cells.

On the other hand, phosphorylation may have an important role in transducing a signal to the cytoplasm through $\alpha_{IIL}\beta_3$, since its activation and binding to fibrinogen, together with platelet aggregation, are necessary for

tyrosine phosphorylation of several proteins upon platelet activation by thrombin, including pp125FAK (Brugge and Shattil, 1990; Burridge et al., 1992).

Other data are available about platelet and $\alpha_{11b}\beta_3$ activation (Shattil and Brugge, 1991), although the overall picture is far from clear. Obviously, further investigation will be needed to understand how conformational changes in $\alpha_{11b}\beta_3$ are brought about after platelet activation, and where they fit in the platelet activation process itself.

reported that a fig integrin subunit was involved in the lethal (1) myospheroid

5.4. Changes in gene expression induced by integrins

Other studies involving occupancy of receptors with antibodies or synthetic peptides have provided some insight into the the role of integrins in other systems For instance, Werb *et al.* (1989) have reported that binding of a monoclonal antibody to $\alpha_5\beta_1$ blocks initial adhesion of fibroblasts to fibronectin and induces gene expression of the ECM-degrading metalloproteinases collagenase and stromelysin. However, unlike with phorbol esters, cytochalasins and growth factors, which also may induce metalloproteinase expression, the addition of the anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antibody in solution to cells spread on collagen or serum adhesion proteins does not cause changes in morphology or actin organization. It is interesting that fibronectin cannot trigger the same effects as this antibody, but RGD peptides derived from the sequence of fibronectin itself can.

These data suggest that $\alpha_5\beta_1$ can mediate signal transduction from outside the cell to the nucleus. It is not difficult to imagine a situation in development in which interaction of integrins with ECM components triggers the expression of some proteases which will change ECM composition, and this in turn might modulate the pattern of integrin expression, giving place to a new stage in development.

Menko and Boettiger (1987) have also reported interesting results on the role of integrins in development, using the monoclonal antibody CSAT, which recognizes β_1 . Chicken embryo myoblasts treated with CSAT fail to fuse and do not produce muscle-specific myosin. The removal of the antibody reverses this effect. Thus, occupation of β_1 integrins seems to be responsible for the withdrawal from the cell cycle, changes in gene expression and production of multinucleate myotubes typical of myogenesis. The authors suggest that β_1 integrins function in this case analogously to hormone or growth factor receptors and that integrin-ECM interactions permit signal transduction to the nucleus. However, it is possible that this transduction is downstream of cell adhesion, and not necessarily an effect of antibody occupancy of the integrin.

35

1

The use of RGD-containing peptides prevents gastrulation in Drosophila embryos. Naidet *et al.* (1987) reported that Drosophila embryos injected with RGD peptides at the syncytial blastoderm stage have a phenotype characterised by dorso-ventral simmetry and, later on, there will be no muscular movement or organogenesis, presumably due to the RGD inhibition of ventral furrow formation.

Another example was provided by Mackrell *et al.* (1988) when they reported that a β_1 integrin subunit was involved in the lethal (1) myospheroid mutation [l(1)mys] in *Drosophila melanogaster*. Embryos carrying this mutation appear normal until the first muscular contractions occur. Then the dorsal suture breaks and muscles detach from the ECM and become spheroidal. Besides these apparently mechanical effects on the mutant embryos, experiments using cells in culture show that myoblasts explanted from l(1)mys embryos fail to fuse (Donady and Seecof, 1972), as occurs in the experiments by Menko and Boettiger (1987). This similarity suggests a common mechanism in both cases and also that integrins are central in signal transduction pathways modulating development.

Adams and Watt (1990) showed that terminal differentiation of keratinocytes *in vitro* is accompanied by loss of adherence to several ECM molecules, including fibronectin, and precedes, by several hours, the loss of $\alpha_2\beta_1$, $\alpha_3\beta_1$ and $\alpha_5\beta_1$ integrins from the cell surface. They also showed that inactivation of $\alpha_5\beta_1$ occurs prior to its removal from the cell surface. Their results also suggest that $\alpha_2\beta_1$ and $\alpha_3\beta_1$ might equally be inactivated. It is tempting to speculate that these inactivations might cause loss of cell adherence to the basal layer, facilitating migration out of it and causing changes in integrin expression and other molecules relevant to terminal differentiation.

5.5. Role of integrins in cytoplasmic pH modifications

Other investigations have tried to understand integrin participation in transduction systems using a different approach. It has been known for some time that cytoplasm alkalinization is necessary for growth in a variety of cell types (Moolenaar, 1986). A similar pH modification has been reported by Schwartz *et al.* (1989) for a different process. They showed that cell spreading induced cytoplasmic alkalinization via the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter. Integrins are likely to be involved since modification of spreading using anti-integrin antibodies and RGD peptides correlates with modifications in cytoplasmic pH. It is interesting that the constitutive action of *ras* and *src* oncoproteins (which localize in the plasma membrane) bypasses the necessity of cell spreading for

cytoplasmic alkalinization, suggesting that integrin-dependent pH rise in this system could be transduced via *src* and *ras* cellular homologues.

Complementary studies using capillary endothelial cells and defined media (Ingber *et al.*, 1990) showed clearly that fibronectin can induce DNA synthesis and cytoplasmic alkalinization independently of the presence of growth factors. More importantly, they showed that activation of the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter, rather than alkalinization itself, is the key step for inducing DNA synthesis.

Further work on the role of integrins in cell alkalinization (Schwartz *et al.*, 1991) revealed that clustering of $\alpha_5\beta_1$ by insoluble fibronectin activated the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter. However, fibronectin failed in this case to induce DNA synthesis, even at high doses. The same authors (Schwartz and Lechene, 1992) reported that platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) activates the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter through a protein kinase C dependent pathway, only after cells have spread, although the participation of integrins in this case was not assessed.

These results are important since they establish a link between cell spreading (probably integrin dependent) and a single molecular event, namely cytoplasm alkalinization. As this event is also found in transduction pathways led by growth factors, it seems reasonable to speculate about the existence of integrin-driven transduction pathways involving second messangers, analogous to those led by the "classical" growth factors.

The work described in this thesis shows that fibronectin receptor activity is modulated between mitosis and interphase (see below, Results and Discussion chapters). I will return to the subject of integrin regulation at interphase \rightarrow mitosis transition in the Cell Cycle section in this chapter, and in the Discussion chapter.

Mitosis, and second because strate alleles reacted in

6. CELL CYCLE

The cell cycle is the sequence of events leading to the duplication of cells. This sequence may be divided in four different stages: G_1 , S (DNA synthesis phase), G_2 and M (Mitosis). Classically, G_1 and G_2 have been considered as mere gaps between the two easily identifiable mitotic and DNA synthesis phases (see figure 1.11). Biochemical and genetic research in the last decade has proved that cell cycle phases are intimately interconnected, and structural and functional details of several cell cycle-dependent processes, such as DNA replication, organization of the mitotic spindle, nuclear envelope breakdown

mitosis, resulting

and others have been unveiled (Hartwell and Weinert, 1989). I will discuss in this section the most recent advances in our understanding of how the cell cycle is regulated.



G₁

Figure 1.11. Phases of the cell cycle. A typical animal tissue cell in culture commited to the cell cycle takes ~24 hours to complete its division in two daughter cells. Quiescent cells are usually arrested in G1, in a stage often called G₀ (Pardee, 1989).

6.1. Regulation of the cell cycle

Understanding the molecular events of the cell cycle proved difficult over many years. Geneticists isolated numerous cell division cycle (cdc) mutants from the fission (Schizosaccharomyces pombe; Hayles and Nurse, 1986) and budding (Saccharomyces cerevisiae) yeast (Hartwell and Weinert, 1989). One of those genes, cdc2+, in Schizosaccharomyces pombe, was found to be of particular interest due first to its activity both at the onset of DNA synthesis and again at the transition G2--->Mitosis, and second because some alleles resulted in premature mitosis (wee phenotype; Nurse and Bissett, 1981). A gene in Sacharomyces cerevisiae, CDC28, was found to be homolog of cdc2⁺. In fact, CDC28 rescues cdc2⁺ mutations, and vice versa (Beach et al., 1982). Both genes encode Ser/Thr protein kinases of ~34KDa (p34/cdc2 kinase), themselves susceptible to phosphorylation (Simanis and Nurse, 1986).

Subsequently, CDC28 homologues were found in clam, Xenopus, mouse and human (Draetta and Beach, 1988; Draetta et al., 1989; Gautier et al., 1988; Lee and Nurse, 1987) and, in fact, in all species so far studied, suggesting that this kinase forms part of a very well conserved mechanism by which G1 cells are driven into S phase and then into mitosis. Indeed, it soon became clear that the cdc2 kinase was the catalytic subunit of a protein complex, called maturation-promoting factor (MPF), first described in amphibian oocytes and responsible for the regulation of G2/Mitosis transition in eukaryotic cell cycle (Draetta, *et al.*, 1989; Gautier *et al.*, 1988; Kishimoto and Kanatani, 1976). The enzyme is maximally active during metaphase and is abruptly inactivated at the transition metaphase-anaphase (Draetta, 1990; Draetta and Beach, 1988).

Other components of the MPF are the cyclins. Mitotic cyclins are proteins that accumulate during interphase to undergo degradation at the end of mitosis, resulting in a cell cycle oscillation regulated by proteolysis at the metaphase-anaphase transition (Evans *et al.*, 1983). Draetta et al. (1988) showed that, in HeLa cells, they associate with cdc2 kinase, and proposed a model for the relationship between cdc2 kinase and cyclins in which newly synthesized cyclin binds to cdc2 to form new MPF, a prerequisite for entry into mitosis.

There are in fact several types of cyclins. In budding yeast, G1 cyclins Cln1, Cln2 and Cln3 act at the G1-S transition (Reed, 1991), and mitotic B-type cyclins (B1, B2, B3 and B4) act at the G2-mitosis transition (Surana et al., 1991). In higher organisms the picture is more complex. Cyclins A, B1 and B2 are active at the G2-mitosis transition. Cyclin A is also active at G1-S, binding not only to cdc2, but also to transcription factors E2F and DRTF1 and to the retinoblastoma protein (Elledge et al., 1992). The situation is further complicated, since different cyclin-dependent protein kinases may play the role of cdc2 kinase at the G1-S transition. In Xenopus, a cdc2-like protein of ~32KDa is responsible for this transition and binds to two cyclin-like proteins of ~54KDa and to cyclin A (Fang and Newport, 1991). In humans, the kinase CDK2 (cyclin-dependent kinase 2) binds also to cyclin A and there is some evidence that this complex has some role in S phase (Elledge et al., 1992). Both kinases have a high degree of homology with cdc2 and it is proposed that they are its functional homologues in G1/S. Indeed, there seems to be a family of cdc2-like kinases, called cyclin-dependent-kinases (CDK)* of which cdc2 is the prototypic member (Elledge et al., 1992; Nigg, 1993).

Cyclin B is also known to be phosphorylated by mitotic cdc2 *in vitro* (Draetta and Beach, 1988; Morla *et al.*, 1989), and cyclin A is phosphorylated on Tyr in mouse cells (Hall and Vulliet, 1991). However, the physiological relevance of these phosphorylations is presently unknown.

In spite of the wealth of data about the regulation of cyclins during the cell cycle, why cells need several types of cyclins remains unclear. It seems

^{*} I will use the terms CDK and cdc2, as described by the different authors, although it is now clear that the cdc2 described in many papers does not correspond to p34/cdc2, and the term CDK activity seems more appropriate.

possible that different cyclins may provide different specificities, so that certain combinations of cyclin/CDK would phosphorylate only certain subsets of substrates. Further work will be needed before the full role for cyclins becomes apparent.

Cyclins are not the only proteins to regulate CDK activity. As mentioned above, cdc2 itself may undergo phosphorylation. Although Ser, Thr and Tyr residues have been shown to become phosphorylated (Draetta and Beach, 1988; Gould and Nurse, 1989), Thr and Tyr phosphorylation/dephosphorylation cycles seem to be the key elements in cdc2 activation. In particular, dephosphorylation of phosphothreonine14 and phosphotyrosine15, well conserved throughout evolution, activate the enzyme at the G2/M transition (Gould and Nurse, 1989; Morla et al., 1989). The enzymes involved are the weel kinase, which phosphorylates Tyr15 and possibly Thr14, holding cdc2 inactive, and cdc25 phosphatase, which is responsible for both phosphotyrosyl and phosphothreonyl dephosphorylation (Kumagai and Dunphy, 1991; Millar and Russell, 1992). wee1 and cdc25 genes have been shown to determine the timing of mitosis in fission yeast, weel as an inhibitor and cdc25 as an activator (North, 1989). It has also been reported that cyclins B1 and B2 enhance cdc25 phosphatase activity 5-fold in vitro, suggesting that cdc25 may act on specific cdc2/cyclin complexes (Galaktionov and Beach, 1991). Further work in Xenopus (Kumagai and Dunphy, 1992) has established that cdc25 is itself a substrate for phosphorylation by cdc2 (see figure 1.12), being maximally active when phosphorylated in its N-terminus (corresponding with mitosis), thus establishing a positive feedback. cdc25 is weakly active when unphosphorylated (interphase), at which time the weel tyrosine kinase capacity on cdc2 is superior, resulting in a nett phosphorylated state for Tyr15. As for weel regulation, recent work (Coleman et al., 1993) has shown that a protein kinase, nim1, also known as cdr1, directly phosphorylates wee1 at its Cterminus, causing its inactivation as a cdc2 tyrosine kinase. However, since the nim1 protein is not essential for viability (Russell and Nurse, 1987), there must be other components involved in the regulation of cdc2 tyrosine phosphorylation.

In summary, a clearer picture emerges from all these data, although there is obviously much still to be learned:

relationship between histons H1 phosphorylation and chromosome condensation remains unproven. The recognition sequence for edel in histone H1 was shown to be S/TFXK. Since then, the study of candidate CDK substrates has shown that the requirement for CDK-dependent



Figure 1.12. Regulation of cdc2 kinase. Binding of cyclin induces phosphorylation of Thr161, Tyr15 and Thr14. A novel kinase, CAK, is responsible for Thr161 phosphorylation (Solomon, 1993). weel accounts for Tyr15 and Thr14 phosphorylations. Full activation of cdc2 requires participation of cdc25, itself activated by phosphorylation by cdc2, thus establishing a positive feedback.

6.1.1. Substrates for mitotic CDKs

Much of the regulation of CDK activities has already been elucidated (see figure 1.12). Further work will eventually lead to the primary signal(s), internal and environmental, triggering mitosis. However, much less is known about the targets of such kinase activities. It is widely accepted that the structural reorganization of eukaryotic cells that takes place at the G2-Mitosis transition is brought about by specific CDK activities. This reorganization includes chromosome condensation, disassembly of nuclear laminae, rearrangement of cytoskeletal components and arrest of endomembrane traffic, among other events. Also, most mitotic cells in culture show a typical rounded morphology that will remain so until early anaphase, when daughter cells will respread (see Results and Discusion chapters). Much work has been focussed on the possible role of CDK activity in each of these processes. Early work showed the phosphorylation of mitotic histone H1, coinciding in time with chromosome condensation (Gurley et al., 1974). More recently, the mitotic histone H1 kinase was shown to be identical to cdc2/cyclin (Arion et al., 1988). However, a causal relationship between histone H1 phosphorylation and chromosome condensation remains unproven. The recognition sequence for cdc2 in histone H1 was shown to be S/TPXK. Since then, the study of candidate CDK substrates has shown that the requirement for CDK-dependent phosphorylation is the presence of a proline residue immediately after the phosphorylated serine or threonine (Draetta, 1990).

Other mitotic substrates include the endosome-associated ras-like GTPbinding proteins rab1 and rab4, which are phosphorylated by CDK/cyclin B, coinciding with the inhibition of endomembrane traffic (Thomas et al., 1992). Caldesmon, a protein of 83 KDa which binds to actin and greatly enhances its binding to tropomyosin, is phosphorylated in mitosis by cdc2 kinase (Yamashiro and Matsumura, 1991; Yamashiro et al., 1991). It has been suggested (Yamashiro and Matsumura, 1991) that this phosphorylation causes the dissociation of caldesmon from microfilaments, and that this would lead to rounding-up at mitosis. The authors suggest two possible hypothesis. First, caldesmon dissociation from microfilaments is accompanied by its inactivation as an actomyosin ATPase inhibitor, resulting in the contraction of the actinmyosin system and eventual rounding. Alternatively, as tropomyosin-bound caldesmon inhibits the severing activity of actin by gelsolin, it is possible that its dissociation restores gelsolin activity, leading to the disassembly of stress fibres which, the authors claim, would induce cellular rounding. However, as disassembly of stress fibers is not necessarily followed by cell rounding, the possible role of caldesmon on stress fibers is unlikely to be relevant in mitotic rounding-up.

The mechanisms by which cells round up at mitosis are particularly relevant to the work described in this thesis, where one of the questions addressed is the possibility that integrins participate in mitotic rounding-up (see Results and Discussion chapters). To date, there is no published evidence that integrin activity is modulated during the cell cycle. However, it has been reported that a serine from the cytoplasmic domain of β_1 , in $\alpha_5\beta_1$, becomes phosphorylated in mitosis, and that mitotic $\alpha_5\beta_1$ does not bind to fibronectin (unpublished data by Grandori and Hynes, quoted in Hynes (1992); see also Discussion chapter).

It is unlikely that $\alpha_5\beta_1$ is phosphorylated directly by cdc2, as it does not contain the consensus sequence P-S/T in either of its subunits (Chan *et al.* 1992; Marcantonio *et al.* 1990; but see Discussion chapter).

pp60^{c-src} is another substrate for cdc2 that may be relevant for mitotic rounding-up. Two steps are required for pp60^{c-src} activation. Firstly, residues Thr34 and Ser72, both conserved in frog, chicken, mouse and human, become phosphorylated by cdc2. Then, dephosphorylation of phosphotyrosine527 is further required for activation. When cdc2-induced phosphorylation of Thr34 and Ser72 is blocked by site-directed mutagenesis, pp60^{c-src} is partially inhibited, suggesting that cdc2 somehow participates in dephosphorylation of phosphotyrosine527. (Shenoy *et al.*, 1992). Downstream $pp60^{c-src}$ substrates might include components controlling cytoskeletal architecture and/or cell shape, known to be altered in transformed cells, as well as in mitosis (Shenoy *et al.*, 1992). In particular, changes in those components might cause the mitotic rounding-up.

Myosin-II regulatory light chain is claimed to be a substrate for CDK/Cyclin B, although it does not contain the S/TP consensus present in all other substrates (Satterwhite *et al.*, 1992). This phosphorylation inhibits actomyosin ATPase activity and, accordingly, it is postulated that this inhibition would delay contractile ring formation until CDK/Cyclin B inactivation.

As for the mitotic microtubule reorganization, microtubule dynamics and centrosome-nucleating activity can be modulated by addition of CDKs to cell-free systems, although the actual substrates have not yet been identified (Nigg, 1993). Nevertheless, some microtubule-associated proteins become phosphorylated in mitosis, and localize to the spindle fibers, in HeLa cells (Vandre *et al.*, 1991), and it is possible that they are CDK substrates.

Vimentin, an intermediate filament (IF) protein, is phosphorylated by cdc2 in mitosis (Chou *et al.*, 1991; Chou *et al.*, 1990). Also, phosphorylation of polymerized vimentin IFs *in vitro* by cdc2 causes their disassembly.

Another important event at the G2-Mitosis transition is nuclear envelope breakdown, which requires nuclear *laminae* A,B and C disassembly, brought about by CDK/Cyclin B phosphorylation (Heald and McKeon, 1990; Luscher *et al.* 1991). However, lamina phosphorylations are not sufficient for envelope breakdown, which probably requires additional CDK/cyclin B-directed action (Nigg, 1993).

The proto-oncogene c-myb is also a substrate for cdc2/cyclin B (Luscher and Eisenman, 1992). Myb is a DNA binding protein involved in transcriptional regulation. Its phosphorylation correlates with reduced DNA-binding ability. It has been suggested that its release from DNA might be necessary for an efficient chromosome condensation (Luscher and Eisenman, 1992).

6.1.2. Substrates for G1 and S CDKs

As mentioned above, CDK/cyclin activities also control the G1/S transition. Candidate substrates include tumor supressor gene products. In particular, the retinoblastoma protein (pRb) contains multiple CDK phosphorylation sites. pRb is kept inactive by hyperphosphorylation by

43

CDK/cyclin D2 on those sites in late G1 (Nigg, 1993), allowing progression through the cell cycle. p53 (Hartwell, 1992), is phosphorylated by CDK/p60 and CDK/cyclin B at Ser315 (Bischoff and Friedman, 1990), close to the onset of DNA replication. p53 is a tumour-supressor. When DNA is damaged, p53 acumulates and switches off replication, to allow for time for repair. If the repair fails, p53 triggers apoptosis (Lane, 1992).

CDK/Cyclin A and CDK/Cyclin B also participate in DNA synthesis control (Girard *et al.*, 1991). The only substrate identified so far is the 32-34 KDa subunit of the single-stranded DNA-binding replication protein A (RPA), a protein required for the unwinding of origin DNA. Both complexes phosphorylate RPA during S and G2, and CDK/cyclin B stimulates origin unwinding and DNA replication in G1 cell extracts (Dutta and Stillman, 1992).

Table 1.3 contains the known substrates for CDK/cyclin complexes, at least *in vitro*,, at different stages of the cell cycle. Further investigations will clarify their exact relevance *in vivo*, and new substrates will no doubt be identified.

Histome H1 p60wc p150abi Careta kinase II (n/fi) SW15 c-nyb ort-1 (7) c-kos/jun (7) Rob1/Rob4 EF-1y Rb1A polymerste g F1)

Table 1.3. Substrates for CDK/cyclin complexes

44

CHAPTER 2		
G1 substrates		
pRb		
G2 substrates cyclin B cdc25 phosphatase		
S substrates SV40 T DNA polymerase α (?)		
Mitotic substrates Nuclear lamins Vimentin Myosin regulatory LC	MATERIALS	
Neurofilament H Histone H1 p60src p150abl	& METHODS	
Casein kinase II (α/β) SW15 c-myb oct-1 (?)		
c-fos/jun (?) Rab1/Rab4 EF-1γ RNA polymerase α (?)		

Table 1.3. Substrates for CDK/cyclin complexes

daterials & Methods

CHAPTER 2

1. MATERIALS

.1. Media for cell culti	are	
Analar grade reagents		
Hepes saline (HS).		
NaClassic		
Classifier and a sold beam		
D-glucose		
lepes		
1.5% phenol red		
N. N. 49 18-		ATC

MATERIALS & METHODS

Hanks Hepes (HH) NaCl KCl CaCl₂ (2H₂O) MgCl₂(6H₂O) D-Glucose Hepes 0.5% phenol red pH 7.5

10mM 0.003mM

These buffers are dispensed in 160 million automaxed and stored at 4°C.

Hepes is N-hydroxethylpiperazine-N-2-et/-inc solphore see

Na ₂ HPO ₄	
EDTA	

1. MATERIALS

Trypsin

2

1.1. Media for cell culture

stored at -20°C, 0.5ml of the Analar grade reagents were used.

Hepes saline (HS)	
NaCl	180ml 140mM
KCl HamsF10 (Gibco)	5mM
D-glucose	5mM
Hepes	10mM
0.5% phenol red	0.003mM
pH 7.5	

Hanks' Hepes (HH)

NaCl 29.5g/1 TPB (Gibco) in double de	140mM
KCli aliquots, autoclaved and stored at 4	•C. 5mM
CaCl ₂ (2H ₂ O)	1mM
MgCl ₂ (6H ₂ O)	1mM
D-Glucose	5mM
Hepes	10mM
0.5% phenol red	0.003mM
pH 7.5 mych	

Fungizone (Amphoterisin E

These buffers are dispensed in 100 ml aliquots, autoclaved and stored at 4°C.

Nal-Hepes is N-hydroxethylpiperazine-N'-2-ethane sulphonic acid.

NaC	1		140	mΜ	
Vers	sene				
	Sterilised				

IVACI	THOMM
KClophate Buffered Saline (PBS)	2.5mM
Na ₂ HPO ₄	8mM
KH ₂ PO ₄	1.5mM
EDTA	0.5mM
0.5%phenol red	0.0 <mark>03m</mark> M
EDTA is ethylenediaminetetra-acetic	acid.

MgC This salt solution is dispensed in 20ml aliquots, autoclaved and stored at 4°C.

Trypsin

2.5% sterile trypsin (Gibco) was dispensed in 2ml aliquots and stored at -20°C. 0.5ml of this solution were added to 20ml versene (trypsin/versene solution) for the suspension of cell monolayers.

Ham's F10 m	edium		
Hepes water		180ml, 120mM	
X10 HamsF10	(Gibco)	for synchron 20ml	
NaHCO ₃		1ml	
GPSA azole		5ml	
TPB Methyl	(5-(2-thienylcarl	ponyl)-1H-ben 20ml	
Foetal calf ser	um from Sigma. 1	It was used from 20ml	
in 1ml DMSO,	kept at 4ºC.		

Tryptose Phosphate Broth (TPB)

29.5g/l TPB (Gibco) in double deionised water was dispensed in 20ml aliquots, autoclaved and stored at 4°C. pH 7.4 tertilized stock solution 200m M at FFF and best of e209C.

GPSA

Glutamine sused for Polyacry	and Cele 114mM
Penicillin	1905U/ml
Streptomycin and methods	1905U/ml
Fungizone (Amphoterisin B)	reagent 11.9 μg/ml used.
-tetramethylenediamine (TEM)	ED) and Sodium Dodecyl Surpliate (SDE)
Bicarbonate	

NaHCO₃ 7% (w/v)

Sterilised by Millipore ultra filtration and dispensed in 20ml aliquots.

Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS)		
NaClupoprecipitation and immunoble	170mM	
KClphilized rabbit anti-human integrin	3.4mM	
Na2HPO4 who polyclonal antibodies were	10mM	
KH ₂ PO ₄ red in physiological buffer as up	1.8mM	
CaCle were dispensed in 10 ul aliquots a	1mM	

MgCl₂ 1mM pH 7.4 1.2. Tissue culture vessels

Plastic tissue culture flasks and Petri dishes were from Greiner (Germany) or Sterilin (U.K.).

1.6. Solutions and reagents used for Western blotting

1.3. Solutions and reagents used for synchronization

Nocodazole

Unit (SAPU). U.K.

2

Methyl (5-(2-thienylcarbonyl)-1H-benzimidazol-2yl) carbamate (nocodazole) was from Sigma. It was used from a stock solution of 1.5mg in 1ml DMSO, kept at 4°C.

Thymidine

Thymidine (cell culture tested) was from Sigma. It was used from a filter-sterilized stock solution 200mM in HH and kept at -20°C.

1.4. Reagents used for Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis

Materials and methods were as described by Laemmli (1970). Electrophoresis purity reagents were used. N,N,N',N' -tetramethylenediamine (TEMED) and Sodium Dodecyl Sulphate (SDS) were from Sigma. All other reagents were from BDH.

as pointions and reagents used for memoryrecipitat

1.5. Antibodies

Antibodies were used for immunofluorescence, flow cytometry, immunoprecipitation and immunoblotting as described below. Lyophilized rabbit anti-human integrin $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and rabbit anti-human integrin $\alpha_V\beta_3$ polyclonal antibodies were from Telios (U.S.A.), and were redissolved in physiological buffer as indicated by the manufacturers. They were dispensed in 10 µl aliquots and kept at -70°C. Rabbit antihuman integrin β_3 subunit polyclonal antiserum was from Chemicon International, Inc., USA. It was dispensed in 10 µl aliquots and kept at -70°C. Mouse anti-phosphotyrosine (PY20) and TRITC-conjugated antirabbit IgG were from Sigma; FITC-conjugated anti-rabbit IgG and preimmune rabbit serum were from the Scottish Antibody Production Unit (SAPU), U.K.

1.6. Solutions and reagents used for Western blotting

in 50 µl aliquots and stored at -20°C.

Electroblotting buffer	ent. The stock solution was made by
Tris base	250mM
Glycine	2M
Methanol	20%
Indagen (1997)	
Milk block buffer	
Tris base	ni chiorof 10mM
NaCl shi to evaporate	150mM
Dry milk	4%
pH8 -substituted HII	
Mal	
Tween buffer	
Tris base	10mM
NaCl	150mM
Tween	0.2%
Nan Tween is polyoxyethylenesor	bitan.

1.7 Solutions and reagents used for immunoprecipitation

TAMPERS IN MENINSE		
lysis buffer		
Tris base to a suspension 0.5M NaC	50mM	
NaCl spension had a binding depend	150mM	
MgCl2 (6H20)	3mM	
NH4VO3	1mM	
NaN3	0.02%	
PMSF (added just before use)	100µg/ml	
Leupeptin (added just before use)	1µg/ml	

Triton X-100 1% NaF Adjust pH to 8

5mM

PMSF (phenylmethylsulphonyl fluoride)

DH Used fresh for each experiment. The stock solution was made by dissolving 20mg of PMSF in 1ml DMSO (dimethyl sulfoxide), dispensed in 50 μ l aliquots and .stored at -20°C.

Leupeptin

No Used fresh for each experiment. The stock solution was made by dissolving 2mg of leupeptin in 1ml HH and aliquoted and stored as with PMSF.

Iodogen

1mg of 1,3,4,6-Tetrachloro-3a, 6a,-diphenylglycoluril (iodo-gen[™]) was placed in a glass universal. 1ml chloroform was then added and left overnight to evaporate.

Iodine-substituted HH	
Nalmotrypsin	140mM
KCl Chymotrypsin was from	Sigma. The s 5mM olution was made to
CaCl ₂ (2H ₂ O) gestion buffer and	stored at -70% 1mM Out allouots.
MgCl ₂ (6H ₂ O)	1mM
Hepes	5mM
NaN3 Diphenylcarbarnyl chlorid	e was from S. 0.01% he stock solution was
pH8s to 1M in ddHyO and store	

Protein A-agarose

BOG Protein A was from Sigma, insolubilized on cross-linked 4% beaded agarose, in a suspension 0.5M NaCl containing 0.02% thimerosal. 1ml of this suspension had a binding capacity of 20-25 mg human IgG.

2

Materials &	Methods
-------------	---------

1.8. Solutions and reagents used for affinity chromatography

Urea	
urea Similar to lysis	8M
Tris	50mM
pH 7.5	
Similar to wash	ing putter, without avaient cations and with 20m

Cillule Duffer		
Na ₂ HPO ₄	10mM	
KH ₂ PO ₄	1.5mM	
NaCl	0.15M	
Sodium Citrate	10mM	
pH 7.2	kar spreading assays	

Digestion bufferTris10mMNaCl50mMEDTA0.5mMpH 7.64

Chymotrypsin

Citrate hullow

Chymotrypsin was from Sigma. The stock solution was made to 1mg/ml in digestion buffer and stored at -70°C in 200µl aliquots.

DPCCl₂

Diphenylcarbamyl chloride was from Sigma. The stock solution was made to 1M in ddH₂O and stored at -70°C in 200µl aliquots.

Lysis buffer	Blomedicals Ltd U.K. and contained
MnCl ₂ L-methionine (35S) and (-15)	L-Cyste1mM Shilt was dilited a
BOG ionine and cysteine deficient	mediu 100mM concentration of 0.5
NaF	5mM
NH ₄ VO ₃ was supplied by Ameri	ham In 1mM one ple with a
NaClobosphate in acid free solutio	150mM
Tris I to 5mCi/ml	50mM
PMSF	3mM
pH 7.3	

PMSF was added just before the cell extraction.

Materials & Methods

BOG is n-octyl-ß-glucopyrannoside.

Washing buffer

2

Similar to lysis buffer, with BOG 25mM instead of 100mM.

Eluting buffer

Similar to washing buffer, without divalent cations and with 20mM EDTA.

NaF and NH₄ VO₃ were used as phosphatase inhibitors and in some experiments were omitted.

1.9. Materials and reagents used for spreading assays

Square glass coverslips were from Chance Propper Ltd. Coomassie blue was from Sigma and was used as a 1% solution in methanol:distilled water:glacial acetic acid 50:50:7. All reagents used in cell suspensions were of Analar grade. Lyophilized, sterile colchicine was from Sigma and was dissolved aseptically in HH to a concentration of 100 μ g/ml and kept at 4°C. Hemoglobin was from Sigma and fibronectin was isolated as described below (see Methods section).

1.10 Radioactive materials

¹²⁵I was supplied by Amersham International plc. U.K., as NaI in dilute sodium hydroxide solution, ~17Ci/mg, pH 7-11. It was diluted in HH to a radioactive concentration of 4mCi/ml.

Tran³⁵s-labelTM was from ICN Biomedicals Ltd. U.K., and contained ~70% L-methionine (35 S) and ~15% L-Cysteine (35 S). It was diluted in methionine and cysteine-deficient medium to a concentration of 0.5 mCi/ml.

³²P was supplied by Amersham International plc. U.K., as orthophosphate in acid free solution, 8500-9120Ci/mmol. It was diluted in HH to 5mCi/ml. 2.1. Cell culture and growth conditions

1.11 Calyculin A

Calyculin A, a phosphatase inhibitor, was the kind gift of Dr. L. Gasmi. A stock solution of $1 \mu g/ml$ in ethanol was kept at -70°C.

HeLa cells were grown as monolayers on plastic, in Ham's FI0 medium containing 7.5% footal boving serum and 10% tryptose phosphate broth, and checked periodically for mycophases. Cells were subcultured when almost confluent, usually every 3-8 days, depending on the initial number seeded. To obtain cells in suspension, cell monolayers were washed twice with HS and trypsin/versene suspension was added for 1 minute. Excess fluid was poured off and cells left at 37°C until rounded. Ham's medium was then added to stop trypsin activity. Cell suspensions were centrifuged for 5 min at 1,000 r.p.m., resuspended in HH and aspirated in a Pasteur pipette to achieve single cell suspensions.

Stocks of frozen cells were kept at -70°C and propered as follows: cell suspensions were centrifuged for 5 min. at 1,000 r.p.m. resuspended at a concentration of 5x10° cells per mi in fostal calf servers containing 10% DMSO, aliquoted in cryotubes and kept at -70%. For mice very, cells (1 ml) were thawed in a 37°C bath, added to 10ml of ham's F10 medium, and centrifuged as indicated above. Cells were than resuspended in fresh medium, seeded in a 25cm² culture flesk and kept et 37°C.

2.2. Fluorochrome stalning for mytoplasma

10⁵ cells per well were grown overnight on 13 mm coversitys in a 5x5 wells sectored box. Next day cells were fixed for 2 minutes in glacial acetic acidimethanol 1:3. The fixativé was removed and more fixance is a added for a further 10 minutes. Cells were then rinsed twice with distilled water. Water was removed and finenchrome bis hervirnide "Envelosi 33258" (50µg/tal) was added and incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C. Coverslips were then rinsed theroughly with distilled water and mounted on slides with FBS/glowensl 1:1 and examined using a Vickers Photoplan fluorescence microscope, using filters as for fluorescent.

2. METHODS

2

2.1. Cell culture and growth conditions

HeLa cells were grown as monolayers on plastic, in Ham's F10 medium containing 7.5% foetal bovine serum and 10% tryptose phosphate broth, and checked periodically for mycoplasma. Cells were subcultured when almost confluent, usually every 3-4 days, depending on the initial number seeded. To obtain cells in suspension, cell monolayers were washed twice with HS and trypsin/versene suspension was added for 1 minute. Excess fluid was poured off and cells left at 37°C until rounded. Ham's medium was then added to stop trypsin activity. Cell suspensions were centrifuged for 5 min. at 1,000 r.p.m., resuspended in HH and aspirated in a Pasteur pipette to achieve single cell suspensions.

Populations enriched in mitotic cells were obtained basically as

175 cm² culture flasks and incubated for 16-18 hours with 2.5 mM

Stocks of frozen cells were kept at -70°C and prepared as follows: cell suspensions were centrifuged for 5 min. at 1,000 r.p.m., resuspended at a concentration of 5x10⁶ cells per ml in foetal calf serum containing 10% DMSO, aliquoted in cryotubes and kept at -70°C. For recovery, cells (1 ml) were thawed in a 37°C bath, added to 10ml of Ham's F10 medium, and centrifuged as indicated above. Cells were then resuspended in fresh medium, seeded in a 25cm² culture flask and kept at 37°C.

2.2. Fluorochrome staining for mycoplasma

 10^5 cells per well were grown overnight on 13 mm coverslips in a 5x5 wells sectored box. Next day cells were fixed for 2 minutes in glacial acetic acid:methanol 1:3. The fixative was removed and more fixative was added for a further 10 minutes. Cells were then rinsed twice with distilled water. Water was removed and fluorochrome bis benzimide "Hoechst 33258" (50µg/ml) was added and incubated for 30 minutes at 37°C. Coverslips were then rinsed thoroughly with distilled water and mounted on slides with PBS/glycerol 1:1 and examined using a Vickers Photoplan fluorescence microscope, using filters as for fluorescein.

2.3. Cell synchronization

Populations enriched in mitotic cells were obtained basically as described (Zieve *et al.* 1980). Briefly, aliquots of $4x10^6$ cells were seeded in 175 cm² culture flasks and incubated for 16-18 hours with 2.5 mM thymidine. Cells were then washed twice with HH, incubated for seven hours with normal medium and finally 0.05 µg/ml nocodazole were added for a further 8 hours. This treatment gave a population highly enriched in mitotic cells, which could be easily detached from the substrate by shaking off. Each flask yielded ~10⁶ cells with a mitotic index of >95%, as measured by flow cytometry. For immunofluorescence experiments, the same treatment was applied using 2.5 cm tissue culture dishes instead of culture flasks.

serum, Cells were then incubated at 37°C. To stop incubation, duplicates



Figure 2.1. Synchronization of HeLa cells by thymidine and nocodazole blocks. See text for details.

washed three times with PBS. Coverslips were then mounted in

2.4. Spreading assays

2 ml cells at 25×10^3 /ml in HH, harvested as indicated above, were normally used for all spreading experiments. 22 mm square coverslips were cleaned in an acid bath (sulphuric acid, nitric acid 1:1) for 30 minutes, rinsed thoroughly with tap water, then rinsed twice with ddH₂O, placed in 2.5 cm Petri dishes and precoated with fibronectin (40μ g/ml in HH), calf serum (1% in HH) or haemoglobin (0.5mg/ml in HH). These solutions were left for at least 30 minutes at room temperature and the dishes were washed twice with HH before plating the cells.

undiluted glycerol, to which #% n-propylgallate was added to inhibit

Representative fields of cells were photographed using a Vickers

Various additions to the cell suspensions were made depending on the experiment: Mn²⁺, nocodazole, colchicine, vanadate, calyculin A and serum. Cells were then incubated at 37°C. To stop incubation, duplicates of samples were fixed at the indicated time intervals by addition of 1 ml of 4% formaldehyde in PBS for 15 minutes, the fixative removed and 2 ml of Coomassie blue added for a further 15 minutes. The coverslips were then rinsed twice with distilled water, air dried and mounted on slides with Gurr's Clearmount or Depex.

Mean spread area (MSA) was measured as described by Edwards *et al.* (1987).

Cells were detached from culture flasks as follows: for mitotic cells,

2.5. Immunofluorescence

Cells were allowed to adhere to sterile glass coverslips at a density of 5×10^4 cells/cm² and grown for 48 hours. To analyse mitotic cells, 2.5 cm tissue culture dishes were used for synchronization as described above. After washing three times with prewarmed PBS containing Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺, cells were fixed for 20 min. with 4% formaldehyde supplemented with 5% sucrose, and washed thoroughly with PBS; cells to be permeabilised were treated with 0.5% Triton X-100 in PBS for 3 minutes and washed extensively. Cells were then incubated for 1 hour with rabbit anti-human $\alpha_5\beta_1$ or $\alpha_v\beta_3$ antisera, diluted 1:20 from the stock solution, washed with PBS, incubated for 30 minutes with rhodamine-conjugated anti-rabbit IgG, diluted 1:100 from the stock solution, and washed three times with PBS. Coverslips were then mounted in undiluted glycerol, to which 5% n-propylgallate was added to inhibit photobleaching, and sealed with clear nail polish.

Representative fields of cells were photographed using a Vickers Photoplan microscope equipped for epifluorescence and Kodak T-Max 400 film.

Interphase cells (~10²) were washed traice with warm HS. Prewarmed versere was then added and changed for track versere after 5 2.6. Flow cytometry receive carefully, 10 millief were added. The resulting cell suspension

Flow cytometry was used to monitor cell synchronization and to analyze integrin expression.

resuspended in 10ml HH, centrifuged again and finally resuspended in

Cell synchronization

~10⁶ cells treated for synchronization with thymidine and nocodazole as described above were centrifuged (5 min. 1000rpm), and resuspended for 5 min. in 70% ethanol at -20°C. Ethanol was then removed by centrifugation and cells resuspended in 1ml. PBS. Propidium iodide was added to a final concentration of 50 μ g/ml and cells analyzed immediately using a FACScan machine (Beckton Dickinson & Co. Oxnard, Ca), in the Department of Immunology and Bacteriology at the University of Glasgow.

All subsequent steps were carried out in a cold room, at ~4°C:

Integrin expression

Cells were detached from culture flasks as follows: for mitotic cells, a 175 cm² culture flask enriched in metaphase-arrested cells as described above was used: nocodazole-containing medium was poured off, HS was added and cells were then collected by gentle shaking. Interphase cells were detached by adding 1 mM EDTA for 20 min. at 37°C, after washing twice with HS. Both samples were then washed twice with PBS containing Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺, and aliquots containing 5x10⁵ cells were incubated for 1 hour with anti-human $\alpha_5\beta_1$ or $\alpha_v\beta_3$ antisera. Cells were then washed again and incubated for 30 min. with FITC-conjugated antirabbit IgG diluted 1:100 from the stock solution.

Finally cells were washed three more times, resuspended in 0.5 ml PBS and analysed using a FACScan machine.

Propidium iodide to a concentration of 2 μ g/ml was used in the final incubation from a stock solution of 100 μ g/ml in PBS, to gate out dead cells.

2.7. Immunoprecipitation of cell surface integrins

Immunoprecipitation of integrins and SDS-PAGE analysis was carried out as follows:

taking care to remove all traces of buffer from walls of the Eppendorf

the operation was repeated. Finally, a wash with buffer without detorgent

Interphase cells (~10⁷) were washed twice with warm HS. Prewarmed versene was then added and changed for fresh versene after 5 min. Cells were incubated at 37°C until rounded. After pouring off the versene carefully, 10 ml HH were added. The resulting cell suspension was transferred to a plastic universal and cell clumps removed by pipetting. After centrifugation for 5min at 1,000 r.p.m., cells were resuspended in 10ml HH, centrifuged again and finally resuspended in 2ml HH + 5mM PMSF, 1µg/ml leupeptin.

Immediately, cells were transferred to an iodogen-coated glass universal and 1mCi ¹²⁵I was added, in a well ventilated fume hood. After iodination (20 min., 20°C, occasional agitation), cells were transferred to a glass conical bottomed tube containing ~20ml I-HH. Cells were then centrifuged, 5min., 1,000 r.p.m., supernatant discarded down the sink with plenty of water (tap was left on for a few minutes) and resuspended with another 20ml of I-HH. Centrifugation and discarding of supernatant was repeated again.

All subsequent steps were carried out in a cold room, at ~4°C: 1 ml per 10^7 cells lysis buffer was added to the cell pellet and left for 20 min. with occasional agitation. To remove nuclei and cytoskeletal structures, cells were transferred to an Eppendorf tube and centrifuged at 13,000 r.p.m. for 18 min. The supernatant (detergent-soluble fraction) was recovered and 0.05 volumes of preimmune rabbit serum +25µl proteinAagarose beads were added for preclearing. This solution was left on a rotary mixer (Emscope) for 30min. Agarose beads were then centrifuged for 1 min. at 13,000 r.p.m. and supernatant split into several aliquots in Eppendorf tubes. Appropriate antibodies (specific or preimmune serum, 10µl) were then added and incubated for 2 hours.

After incubation with antibodies, 30μ l of proteinA-agarose were added to each aliquot and incubated for a further hour. The suspension was centrifuged for 1 min.at 13,000 r.p.m. and supernatant carefully removed with a disposable pipette tip.

For washing, 0.4ml. of lysis buffer were added to each aliquot and the agarose beads were resuspended by vortexing. After a few minutes, the operation was repeated. Finally, a wash with buffer without detergent (same composition as lysis buffer, but detergent-free) was carried out, taking care to remove all traces of buffer from walls of the Eppendorf tube. Samples were then analysed by SDS-PAGE, under reducing or non reducing conditions. Gels were dried under vacuum and radioactive proteins detected by autoradiography, using X-Omat film (Kodak) and intensifying screens (DuPont). Films were exposed at -70°C for 1-2 weeks, depending on the experiment.

prepared as follows: cells were grown and washed with HH as with interphase cells and 2ng/ml of calyculin A in 2ml of HH were finally

then carefully removed with a pipette and the cells lysed and prepared for

2.8. Measurement of radioactivity by TCA precipitation

Radioactivity from radioiodinated samples was determined by TCA precipitation as follows: one ml of 0.1% calf serum in HH to act as a carrier was mixed with one volume of 10% trichloroacetic acid (TCA) in a test tube and 5µl of radioactive sample added. This mixture was left for a minimum of 15 min. at room temperature. Radioactive proteins were then collected on a Millipore filter (0.22 µm) and radioactivity counted on a γ -counter (for ¹²⁵I) or a scintillation counter (for ³⁵S).

2.9. Protein measurement from ³²P-labeled cells

Bradford's reagent was used to measure protein concentration in samples to be compared in immunoprecipitation experiments.

samples were bolled for 3min, before loading on a 10% polyacrylamide.

20 µl of different concentrations of BSA in lysis buffer (0.25μ g/ml to 0.5mg/ml) were added to 10 ml Bradford's reagent and absorption readings at λ =595nm were obtained, in order to make calibration curves. 20µl from the samples to be compared were also added to 10ml Bradford's reagent and the readings at 595nm used to calculate protein concentration with the calibration curve.

of 3 hours on a rocking platform, followed by a series of washes: twice

2.10. Immunoblotting for (10 min each), twice with Terrer built in the

Preparation of samples

For interphase samples, cells were grown in 10cm Petri dishes until near confluent, and mitotic cells removed by washing three times with
HH. Cold lysis buffer (0.5ml per plate, the same as described for immunoprecipitation, including $100\mu g/ml$ PMSF, 1mM NaF and 5mM NH₄VO₃) was then added and left at 4°C for 20 min. Cells were then scraped off, transferred to an Eppendorf tube and insoluble material pelleted by centrifugation 18 min. at 13,000 r.p.m. The supernatant was transferred to another Eppendorf and 0.25 volumes of boiling mix were added.

When the effect of calyculin A was to be studied, samples were prepared as follows: cells were grown and washed with HH as with interphase cells and 2ng/ml of calyculin A in 2ml of HH were finally added until cells rounded up, usually less than 30 min. This solution was then carefully removed with a pipette and the cells lysed and prepared for electrophoresis as with interphase cells.

Mitotic cells were obtained as described above for all other purposes, washed twice with HH by centrifugation (1,000 r.p.m. for 5min.) and the pellet lysed (1ml lysis buffer per 10⁷ cells) for 20 min. at 4°C. Samples were then cleared of insoluble material and prepared for electrophoresis as with interphase cells.

the gelatine-Sepharose column (20 ml, prepared according to the

SDS-PAGE and protein analysis

Western blotting was carried out as follows, in the CLIC laboratory, Department of Pathology and Microbiology, at the University of Bristol: samples were boiled for 3min. before loading on a 10% polyacrylamide minigel (protein from ~10⁵ cells per well). Electrophoresis were run for 40min at 200V using rainbow molecular weight markers (Amersham International). Proteins were then transferred from the gel to nitrocellulose paper (Hybond-ECL, Amersham International) with a transblot apparatus (Bio-Rad). The electroblotting was left for 1 hour at 100V. After dismantling the blotting sandwich, blocking of non specific sites was carried out using milk blocking buffer overnight. Filters were then placed in polythene bags and incubation with first antibodies (anti $\alpha_5\beta_1$ at 1:1000 or anti phosphotyrosine at 1:500) took place for a minimum of 3 hours on a rocking platform, followed by a series of washes: twice with milk blocking buffer (10 min each), twice with Tween buffer (10 min each) and finally once with milk block buffer (10 min). These washes were performed in a sandwich box with continuous agitation.

Filters were then placed in new polythene bags and incubated with second antibodies (goat anti-rabbit IgG conjugated to horse radish

peroxidase (HRP) at 1:2000 or goat anti-mouse IgG-HRP at 1:2000) for 1 hour at room temperature on a rocking platform. Subsequent washes were performed in a sandwich box as follows: twice with milk block buffer (20 min each), four times with Tween buffer (10 min each) and a last rinse with distilled water.

Protein detection was performed using enhanced chemiluminiscence (ECL) according to the manufacturer's protocol (Amersham International). Horse radish peroxidase catalyses the oxidation of luminol in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. Immediately after oxidation, luminol is in an excited state, returning to the basal state by the emission of light, which is detected on a film (hyperfilmECL; Amersham).

with or without phosphatase inhibitors (NaF 5mM, NH₄VO₃ 1mM). Radioiodinated cell lysates from ~2x10⁷ cells per sample, prepared exercity

detergent instead of Triton X-100), were passed through the columns at

2.11. Isolation of fibronectin

Fibronectin was isolated from calf serum (Gibco) on a gelatin-Sepharose column, as described by Engvall and Ruoslahti (1977). Briefly, the gelatine-Sepharose column (20 ml, prepared according to the manufacturer instructions, Pharmacia) was washed with three volumes of citrate buffer, and 500 ml of calf serum (Gibco) were added at a flow rate of 40 ml/h, followed by citrate buffer until the ultraviolet absorbance (280 nm) of the eluent reached that of the citrate buffer. Fibronectin was then eluted with 8M urea and stored at 4°C at a concentration of ~1 mg/ml until used. Fibronectin purity was assessed by SDS-PAGE.

interrobusined with benyclonal and 2501

2.12. Affinity chromatography on from the application of the coll brate to

Isolation of the cell-binding fragment from fibronectin

Fibronectin, isolated as described above, was dialysed extensively from 8M urea against digestion buffer, and proteolysed by incubating with 2 μ g/ml chymotrypsin at 37°C for 30 min. Normally, ~100ml of fibronectin, at 1.6-1.7 mg/ml were used. The digestion was stopped by adding DPCCl₂ and PMSF to a final concentration of 1mM each.

The digested fibronectin solution was fractionated on a gelatin-Sepharose column, and material that did not bind to the column was directly used as the cell-binding fraction (CBF). Usually, ~50 mg of protein were recovered in this fraction, and were concentrated to 1mg/ml through vaccuum dialysis for coupling to Sepharose 4B. The digestion was monitored by SDS-PAGE under reducing conditions.

Proteolytic fragments that did not bind to gelatin were coupled to cyanogen-bromide-activated Sepharose 4B according to the manufacturer's instructions. This resulted in the coupling of an average of 4.2 mg of protein per millilitre of gel.

Isolation of the fibronectin receptor from CBF-Sepharose columns

The procedure was based on that described by Pytela *et al.* 1985. For each cell sample (i.e. interphase, mitotic or calyculin-treated cells), one milliliter columns of CBF-Sepharose were equilibrated in washing buffer, with or without phosphatase inhibitors (NaF 5mM, NH₄VO₃ 1mM). Radioiodinated cell lysates from ~2x10⁷ cells per sample, prepared exactly as for immunoprecipitation (except that β -octylglucoside was used as detergent instead of Triton X-100), were passed through the columns at the lowest rate possible, using a peristaltic pump (2132 Microperpex[®], LKB). The columns were then washed with 10ml of washing buffer containing 1mM MnCl₂ (Gailit and Ruoslahti, 1988) and bound material eluted with 20mM EDTA (eluting buffer).

When phosphatase inhibitors were used, care was taken to include them in every buffer, from cell lysis to elution of the fibronectin receptor from the CBF-Sepharose column.

Material eluted with EDTA was directly analysed by SDS-PAGE, loading 50 μ l per well, and autoradiographed, or previously immunoprecipitated with polyclonal anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antibody.

Radioactivity, determined by TCA precipitation as described above, was measured for every fraction from the application of the cell lysate to the column, in order to monitor the presence of washed and eluted material.

2.13. Analysis of integrin phosphorylation

Immunoprecipitation of integrins from cells radiolabelled with ³²P was carried out in order to find out possible differences in phosphorylation between mitotic and interphase integrins. Integrins from calyculin-treated cells were also analysed using ³²P. Differences in

2.14. Biosynthesis of the fibronectin receptor during the cell cycle

phosphotyrosine protein levels were analysed using the monoclonal PY20 antibody against phosphotyrosine, in all samples (i.e. mitotic, interphase and calyculin-treated cells). The procedure was as described for immunoprecipitation using radioiodinated cells, with the following modifications:

Mitotic cells (~3x10⁶) were harvested exactly as described above, placed in a plastic universal and washed twice with phosphate-free medium by centrifugation at 1,000 r.p.m. for 5min. Cells were then resuspended in 1ml of phosphate-free medium and 1mCi of ³²P was added. This cell suspension was kept for 3 hours at 37°C, with occasional agitation. After incubation, cells were transferred to a cold room, at 4°C, washed twice by centrifugation (1000 rpm, 5min), using cold Tris buffer, which was the same as lysis buffer, but without detergent, and the final pellet was lysed for 20 min. with 1ml of lysis buffer. All subsequent steps were exactly as described for immunoprecipitation from radioiodinated cells.

For interphase cells, 10cm Petri dishes were used. Usually, ~1-1.2x10⁶ cells per dish were seeded and grown at 37°C for 36 hours. Cells were then washed twice with Tris buffer in order to remove mitotic cells, and twice with phosphate-free medium. Finally, 1ml of this medium and 1mCi of ³²P were added and cells placed in a 37°C incubator for 3 hours, with occasional agitation, in order to keep cells from drying. After incubation, cells were transferred to a cold room, at 4°C, washed twice with Tris buffer, and lysed for 20 min. with 1 ml of lysis buffer. Lysed cells were scraped off using a rubber spatula and transferred to an Eppendorf tube for preclearing. All subsequent steps were exactly as described for immunoprecipitation from radioiodinated cells. Equal amounts of proteins were used for each sample. Protein concentration was determined in detergent-soluble fractions using Bradford's reagent. Radioactive proteins were detected by autoradiography, after 48 hours of exposure.

2.14. Biosynthesis of the fibronectin receptor during the cell cycle

Immunoprecipitation of integrins from cells metabolically labelled with 35 S was carried out exactly as described for 32 P labelled cells. 50 µCi of Tran 35 Slabel, diluted in 100 µl, were used for each sample, and washes

2

were done using methionine-free and cysteine-free medium. All samples were pre-incubated for 15 min. in this medium prior to the addition of Tran³⁵Slabel. Mitotic cells were collected as described for ³²P labelled cells. Asynchronous cells were seeded and treated as described for interphase ³²P labelled cells, with more gentle washes, in order to keep the mitotic population. Cells in G1+S were obtained from 10 cm Petri dishes by seeding 1-1.2x10⁶ cells and growing them in the presence of 2.5mM thymidine for ~20 hours. The medium was then removed, and fresh growth medium without thymidine added for a further 2 hours, after which cells were treated for immunoprecipitation as with asynchronous cells. Synchronization was monitored by flow cytometry (see fig. 3.17, Results chapter).

well known that cytoskeletal components participate in such changes (new Cell Cycle section, in Introduction). However, nothing seemed to be known about the state of integrins during mitosis. It was important to know if integrins continued to be expressed at the cell surface throughout mitosis. Two polyclonal antisera raised against human integrins were available to identify integrins in Hela cells (anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and anti- $\alpha_5\beta_3$), which could be used in flow cytometry and immunoprecipitation to answer this question. Assays of the spreading activity of mitotic and interphase cells could then be used to give an indirect measure of integrin activity at the level of intact cells, and affinity isolation of integrins from detergent extracts could measure such activities in cell-free preparations. Since phosphorylation of integrins is a known mechanism for the regulation of their activity (see Integrins section, in Introduction) I planned to analyse the phosphorylation state of integrins in HeLa cells in mitosis and interphase by immunoprecipitation from ³²P-labelled cells.

Immunofluorescence was intended to localise integrins either at the cell surface on fixed cells, or intracellularly in permeabilised cells. I also considered of interest to study whether synthesis of integrins was regulated during the cell cycle or whether it was constitutive. Therefore, I intended to immunoprecipitate integrins from 25-labeled cells at different stages of the cell cycle. While optimising synchronisation procedures using the microtubule inhibitor nocodazole, I realised that serum seemed to have a positive effect on the transition from inetaphase to anaphase after release of nocodazole block. Therefore, I planned to quantify the rate of exit from inetaphase at different times after release of the nocodazole block. During the course of the mark the phosphatase inhibitor call culin A became available, offering a possible for AIMS OF MY RESEARCH

The aim of my project was to gain some insight into the role of integrins in the transition from G2 to mitosis in HeLa cells, and thus perhaps to contribute to understanding of how the activity of integrins is regulated.

During this transition, most cells in culture undergo dramatic morphological changes, which eventually lead to cellular rounding-up. It is well known that cytoskeletal components participate in such changes (see Cell Cycle section, in Introduction). However, nothing seemed to be known about the state of integrins during mitosis. It was important to know if integrins continued to be expressed at the cell surface throughout mitosis. Two polyclonal antisera raised against human integrins were available to identify integrins in Hela cells (anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and anti- $\alpha_y\beta_3$), which could be used in flow cytometry and immunoprecipitation to answer this question. Assays of the spreading activity of mitotic and interphase cells could then be used to give an indirect measure of integrin activity at the level of intact cells, and affinity isolation of integrins from detergent extracts could measure such activities in cell-free preparations. Since phosphorylation of integrins is a known mechanism for the regulation of their acitivity (see Integrins section, in Introduction) I planned to analyse the phosphorylation state of integrins in HeLa cells in mitosis and interphase by immunoprecipitation from ³²P-labelled cells.

Immunofluorescence was intended to localise integrins either at the cell surface on fixed cells, or intracellularly in permeabilised cells. I also considered of interest to study whether synthesis of integrins was regulated during the cell cycle or whether it was constitutive. Therefore, I intended to immunoprecipitate integrins from ³⁵S-labeled cells at different stages of the cell cycle. While optimising synchronisation procedures using the microtubule inhibitor nocodazole, I realised that serum seemed to have a positive effect on the transition from metaphase to anaphase after release of nocodazole block. Therefore, I planned to quantify the rate of exit from metaphase at different times after release of the nocodazole block.

During the course of the work, the phosphatase inhibitor calyculin A became available, offering a possible model in asynchronous cells for changes taking place at mitosis.

CHAPTER 3

Bovine fibronectin isolated from serum was used as a substrate for cells in spreading assays and as a source for the isolation of the cellattachment site on the fibronectin molecule. Figure 3.1 shows the protein recovered in each step of fibronectin and cell-binding fragment isolations. The fraction recovered from the gelatin-Sepharose column with 6M urea contained mainly fibronectin, showing as two bands of ~200kDs under reducing conditions (lanes 5 and 6). Fibronectin digested with 2µg/ml chymotrypsin was then passed again through the gelatin-Sepharose column. The material immediately eluted, showed in lanes 3 and 4, constituted the cell-binding fraction (CBF). It consisted of a main band of ~130kDa, the cell-binding fragment; together with minor contaminants. The digested fragments bound to gelatin are shown in lanes 1 and 2.

RESULTS

2. SPREADING EXPERIMENTS

21. Interphyse cells versus mitotic cells

Fig.3.2 shows the ability of mitotic and interphase calls to spread or glass surfaces pre-coated with fibronectin. Interphase calls responded readily to fibronectin and fully spread within one hour, unlike mitotic calls, which remained rounded and unable to spread. Nococasion added to interphase cells during spreading had a negligible effect on spreading. Further experiments using different concentrations of Mn²⁺, and haemoglobin and libronectin as substrata, were then carried out. At fig.3.3 shows, interphase cells need concentrations of Mn²⁺ higher than 10⁻⁰M to spread readily on fibronectin, and higher than 10⁻⁰M to do so on haemoglobin, although there is a weak response to lower concentrations. Mn²⁺ at 10⁻⁴M induces higher spreading of interphase cells on fibronectin than Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ both at 10⁻³M. As for mitotic cells, although there is a significant increase in their MSA on fibronectin in the presence of >10⁻⁵M Mm²⁺, as compared with the same cells in the absence of Mn²⁺ (nearly 50% increase), this effect is negligible when compared with the area of fully spread interphase cells interphase cells interphase cells interphase cells in the absence of Mn²⁺ (nearly 50% increase), this effect is negligible when compared with the area of fully spread interphase cells in the presence of who spread interphase cells interphase cells in the presence of who spread interphase cells interphase cells in the absence of Mn²⁺ (nearly 50% increase), this effect is negligible when compared with the area of fully spread interphase cells in the presence of who spread interphase cells in the absence of Mn²⁺ (nearly 50% interpase),

1. ISOLATION OF CELL-BINDING FRAGMENT FROM FIBRONECTIN

Bovine fibronectin isolated from serum was used as a substrate for cells in spreading assays and as a source for the isolation of the cellattachment site on the fibronectin molecule. Figure 3.1 shows the protein recovered in each step of fibronectin and cell-binding fragment isolations. The fraction recovered from the gelatin-Sepharose column with 8M urea contained mainly fibronectin, showing as two bands of ~200kDa under reducing conditions (lanes 5 and 6). Fibronectin digested with $2\mu g/ml$ chymotrypsin was then passed again through the gelatin-Sepharose column. The material immediately eluted, showed in lanes 3 and 4, constituted the cell-binding fragment, together with minor contaminants. The digested fragments bound to gelatin are shown in lanes 1 and 2.

2. SPREADING EXPERIMENTS

21. Interphase cells versus mitotic cells

Fig.3.2 shows the ability of mitotic and interphase cells to spread on glass surfaces pre-coated with fibronectin. Interphase cells responded readily to fibronectin and fully spread within one hour, unlike mitotic cells, which remained rounded and unable to spread. Nocodazole added to interphase cells during spreading had a negligible effect on spreading. Further experiments using different concentrations of Mn²⁺, and haemoglobin and fibronectin as substrata, were then carried out. As fig.3.3 shows, interphase cells need concentrations of Mn²⁺ higher than 10⁻⁶M to spread readily on fibronectin, and higher than 10^{-5} M to do so on haemoglobin, although there is a weak response to lower concentrations. Mn²⁺ at 10⁻⁴M induces higher spreading of interphase cells on fibronectin than Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺ both at 10⁻³M. As for mitotic cells, although there is a significant increase in their MSA on fibronectin in the presence of >10⁻⁵M Mn²⁺, as compared with the same cells in the absence of Mn²⁺ (nearly 50% increase), this effect is negligible when compared with the area of fully spread interphase cells. Further experiments using several approaches (see below, section 2) proved that, given the right conditions, mitotic cells could be induced to spread to a limited extent, these results being compatible with the spreading results shown above. The apparently better spreading of mitotic cells on

probably accounted for by the bigger size of mitotic cells



Figure 3.1. Isolation of the cell-binding fragment by affinity chromatography. Lanes 1 and 2, gelatin-bound fraction from fibronectin digest. Lanes 3 and 4, fraction of the fibronectin digest directly eluted from the gelatin column. It contains the cell-binding fragment as the main component. Molecular weight markers (lane 7) are 205, 116, 97.4, 66, 48 and 29kDa.

of nocodazole and sarum. After different incubation times, calls were tiged

22. Effect of servin on metaphase-compliance transition

haemoglobin at low concentrations of Mn²⁺ (observed in all experiments) is probably accounted for by the bigger size of mitotic cells.



Figure 3.2. Time course of cell spreading on fibronectin (25 μ g/ml). Cells were diluted in HH, incubated at 37°C, and analysed at different times as described in Materials and Methods. Results are expressed as mean spread area relative to interphase cells after 60 minutes incubation (value 100). Data from two different experiments

22. Effect of serum on metaphase → anaphase transition

Cells were blocked in metaphase as described in Materials and Methods, washed twice and plated on fibronectin in the presence or absence of nocodazole and serum. After different incubation times, cells were fixed and stained as for spreading essays. As seen in figure 3.4, cells which were incubated with nocodazole did not go through metaphase, as expected. Nocodazole-released cells, however, progressed faster in the presence of serum. Post-metaphase cells were defined as those showing a clear anaphase morphology (see figure 3.8b).



Figure 3.3. Spreading of mitotic and interphase cells in response to various concentrations of Mn^{2+} , using hemoglobin (top figure) and fibronectin as substrates. Cells were allowed to spread for 2 hours at 37° C in HS. Glass surfaces were pre-coated with fibronectin, from solution at 25 µg/ml, or haemoglobin, at 500 µg/ml. Data are expressed as mean spread area relative to spread interphase cells on fibronectin in 10^{-3} M Ca²⁺, 10^{-3} M Mg²⁺, without Mn²⁺ (value 100). Results are representative of 3 experiments.



Figure 3.4. Effect of serum on metaphase →anaphase transition. Metaphasearrested cells were prepared as described in Materials and Methods, and further incubated with or without serum. Nocodazole was included in control samples. Data from two experiments. Duplicate samples were counted each time.

3. IMMUNOLOCALIZATION OF MITOTIC AND INTERPHASE $\alpha_5\beta_1$ AND $\alpha_V\beta_3$ INTEGRINS

Indirect immunofluorescence was used to identify the pattern of expression of $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_3$ integrins. Mitotic and interphase cells, fixed as described in Material and Methods, were stained with anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and anti- $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_3$ antibodies. Some samples were also permeabilised.

Non permeabilized interphase cells (fig.3.5a,b) show clear staining only at the edge of the cells. Mitotic cells showed positive staining for both antisera, in the form of a double ring pattern. (fig.3.5c,d). One possible explanation for the mitotic pattern of staining is that, as cells undergo a pretreatment of several hours in nocodazole before being fixed for immunofluorescence, there is a percentage of the cell population which stays blocked in metaphase long enough to initiate spreading although, as



Figure 3.5. Immunolocalization of $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and $\alpha_V\beta_3$. Non permeabilised cells. a. Interphase cells stained with rabbit anti-human $\alpha_5\beta_1$. b. Interphase cells stained with rabbit anti-human $\alpha_V\beta_3$. c. Mitotic cells. Staining as in a. d. Mitotic cells. Staining as in c. Bar, 10μ m.

Α. 77

Β.

C.

AS SEEN BY IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE



Figure 3.6. Limited spreading of mitotic cells, as seen by immunofluorescence. a. The cell rounds up at the onset of prophase and is blocked with nocodazole as it enters metaphase. b. After a few hours the cell starts spreading. c. Spreading stops at its early steps.



Figure 3.7. Immunolocalization of $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and $\alpha_V\beta_3$ from nonblocked, mitotic cells. a. Late telophase cell stained with anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$. b. Anaphase/early telophase cell stained with anti- $\alpha_V\beta_3$. c. Daughter cells after parental cell has undergone cytokinesis. Staining as in a. d Cell in early prophase, in the process of rounding up. Staining as in a. Bar, $10\mu m$.



Figure 3.8. a. Mitotic cells harvested as described in Materials and Methods were washed twice with full medium and incubated on glass coverslips at 37° C for 4 hours in the presence of 0.05ug/ml nocodazole. Cells were fixed and stained as for spreading assays. b. Cells underwent same treatment, except that final incubation with nocodazole was omitted. Bar 20µm.

immunoficiaresonal Manager Stays blocked in manager and stays blocked in manager and shown in spreading to very strategy of the second st



with or without noondazole (it experiments, when cells were re







Figure 3.9. Immunolocalization of $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and $\alpha_V\beta_3$. a. Interphase cells stained with anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$. b. Interphase cells stained with anti- $\alpha_V\beta_3$. c. Mitotic cells. Staining as in a. $\alpha_5\beta_1$. Mitotic cells. Staining as in b. Bars, $10\mu m$.

immunofluorescence, there is a percentage of the cell population which stays blocked in metaphase long enough to initiate spreading although, as shown in spreading experiments using optimal conditions (fig. 3.3), this spreading is very limited. Figure 3.6 shows the sequence of steps involved in the process. The fact that the two rings in the same cell are situated at different focal planes (fig.3.5c,d) supports this hypothesis.

Further experiments were made to test this hypothesis. Cells were thymidine-blocked as in previous experiments, but blocking with nocodazole was omitted. Ten hours after the release of the thymidine block, when the percentage of mitotic cells is higher than usual, cells were treated for immunofluorescence. As seen in figure 3.7, this time no double ring pattern could be found in mitotic cells. Instead, a single ring pattern was identified in cells actually undergoing anaphase (fig.3.7a,b) or even after cytokinesis (fig.3.7c). Figure 3.7d shows a cell in early prophase in the process of rounding up.

These results were further confirmed by observing the morphology of Coomasie blue-stained mitotic cells which had been incubated in medium with or without nocodazole (fig.3.8). As with immunofluorescence experiments, when cells were released from the nocodazole block and therefore allowed to pass into G1 phase, only cells undergoing mitosis could be identified (fig.3.8b) rather than cells trying to spread (fig.3.8a).

Immunofluorescence experiments were also carried out with permeabilised cells. In this case, a neat cytoplasmic, Golgi-like, pattern could be seen in interphase cells treated with anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antiserum, the staining at the cellular edges being apparently weaker than in non permeabilised cells, possibly due to the cytoplasmic brightness (fig. 3.9a). When cells were treated with anti- $\alpha_v\beta_3$ antiserum, a more diffuse and weaker cytoplasmic pattern of staining could be seen (fig.3.9b). Mitotic permeabilised cells were fully stained with both antisera (fig.3.9c,d).

4 EXPRESSION OF MITOTIC AND INTERPHASE INTEGRINS

Two different approaches were used to detect and compare relative amounts of integrins at both stages of the cell cycle: flow cytometry and immunoprecipitation of cell surface integrins. Immunoblotting was also carried out in interphase cells in order to test the presence of β_3 integrins in HeLa cells.



Figure 3.10. Analysis by flow cytometry of cell surface expression of integrins. a. Interphase cells. b. Mitotic cells. Control samples were incubated with preimmune serum as first antibody.

4.1. Flow cytometry

Flow cytometry was used to compare surface expression of mitotic and interphase integrins. As seen in figure 3.10, no significant difference was found in the relative amount of either $\alpha_5\beta_1$ or $\alpha_v\beta_3$ integrins, as detected by our polyclonal antibodies, when unfixed mitotic and interphase cells were compared.

4.2. Immunoprecipitation of cell surface integrins

Mitotic and interphase integrins from radioiodinated cells were immunoprecipitated using three polyclonal antibodies (anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$, anti- $\alpha_{\nu}\beta_3$ and anti- β_3), as described in Materials and Methods.

Figure 3.11 shows the typical pattern of bands obtained using anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$. Since a polyclonal antibody is being used, it is not possible to be sure of the identity of these bands. However, the lower one has a mobility expected of a β_1 subunit, and as β_1 , it runs faster when reducing agents are added to the boiling mix (figure 3.12).

The mobility of the two upper bands apparently did not depend on the presence of reducing agents and their identity cannot be established without the use of further specific antibodies (but see section 3, in Discussion chapter).

When the anti- $\alpha_v \beta_3$ antibody was used, no reproducible pattern of bands was obtained.

When the anti- β_3 antibody was used, again no bands were detected. The absence of β_3 was confirmed by immunoblotting and immunoprecipitation using ³⁵S-labeled cells (see below, this section).

These results indicate that β_3 integrins are not present in HeLa cells. As for the relative amounts of protein recovered, the two upper bands sum up to 80-90% of the lower band, as measured by γ -counting of the bands excised from the dried gels, both in interphase and mitosis.

mitosis		
β:1	α _U : 0.48±0.16	$\alpha_{L}: 0.40\pm 23$
interphase	to in 3.11 a. Interprise cutto Lone 1, and may	h. Peterine manimum
β:1	α _U : 0.57±0.29	αL: 0.29±0.21
Table 3.1 Relative amount	of integrin hands in interphase and mitosis gu	· lower a subunit: a upper a

Table 3.1. Relative amounts of integrin bands in interphase and mitosis. α_L : lower α subunit; α_u : upper α subunit. Data from four immunoprecipitations, means \pm S.D.

3



Figure 3.11. Analysis of cell surface expression of integrins by immunoprecipitation. Lane 1, preimmune rabbit serum. Interphase cells. Lane 2, anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$. Interphase cells. Lane 3, anti- β_3 . Interphase cells. Lane 4, preimmune rabbit serum. Mitotic cells. Lane 5. anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$. Mitosis



Figure 3.12. Immunoprecipitation as in 3.11. **a**. Interphase cells. Lane 1, anti- α 5 β 1, reducing conditions. Lane 2, as lane 1, nonreducing conditions. Lane 3, preimmune serum. **b**. Mitotic cells. Lanes 1 and 2, as in a.

4.3. ImmunobioRing

Integrin subunits were identifies to incommission and were even detection as described in higherials and Markada. Acto activate and to antibodies were used, as shown in fig. 3.12 state told such a description with pattern of two bands was obtained, minimal of the mount I decay for immunoprecipitations (see also below, fig. 1.21). This is an account of the secsince incubation with antibodim takes place on the characteristic secwhere integrin subunits have previously been septimed by 2016 Passis, and apparent molecular weights of the two bands are -120 side and 1 decay have under reducing conditions, and they represent activation, However, no bands were detected using the anti-to-milliowice.

5. ANALYSIS OF THE CELL FREE ACTIVITY OF THE PERSONNECTED RECEPTOR IN MITOSIS AND 2CTERPHASE

Althou 205 fibronectin 97 fibronectin recept approach was nee of the fibronectin Cell hysales in Materials and phosphorylation

Figure 3.13. Immunoblots of interphase cells. ECL detection as described in Materials and Methods was used. Lane 1, anti- α 5 β 1. Lane 2, anti- β 3.

4.3. Immunoblotting

3

Integrin subunits were identified by immunoblotting using ECL detection as described in Materials and Methods. Anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and anti- β_3 antibodies were used. As shown in fig. 3.13, with anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$, a reproducible pattern of two bands was obtained, instead of the usual 3 from the immunoprecipitations (see also below, fig. 3.21). This is an expected pattern, since incubation with antibodies takes place on the nitrocellulose filter, where integrin subunits have previously been separated by SDS-PAGE. The apparent molecular weights of the two bands are ~130 kDa and 125 kDa under reducing conditions, and they represent α_5 (upper band) and β_1 . However, no bands were detected using the anti- β_3 antiserum.

5. ANALYSIS OF THE CELL-FREE ACTIVITY OF THE FIBRONECTIN RECEPTOR IN MITOSIS AND INTERPHASE

Although the spreading ability of mitotic and interphase cells on fibronectin (see above, section 2) may be an indirect measure of the fibronectin receptor activity on those cells, it is obvious that a more direct approach was needed to assess such activity. This consisted of the isolation of the fibronectin receptor *in vitro*, using affinity columns.

Cell lysates were passed through CBF-Sepharose columns as described in Materials and Methods. The effect of a possible cell cycle-dependent phosphorylation/dephosphorylation on the activity of the fibronectin receptor (see below, Discussion chapter) was taken into account. Thus, cell lysates obtained and eluted from the columns using buffers containing phosphatase inhibitors were compared with similar samples where phosphatase inhibitors had been omitted. Figure 3.14 shows the radioactivity recovered from each fraction, after EDTA was applied, for interphase and mitotic samples.

It is clear that the presence of phosphatase inhibitors does not influence the recovery of protein with EDTA. However, there is a difference in recovery between interphase and mitosis. Table 3.2 shows the counts recovered from postEDTA fractions as a percentage of the total counts applied to each column.

75



Figure 3.14. Affinity isolation of the fibronectin receptor. Mitotic and interphase cells were lysed with or without phosphatase inhibitors as described in Materials and Methods. c.p.m. are indicated for each postEDTA fraction.

c.p.m.



Figure 3.15. Affinity isolation of the fibronectin receptor. a. interphase cells, phosphatase inhibitors used. b. interphase cells, no phosphatase inhibitors. c. mitotic cells, phosphatase inhibitors. d. mitotic cells, no phosphatase inhibitors. Films were exposed for 28 days.

Interphase; phosphatase inhibitors	Interphase; no phosphatase inhibitors	
0.09%	0.108%	
Mitosis, phosphatase inhibitors	Mitosis; no phosphatase inhibitors	
0.058%	0.054%	
Table 3.2. c.p.m. recovered from CBF columns with EDTA. Data expressed as percentage of the total counts applied in each case		

Aliquots (50µl) from postEDTA fractions were electrophoresed and the presence of radioactive bands detected by autoradiography. A persistent problem occurring in this type of experiments (see also below, section 6) was a lack of sensitivity, which translated into very long times of exposition required to detect recognizable bands, thus lowering the quality of the film. Unfortunately, the use of more radioactivity and higher numbers of cells per sample did not improve the final result (not shown). Figure 3.15 shows, in all samples, the recovery of two bands of a mobility expected of α (upper band) and β integrin subunits. Further experiments (see below, fig.3.23, section 6) showed that, under reducing conditions, both bands run similarly, as a single band, which is a typical behaviour of α_5 and β_1 (see below, Discussion chapter).

6. IMMUNOPRECIPITATION OF INTEGRINS FROM ³²P- AND ³⁵S-LABELED CELLS

6.1. Analysis of integrin phosphorylation

Immunoprecipitation of integrins from cells labeled with ³²P, using anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and anti-phosphotyrosine (PY20) antisera was carried out as described in Materials and Methods. Fig. 3.16 shows the absence of integrin bands in mitosis and interphase. No bands were either detected using the antibody PY20.

62. Cell cycle-related biosynthesis of integrins

Immunoprecipitation of integrins using cells metabolicaly labeled with ³⁵S was carried out as described in Materials and Methods. Cells were partially synchronised in G1+S phase by one thymidine block, as described in Materials and Methods, followed by 2 hours incubation in normal medium (treatment T2). At this stage cells have recovered from the thymidine block and a significant percentage have entered S phase. Attempts to synchronise cells in G2 phase were unsuccessful, possibly



Figure 3.16. Immunoprecipitation of integrins and phosphotyrosine-containing proteins from cells labeled with ³²P. Lane 1, preimmune rabbit serum. Lane2, mitosis, anti-anti- α 5 β 1. Lane3, mitosis, PY20. Lane 4, interphase, anti-anti- α 5 β 1. Lane 5, interphase, PY20.



Figure 3.17. DNA content curves from synchronised samples. a. Mitotic cells. b. Asynchronous cells. c. T2 cells.

because the length of C2 is very ident compared with the partial desynchronisation that necurs in the 6-7 hours required to pass through S phase, after the thymidine block. Synchronisation was moniscred by flow cytometry using propidium lodids, as described in Materials and Methods. Figure 3.17 shows the typical curves obtained from the different synchronised samples.

Asynchronous and partially synchronized cells were incubated with Tran³⁶S-label²⁴ for 3 hours and integrine immunoprecipitated using anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and anti- β_3 antibodies. Equal asymptots of radioscrivity were used for each aliquel. Figure 3.16 aboves the pattern obtained for the two samples. Asynchronous cultures have a stronger pi band, and is galennits are not detected in T2 cells (fig. 3.16a). However, a further synchrones (fig.3.16b) showed, that both subunits are also present in T2 cells, adhough



Figure 3.18. Immunoprecipitation of integrins from 35 S-labeled cells. a. Lane 1, asynchronous culture, preimmune rabbit serum; lane 2, asynchronous culture, anti- β_3 antibody; lane 3, T2 cells, anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antibody; lane 4, asynchronous culture, as in lane 3. b. lane 1, T2 cells, anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antibody, reducing conditions. lane 2, as in lane 1, nonreducing conditions; lane 3, asynchronous culture, anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antibody, nonreducing conditions

3

because the length of G2 is very short compared with the partial desynchronisation that occurs in the 6-7 hours required to pass through S phase, after the thymidine block. Synchronisation was monitored by flow cytometry using propidium iodide, as described in Materials and Methods. Figure 3.17 shows the typical curves obtained from the different synchronised samples.

Asynchronous and partially synchronised cells were incubated with Tran³⁵S-labelTM for 3 hours, and integrins immunoprecipitated using anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and anti- β_3 antibodies. Equal amounts of radioactivity were used for each aliquot. Figure 3.18 shows the pattern obtained for the two samples. Asynchronous cultures have a stronger β_1 band, and α subunits are not detected in T2 cells (fig. 3.18a). However, a further experiment (fig.3.18b) showed that both subunits are also present in T2 cells, although asynchronous cells still show stronger bands. These bands are probably the same as those obtained from radioiodinated cells (see above, figure 3.12).

Table 3.3 shows the intensity of the bands relative to the β subunit, as measured by γ -counting of the excised bands from dried gels.

Asynchronous cells (fig.3.18a, lane 4)				
β:1	αL:0.08±0.025	αυ:0.16±0.02		
T2 cells (fig.3.18b, lane 1)				
β:1	αL:0.15±0.6	α _U :0.2±0.65		
Table 3.3. Relative amounts of integrin bands from 35 S-labeled cells. Band intensities relative to β .				
Bands were escised from dried gels and and c.p.m. obtained three times from a γ -counter. α_L : lower α				

subunit; α_{u} : upper α subunit. Data represent the means±S.D.

Stronger bands were detected in asynchronous cultures. The presence of a much wider β_1 -like subunit in this sample corresponds probably to the widely reported β_1 precursor, further supporting the idea that the lower band is indeed β_1 . The differences in intensity compared with radioiodinated samples (table 3.3) could be due to the higher content in Cys and Met residues in the β_1 subunit (see above, Integrins section, in Introduction chapter) and to the presence of the β_1 precursor. The β_1 subunit contains 58 Cys and 15 Met, whereas α_5 contains 15 Cys and 8 Met residues (Argraves *et al.* 1987). Tran³⁵Slabel (see radioactive materials section, in Materials and Methods) contains 70% L-methionine (³⁵S) and 20% L-Cysteine (³⁵S). Assuming that the middle α subunit is α_5 and that there is no significant difference in Met and Cys content between α_5 and the

77

upper α , the expected relative intensities of α and the sum of both α subunits are as follows:

58Cys x 0.2 + 15Met x 0.7= 22.1 (β subunit) 15Cys x 0.2 + 8Met x 0.7= 8.6 (α subunit)

As two α subunits are present, the ratio is $2\alpha/\beta = 17.2/22.1 = 0.78$. These calculations give an approximate estimation of the expected intensities of integrin bands as detected by autoradiography. However, the actual ratio encountered is 0.25-0.35 (see table 3.3). The presence of a large pool of cytoplasmic β subunit could then account for the difference.

No β_3 bands were detected, in accordance with the results shown in immunoblots and immunoprecipitation from radioiodinated cells (see above, section 4).

7. EFFECTS OF CALYCULIN A ON HeLa CELLS

The effects of calyculin A (CL-A) on the spreading ability and integrin activity of HeLa cells were studied.

7.1. Spreading of CL-A treated cells

Cells were prepared for spreading assays as described in Materials and Methods. Different concentrations of CL-A were used and cells were allowed to spread on fibronectin (from solution at 25 μ g/ml) or hemoglobin (0.5mg/ml). CL-A was added at time zero.

The results are shown in figures 3.19a to 3.19d. As expected, cells spread best on fibronectin, in the presence of 1mM Mn²⁺. On both fibronectin and hemoglobin, CL-A it appears to have a negative effect on spreading after one hour. However, spreading at its early stages (at 30 minutes after plating) is not affected in the presence of CL-A. The apparent difference between controls and CL-A treated cells was not statistically significant, as measured by Student's t test (P<0.001). However, morphology of control and CL-A treated cells was different. Control cells spread uniformly since the early stages until fully spread. However, CL-A treated cells adopted a stellate shape in all cases, after 30 minutes of spreading (see

fig. 3.19e). At longer times (1h and 2h), they had clearly retracted and had an appearance similar to that showed in figure 3.20.

Experiments with fully spread cells (see below, this section) showed that at least 50nM CL-A was needed to induce changes in cell shape. At that concentration, cells undergo a dramatic change of shape and become rounded after ~30 minutes (figure 3.20). Other concentrations had no detectable effect (1nM and 5nM) after 2 hours, or the effects were very slow (cell retraction and eventual rounding-up required longer than 1 hour with 25nM CL-A).

72 Effect of calyculin A on the integrin $\alpha_5\beta_1$

As mentioned above, fully spread cells treated with 50nM CL-A become rounded after ~30 minutes. In order to study the possible role of integrins in the CL-A-induced cellular rounding up, several approaches were used.

Integrin $\alpha_5 \beta_1$ was detected by immunoblotting. Figure 3.21 shows the presence of two bands whose apparent molecular weights are 130kDa and 125kDa, under reducing conditions (see also fig. 3.13).

The activity of the fibronectin receptor from interphase, fully spread cells, and from cells treated with CL-A (2nM) was measured by affinity chromatography on the cell-binding fragment of fibronectin. Radioiodinated cell lysates from normal cultures (interphase) were prepared as described in Materials and Methods. Lysates from CL-A-treated cells were prepared after cell rounding had taken place. Figure 3.22 shows the radioactivity recovered from post-EDTA fractions. Higher counts are present in interphase fractions. The total c.p.m. recovered amount to 0.095% of the total c.p.m. applied to the column, comparable to other experiments (see table 3.2), whereas counts from CL-A-treated cells were negligible at this scale.

Aliquots (50µl) from post-EDTA fractions were electrophoresed and radioactive bands detected by autoradiography on dried gels, as described in Materials and Methods. Figure 3.23 shows the result of an autoradiograph from interphase post-EDTA fractions. Only fractions 5 (shown under reducing and nonreducing conditions) and 6 showed bands after 3 weeks of film incubation at -70°C. No bands appeared from post-EDTA fractions of CL-A-treated cells (not shown).

3 Results



Figure 3.19a Spreading of CL-A treated cells on hemoglobin in the presence of 1mM Ca2+/Mg2+. Cells were processed for cell spreading as described in Materials and Methods. Bars represent means \pm S.D. 3 Results



Figure 3.19 Spreading of CL-A treated cells on hemoglobin in the presence of 1mM Mn2+. Cells were processed for cell spreading as described in Materials and Methods. Bars represent means ± S.D.

3 Results



Figure 3.19c. Spreading of CL-A treated cells on fibronectin in the presence of 1 mM Mg2+/Ca2+. Cells were processed for cell spreading as described in Materials and Methods. Bars represent means \pm S.D.

processed for cell spreading as described in Materia's and Methodal Fars represent many t.S.D.


Figure 3.19d. Spreading of CL-A treated cells on fibronectin in the presence of 1mM Mn2+. Cells were processed for cell spreading as described in Material's and Methods. Bars represent means ± S.D.

Figure 319n. A. Spreading of Hels cells provident of calls with Carly Mellin Braneth or



Figure 319e. A. Spreading of HeLa cells. Incubation of cells with Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+} on fibronectin or with Mn^{2+} on a nonadhesive substrate (see fig. 3.3) causes cells to spread uniformly from the early stages. **B**. When cells are incubated with nM concentrations cf CL-A (see fig. 3.19a-d) they adopt a more stellate morphology after 30 minutes. Longer times of incubation cause cellular rounding (see fig. 3.20b). See p. 98 for discussion,



Figure 3.20. Effect of CL-A on the shape of HeLa cells. a. HeLa cells under physiological conditions. b. Same culture 30 minutes after the addition of 50nM CL-A. Bars, 10µm



Figure 3.21. Immunoblotting using a polyclonal anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antibody. Cell extracts were electrophoresed, transferred to nitrocellulose filters and integrins detected by ECL as described in Materials and Methods. a. Calyculin A treated cells. b. Interphase cells c. Interphase cells, preimmune serum



Figure 3.22. Affinity chromatography isolation of the fibronectin receptor. An aliquot (10ul) from eluted fraction, starting from cell extract application, was taken and its radioactivity measured as described in Materials and Methods. Only post-EDTA fractions are shown. c.p.m. are expressed relative to the peak fraction of each sample.



Figure 3.23. Detection of integrin bands from affinity chromatography isolated fractions. Lanes shown are from interphase cells. Numbers of tracks coincide with numbers of fractions from figure 3.22. 5a. Fraction 5 under reducing conditions. 5b. Fraction 5 under nonreducing conditions



Figure 3.24. Analysis of integrin phosphorylation from interphase and CL-A-treated cells. Samples were analysed by SDS-PAGE under nonreducing conditions, using 7% running gel. Lane1. Preimmune rabbit serum. Lane 2. Interphase cells. Anti- $\alpha 5\beta_1$. Lane 3. Interphase cells. PY20. Lane 4. CL-A-treated cells. Anti- $\alpha 5\beta_1$. Lane 5. CL-A-treated cells. PY20. Films were exposed for 48 hours.

bipolar spindle composed patentity of MTs. Notcotherdie can be used to inhibit formation of the interest spindle, therefore arresting cells at the onset of mitosis. Furthermore, continuations of Notcothazola effective on mitotic MT polymentation have no effect on the MTs from interphase cells. Thus, treated cells will proversi normally through the cell cycle onthe mitotic spindle formation, which cannot be achieved. Removal of the drug allows the cells to continue through mitosis (Vandre et al 1992).

3 Results

Changes in integrin phosphorylation were also studied by immunoprecipitation from ³²P-labeled cells, using anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and anti-phosphotyrosine (PY20) antibodies. Immunoprecipitation was carried out as described in Materials and Methods. CL-A (50nM) was added to cells 30 minutes before incubation time with ³²P was due to finish (i.e. 2.5 hours after addition of ³²P). The same amount of protein, as measured with Bradfords' reagent, was applied for each fraction. Figure 3.24 shows the absence of integrin bands in both samples. The interphase track shows a possible band in the range of 97 and 116kDa, compatible with being a β_1 subunit. However, this band was not detected in three further experiments and probably represents an artefact (see also above, figure 3.16). A more interesting result appears in the anti-phosphotyrosine tracks. CL-A clearly raises the level of tyrosine phosphorylation in a wide range of proteins.

8 OPTIMISATION OF SYNCHRONISATION METHODS

The approach considered to generate populations enriched in mitotic cells was the use of reagents that block cells at certain stages of the cell cycle (thymidine and Nocodazole), combined with serum-starvation of the cells in some experiments. I will discuss briefly the current knowledge on the mechanism of action of Nocodazole and thymidine, and why they are useful in synchronisation methods for cells in culture. Then I will describe the steps involved in the optimisation of a method suitable for synchronisation of HeLa cells.

8.1. Nocodazole and thymidine blocks

Nocodazole is an alkaloid similar to colchicine, which interferes reversibly with the polymerization of microtubules (MTs). Since the segregation of replicated chromosomes depends on the formation of a bipolar spindle composed primarily of MTs, Nocodazole can be used to inhibit formation of the mitotic spindle, therefore arresting cells at the onset of mitosis. Furthermore, concentrations of Nocodazole effective on mitotic MT polymerization have no effect on the MTs from interphase cells. Thus, treated cells will proceed normally through the cell cycle until mitotic spindle formation, which cannot be achieved. Removal of the drug allows the cells to continue through mitosis (Vandre *et al.* 1992).

84

3 Results

Reversible inhibition of DNA synthesis allows the synchronisation of a high percentage of cells at the boundary G1/S. This can be accomplished by the use of high concentrations of thymidine, which will interfere with the synthesis of the necessary nucleotides. Uptaken thymidine is rapidly converted into dTTP, which is an allosteric inhibitor of ribonucleotide reductase. This enzyme is responsible for reducing all ribonucleotide diphosphates to the corresponding deoxy form (from NDP to dNDP). It is believed that high concentrations of dTTP reduce the supply of dCTP from CDP, which eventually will cause DNA polymerase to stop. In fact, addition of dCTP bypasses the thymidine block (reviewed by Adams, 1980).

A way to arrest cells before S phase is to stop their growth by removing serum from the medium. Serum contains growth factors and possibly other components which are essential for cell growth. Therefore, deprivation of serum causes most cells to withdraw from the cell cycle and remain at Go. Readdition of high concentrations of serum causes a high percentage of cells to reenter the cell cycle in G1.

8.2. Synchronisation methods

My first synchronisation experiments involved the use of $0.05 \ \mu g/ml$ Nocodazole on exponentially growing cultures, during 15-20 hours, and then isolation of the mitotic pool by shaking off. Although it has been reported that reversibility of Nocodazole effect is gradually lost after incubation of the drug for more than 8 hours (Zieve *et al.* 1980), treatment with Nocodazole for much longer times has been widely reported as a successful approach to block reversibly several cell types in mitosis. This suggests that Nocodazole reversibility could be to some extent cell type dependent.

In my hands, a single Nocodazole treatment of 0.05 μ g/ml for 18 hours allowed the collection of 30-40% of all cells, with a mitotic index of >85% as measured by flow cytometry (fig. 3.25). However, when cells were extensively washed to remove Nocodazole, and plated with fresh medium, a high majority did not divide, and cells were clearly unhealthy after 24 hours (fig. 3.26). This result is in accordance with Zieve *et al* (1980). Therefore, a milder treatment was needed in order to obtain viable mitotic cells. This consisted of the use of serum-starvation of cells to obtain populations in Go which, after restimulation, would progress in a highly synchronised way towards mitosis. This would allow the use of a short block with Nocodazole, fully reversible. The actual protocol was as follows:

85

- 1. Plating of cells in fresh medium containing 0.1% fetal calf serum
- 2. After 24 h, restimulation with 20% fetal calf serum
- 3. After 20 h, addition of 0.05 µg/ml Nocodazole

4. After 8h, collect mitotic cells

This procedure did not yield significant amounts of mitotic cells. Modification of the time between restimulation and addition of Nocodazole (from 10 h to 24 h), or lengthening of serum starvation period up to 48 h did not improve the result (not shown). The most likely explanation at this stage was that cells were not being arrested at Go and, therefore, treatment with Nocodazole for 8 h could not yield high amounts of mitotic cells. Comparison of DNA profiles between serum-starved cells and control cells (i.e. incubated with serum-containing medium) showed no significant difference (see fig. 3.27) indicating that cells were not arresting at Go, but rather proceeding through the cell cycle. It is likely that, as HeLa cells are a transformed cell line (cervix carcinoma, containing several copies of the human papillomavirus genome), high growth is a default situation, and requirement of growth factors and/or other components from serum is bypassed by constitutively active signal transduction pathways involved in cell growth.

Therefore, I considered the use of a thymidine block in order to obtain most of the cell population in G1/S, followed by a block with Nocodazole several hours after removal of thymidine, when most cells are at the end of S phase or in G2. Thus, a Nocodazole block of no more than 8 hours will suffice to arrest reversibly a high proportion of cells in mitosis.

The actual protocol was as follows:

- 1. Addition of 4mM thymidine to an exponentially growing culture
- 2. After 20 h, change medium for fresh medium without thymidine
- 3. After 7 h, add 0.05µg/ml Nocodazole
- 4. After 8 h, collect mitotic cells

Initially, results were similar to those obtained with serumstarvation. It was possible that cells needed more than 7 hours to recover from the thymidine block. Therefore, I compared mitotic recovery from samples differing in the length of time between removal of thymidine and addition of Nocodazole. None of the samples yielded significant amounts of mitotic cells (not shown), suggesting that the thymidine block was somehow cytotoxic. Indeed, the use of 2.5mM thymidine instead of 4mM, following the above protocol, yielded high amounts of mitotic cells at the end of the treatment (see fig. 3.28). This concentration was the lowest at which cells became blocked at G1/S and could recover fully. Cell viability was analysed by flow cytometry and by replating mitosis-arrested cells in Nocodazole-free medium. Cells started to divide within a few hours. This is shown if figure 3.29, which represents the DNA profile of a mitotic population 5 hours after Nocodazole release. Note the high percentage of cells that have already entered in G1. Full recovery was obvious 48 hours after plating (fig. 3.30).

Figure 3.31 shows the appearance of a culture after 20 hours of treatment with 2.5mM thymidine. Note the complete absence of mitotic figures.

Figure 3.32 shows the actual duration of mitosis for an untreated cell. About 2 hours are required between cell retraction (G2/M boundary) and complete separation of the two daughter cells. The period from metaphase to cell separation is ~1.5 hours.

My attempts to synchronise cells at the G2 stage for analysis of integrin biosynthesis were unsuccessful. The approach used involved a block with thymidine to arrest most cells at the G1/S boundary, and collection of cells at different times. Flow cytometry was then used to monitor exit from S phase. DNA profiles showed that desynchronisation occurs very early after release of the thymidine block. In fact, although relatively synchronised cells could be obtained in G1+S (see fig. 3.17), DNA profiles typical of an asynchronous culture were obtained after more than 5 hours (not shown). Using a double thymidine block to obtain more cells at the G1/S boundary gave similar results.

(chied as M3). Note that, alternigh this mathematical states of the second state of the horizon the second state of the population



M	Left, Right		ight Events	%	Peak	PkCh1	Mean	Median	SD	cu :
-										
0	0,	1023	3976	100.00	64	390.00	368.17	380.00	61.66	16.7
1	147,	253	149	3.75	5	176.00	194.73	190.00	30.54	15.e
2	244,	341	487	12.25	32	338.00	317.63	326.00	24.17	7.t
3	322,	428	3298	82.95	64	390.00	379.99	382.00	25.65	6.7

Figure 3.25. DNA profile of cells treated with 0.5μ g/ml Nocodazole for 18 hours. Statistics at the right show percentage of cells in G1 (3.75%, defined as M1), S (12.25%, defined as M2) and G2+M (82.95, defined as M3). Note that, although this method does not allow separation of G2 from Mitosis, the method of collection (shaking off of loosely attached cells) makes it unlikely that the population defined as M3 (82.95%) contains any significant amount of cells in G2.



Figure 3.26. Cells treated with Nocodazole for 18 hours as described in the text were washed extensively with medium without Nocodazole and replated. Photograph was taken 24 hours after plating. Magnification x20

123.12

..





Figure 3.27. DNA profile of a) asynchronous, untreated cells and b) cells serum starved for 48 hours. Note that, although the serum-starved sample has a higher percentage of cells in G1 (defined as section M1 in the graph), there is still a significant proportion of cells in S and G2+Mitosis (17%, defined as section M2 and M3 in the graph), suggesting that cells are able to divide, even in the absence of serum.



Μ	Left,Right		Events	%	Peak	PkCh1	Mean	Median	SD	CU %
-										
0	0,	1023	2237	100.00	37	408.00	396.38	411.00	66.13	16.68
1	170,	248	79	3.53	4	209.00	207.29	209.00	20.54	9.91
2	248,	359	157	7.02	7	357.00	318.08	322.00	32.77	10.30
3	354,	483	1946	86.99	37	408.00	415.34	415.00	25.55	6.15

Figure 3.28. DNA profile of mitotic cells. Cells were arrested at pro-metaphase using 2.5mM thymidine for 20 h, incubation with fresh medium for 7-8 hours and a final incubation with 0.05 μ g/ml Nocodazole for 7-8 hours. Cells were collected by shaking off and immediately processed for flow cytometry as described in Materials and Methods.



M	Left, Right		Events	*	Peak	PkCh1	Mean	Median	SD	CV %
-										
0	0,	1023	4692	100.00	60	168.00	222.84	193.00	76.42	34.29
1	105,	211	2533	53.99	60	168.00	164.42	166.00	22.91	13.93
2	211,	276	555	11.83	21	214.00	242.67	243.00	20.43	8.42
3	271,	354	1505	32.08	35	318.00	311.76	313.00	20.02	6.42

Figure 3.29. Mitotic cells were extensively washed with full medium to remove Nocodazole and allow to proceed through metaphase in suspension. The DNA profile of this population after 5 hours of Nocodazole release is shown. Cells were processed for flow cytometry as described in Materials and Methods.



Figure 3.30 Mitotic cells were washed extensively to remove Nocodazole and replated. Cells were photographed after 48 hours. Magnification x20.



Figure 3.31. HeLa cells after treatment for 20 h with 2.5mM thymidine. Note the absence of mitotic figures, indicating that most cells have been arrested after mitosis in G1/S, or during S phase. Magnification x20.



Figure 3.32 Time-lapse video recording of the mitotic process in HeLa cells. Asynchronous cultures were treated with 2.5mM thymidine for 20 hours to obtain a high percentage of cells at phases G1/S and S. Cultures were then allowed to grow in thymidine-free medium for a further 15 hours. At this stage, cells were placed on a 37°C chamber attached to a TMS Nikon microscope and video-recorded.

1. SPREADING EXPOSED/SECTO

the spreading ability of mitolic and interpress tasks under different conditions was assessed, it seemed reasonable to their that, if integrins (the fibronaute acceptonis) in this case) play a role in the cellular rounding at mitolic cells could be promoted. For example, the use of florenectin as substrate and the promoted for example, the use of florenectin as substrate and the promoted for example, the use of florenectin as substrate and the promoted for example, the use of florenectin as substrate and the promoted for example, the use of florenectin as substrate and the promoted for example, the use of florenectin as interpreter outputs cell spreading. Min¹⁴ is known to support spreading on fibronecting probably the integrate, of variant BHE i cells otherwises unresponsive to that surface (Educards et al 1987) Edwards et al 1988 section 4, in Fibel Condusions chapter. Furthermore, Rationerstein and Cabbelano (1973) showed that servorate asches table, untitle to spread in Ca²⁺/Mg²⁺ containing made, were induced to spread builts addition or Med²⁺

-

DISCUSSION

release frait necodaccie starts metaphase - sourchase transition accompanied by morphology changes, thus thistory is the rain its. The objective was acassess the ability of rounded purchic stills to spread under various constants, and metaphase block with objectionals are spread and rains in a its effects, at the concentrations used, are 103y owersible for the tength of time of phy experiments, and there are no control to stills of the tength of interprotes collis incubated with necedarable were included as perceptible control.

figure 3.2 shows that minotic cells are unable to spread degeneration of on fibraneous. Although this could be due to nocodazale this is stabling, as its effects on interphase cells are negligible (see also below, and the 422 children).

When Min¹⁴ is added to the meetium (ngues 4.3) millistic spreading improves significantly in relation to the same cells without Mari's blowever, the absolute values of spreading remain in the same range. Thus, actions the presence of an adhesive substrate nor Min²¹ in the meetium can induce this spreading of mitotic cells. It is likely that dynosketistel components estential for apreading are committed to the process of mitosis thereston prevenuing fail spreading. However, the machinery invelved in the trates wors does not seem to be committed to the cells cycle, as mitodo cells, under the right

1. SPREADING EXPERIMENTS

1.1. Spreading of mitotic cells

The spreading ability of mitotic and interphase cells under different conditions was assessed. It seemed reasonable to think that, if integrins (the fibronectin receptor(s) in this case) play a role in the cellular rounding at mitosis, optimum conditions might be found under which spreading of mitotic cells could be promoted. For example, the use of fibronectin as substrate and the optimum concentration of Mn^{2+} in the incubation medium might trigger mitotic cell spreading; Mn^{2+} is known to support spreading on fibronectin, probably via integrins, of variant BHK cells otherwise unresponsive to that surface (Edwards *et al.* 1987; Edwards *et al.* 1988; section 4, in Final Conclusions chapter). Furthermore, Rabinovitch and DeStefano (1973) showed that sarcoma ascites cells, unable to spread in Ca^{2+}/Mg^{2+} -containing media, were induced to spread by the addition of Mn^{2+} .

A problem affecting the results of spreading assays is the presence of nocodazole in metaphase-arrested cells. This presence is unavoidable, as release from nocodazole starts metaphase—>anaphase transition, accompanied by morphology changes, thus distorting the results. The objective was to assess the ability of rounded mitotic cells to spread under various conditions, and metaphase block with nocodazole was appropriate, as its effects, at the concentrations used, are fully reversible for the length of time of my experiments, and there are no cytotoxic effects (Zieve *et al.* 1980). Interphase cells incubated with nocodazole were included as appropriate control.

Figure 3.2 shows that mitotic cells are unable to spread significantly on fibronectin. Although this could be due to nocodazole, this is unlikely, as its effects on interphase cells are negligible (see also below, section 4.2).

When Mn^{2+} is added to the medium (figure 3.3), mitotic spreading improves significantly in relation to the same cells without Mn^{2+} . However, the absolute values of spreading remain in the same range. Thus, neither the presence of an adhesive substrate nor Mn^{2+} in the medium can induce full spreading of mitotic cells. It is likely that cytoskeletal components essential for spreading are committed to the process of mitosis, therefore preventing full spreading. However, the machinery involved in the initial steps does not seem to be committed to the cell cycle, as mitotic cells, under the right

conditions, are able to spread to a limited, but significant, extent. Furthermore, if cells are blocked in metaphase for a few hours in normal medium, spreading is also detectable (see also figs. 3.7 and 3.10).

12. Effects of serum on mitotic cells

While analysing the reversibility of nocodazole effects on metaphaseblocked cells, I noticed that cells seemed to advance faster through anaphase if foetal serum was present in the medium (F-10 Hams'). Therefore I decided to quantify the rate of exit from metaphase in cells with and without serum. As shown in figure 3.4, when serum is present, the majority of cells have clearly divided and daughter cells are in the process of spreading. This is not the case in the absence of serum. It is noteworthy that even in the presence of serum, progression through anaphase is still slow (~4 hours). This is probably due to the time required by the cells to recover from nocodazole (Rieder, 1992).

The serum requirement for mitosis exit shown by HeLa cells is rather surprising, since serum-starvation of cells is a well known method to arrest cells in G1 phase (Morla et al. 1989), and there is no published evidence, to my knowledge, of mitotic arrest by serum-starvation. However, an important difference between G1-arrested cultures and my mitotic samples is that I was using highly synchronised cells, which could account for the different behaviour. For instance, in cultures deprived of serum, factors (normally present in serum) secreted from interphase cells, could allow progression through anaphase for the small percentage of mitotic cells existing at all times, until all cells are stopped at G1. However, if mitotic cells represent more than 90% of the total, as in my experiments, these factors might not be present, thus keeping cells in metaphase. Nevertheless, whatever the mechanism, it is not sufficient to arrest all cells in mitosis, since a small percentage of cells by-passes the necessity for serum and progresses through anaphase. Obviously, all possibilities must be considered speculative, since no more data are available.

These are potentially important observations, and further investigation will be necessary in order to confirm a role for serum in the G2/mitosis transition.

2 IMMUNOLOCALIZATION OF 05/1 AND 04/3 INTEGRINS

Indirect immunofluorescence was carried out in order to confirm the presence of $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and $\alpha_v\beta_3$ integrins in HeLa cells. $\alpha_5\beta_1$ is a fibronectin receptor which binds to fibronectin through the central cell binding fragment, which contains the sequence RGD (Humphries, 1990). As one of the objectives of this thesis was the isolation of the fibronectin receptor by affinity chromatography on the central cell binding fragment, the use of the polyclonal anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antibody was a reasonable choice.

The predominant adhesive glycoprotein in culture conditions, present in serum, is vitronectin. The presence of $\alpha_v \beta_3$, a strong vitronectin receptor (Hynes, 1992), was also screened with a polyclonal anti- $\alpha_v \beta_3$ antibody. The actual bands recognised by these antibodies are discussed below, in section 3.

Figure 3.5 shows a pattern of staining along the edge of interphase cells (figures 3.5a,b). The widely reported punctuate pattern, typical of fibroblasts, indicating the presence of focal contacts, was not detected, although it is possible that access of antibodies to the ventral surface of the cell is especially restricted. However, actin staining of HeLa cells reveals the absence of stress fibres and the presence of a strong staining along the cellular edge (not shown), suggesting that focal adhesions are not present in these cells. The edge pattern could be due simply to the presence of more membrane, in vertical section, at the cellular edge. Something similar would occur in the mitotic samples (Fig.3.5.c,d). The bright inner ring would represent the circumference of the rounded cell (fig.3.7.b,c), whereas the outer edge pattern would be analogous to that of interphase. It is interesting that the spread fringe of mitotic cells seems brighter than in interphase. It is possible that this brightness represents the transit of integrins from the rounded area to sites of spreading. In a fully spread cell (i.e., interphase cells), the receptor density at the dorsal surface is probably too low to detect (fig.3.5.a,b).

However, the pattern of spreading of nonblocked, mitotic cells may be different from that of metaphase-arrested cells, at least as identified with our polyclonal antibodies. As figure 3.7 shows, both antisera stain the cellular edges, but no inner ring is present. If we assume that the transit of integrins to the edge of the anaphase cell is relatively fast, then a bright staining at the cellular edge is to be expected. The difference with blocked cells is that, in the latter, only a small amount of integrins is able to function at the edge in the process of spreading, as this process stops at a very early stage. Thus, a discontinuity between the main pool of cell surface integrins and the integrins at the spreading sites can be detected.

Figure 3.9 shows the pattern of staining from permeabilised cells. Interphase cells show a perinuclear, Golgi-like staining, revealing the presence of a cytoplasmic pool of the integrins recognised by the anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antiserum (fig. 3.9a). However, the anti- $\alpha_v\beta_3$ antiserum reveals a much weaker and more diffuse pattern (fig.3.9b). Although a Golgi-like pattern is present, the nucleus is also slightly stained.

The significance of the differences shown between both antisera in permeabilised cells in unclear. It is possible that there is a quicker turnover of the integrins recognised by the anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antiserum, thus showing a larger cytoplasmic pool of proteins being continuously exported to the plasma membrane. On the contrary, if the turnover were relatively slow, only a small cytoplasmic pool would be required, as seems to be the case with cells stained with anti- $\alpha_v\beta_3$ antiserum.

Alternatively, it is possible that the process of permeabilisation may account for the differences in cytoplasmic staining. For instance, the pattern along the edge of cells is not present at all in permeabilised cells stained with anti- $\alpha_v \beta_3$ antiserum (fig.3.9b), whereas it appears in unpermeabilised cells (fig. 3.5b). Note also that, when flow cytometry is used to quantify the amount of antigen per cell in the plasma membrane (fig. 3.10), no significant differences are found between the two antisera, further supporting this idea.

3. EXPRESSION OF INTEGRINS.

Immunofluorescence experiments permit the cellular localisation of the integrins recognised by the polyclonal anti- $\alpha_v\beta_3$ and anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antisera. Information about the identity of those integrins can be obtained with immunoprecipitation experiments using radioiodinated cells. Cell surface proteins are ¹²⁵I-labeled, and integrins recognised by the antisera are visualised by autoradiography.

Figure 3.11 shows the bands immunoprecipitated with $anti-\alpha_5 \beta_1$ antiserum. At least three subunits were recognised in all experiments, the lower one of an intensity in the range of the sum of the other two (see table 3.1). Several data suggest that the lower band is β_1 . First, the antiserum is directed against the β_1 subunit, although other β subunits associating with α_5 would also appear. Second, its molecular weights under reducing/nonreducing conditions coincide with those published for β_1 (~125kDa/~110kDa). And finally, when the antiserum is used with ³⁵S-labeled cells, a wider β band appears (Fig.3.18), which may be indicative of the presence of a precursor, also reported for the β_1 band (Akiyama *et al.* 1990).

However, the identity of the two upper bands (~150kDa and ~135kDa) is less clear. Their mobility is not apparently affected by the presence of reducing agents. With no more data available, there are several possibilities. One could expect the presence of α_5 together with β_1 , as the antiserum should also recognise α_5 epitopes. Immunoblotting experiments were carried out to confirm this possibility. Figure 3.13 shows the presence of two bands recognised by the anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antiserum. Since the antigen-antibody reaction takes place after the integrin subunits have separated by SDS-PAGE, these bands are bound to be α_5 and β_1 . Furthermore, the fibronectin receptor affinity-isolated on the cell binding fragment of fibronectin (to which $\alpha_5\beta_1$ binds; see fig. 3.23) consists of a β_1 -like subunit associated to an α subunit which runs faster under reducing conditions, as expected from α_5 .

On the other hand, figure 3.12 shows that the central band (the one with a molecular weight similar to α_5 : ~135kDa) moves identically under reducing and nonreducing conditions. A possible explanation is that there are several subunits associated with the β_1 subunit. At least two of them would be present in the central band (e.g. α_2 , α_3 and α_5 have similar mobilities, and all associate with β_1 ; Hemler *et al*, 1987) and, under reducing conditions, α_5 could move faster and run as a single band with β_1 . Note that, although relative intensities of bands under reducing conditions were not compared, the intensity of the central band in relation to the rest, if anything, diminishes with respect to nonreduced subunits, thus supporting this hypothesis.

Although the presence of the α_5 and β_1 subunits is reasonably clear, the identity of the accompanying α bands cannot be firmly established without the use of antibodies against specific α subunits. Unfortunately, such antibodies were not available, and I continued my work on the assumption that my polyclonal antiserum recognised several β_1 integrins, one of them probably $\alpha_5 \beta_1$.

Immunoprecipitation with the anti- $\alpha_v \beta_3$ antiserum proved unsuccessful. A polyclonal antiserum raised against the β_3 subunit did not recognise any band either. This antiserum was also used in immunoprecipitation experiments with ³⁵S-labeled cells and in immunoblottings (fig. 3.13), always with the same negative results. With these data, it is reasonable to conclude that there are no β_3 integrins in HeLa cells. However, it is obvious that, although the idea that no β_3 integrins are present in HeLa cells may be correct, the anti- $\alpha_{v}\beta_{3}$ antiserum seems to recognise other integrins, since immunofluorescence and flow cytometry experiments give a positive result. However, the affinity for these integrins is probably weak, as the best results are achieved with unfixed, living cells (flow cytometry), and with cells mildly fixed with 5% sucrose in 4% formaldehyde (see Materials and Methods section). Negative results, undistinguishable from the controls, were obtained if sucrose was omitted during the fixation. It is also clear that any integrin recognised by this antiserum should contain the α_v subunit, as β_3 subunits are not present. Note also that the upper α band identified using the anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antiserum has a mobility expected of α_v , suggesting that the integrin $\alpha_{v}\beta_{1}$ is also present in HeLa cells.

In conclusion, then, it is reasonable to assert that no β_3 integrins are present in HeLa cells, and that there are several β_1 integrins, $\alpha_5\beta_1$ amongst them. We can also conclude that there is no apparent difference in β_1 integrin expression between mitosis and interphase as measured by flow cytometry and immunoprecipitation.

4. ACTIVITY AND PHOSPHORYLATION STATES OF MITOTIC AND INTERPHASE INTEGRINS

Great advance has been made in our understanding of how integrins achieve different states of activity (see integrin regulation section, in Introduction chapter). Phosphorylation is a mechanism known to affect such activity in cultured cells. Tapley *et al.* (1989) reported that phosphorylation of the β 1 subunit by pp60^{src} in Tyr diminished binding of β 1 integrins to fibronectin and talin. Possibly, this inactivation by phosphorylation helps to maintain the rounded phenotype typical of cells transformed with Rous sarcoma virus. In fact, transformation with a mutant pp60^{src} unable to induce cell rounding and loss of fibronectin, is not accompanied by β_1 phosphorylation (Horvath *et al.* 1990). Hirst *et al.* (1986) showed that transformation of cells with oncogenes encoding tyrosine kinases correlated with phosphorylation of the fibronectin receptor and rounded morphology, although receptor activity was not assessed.

The above data relate phosphorylation of integrins with rounded phenotypes in transformed cells. An obvious connection is the cell cycle. Cells in mitosis are also rounded, and it is reasonable to think that the mechanism of cell rounding in transformed cells may be related to that of mitosis. Thus, it is possible that, as phosphorylation of integrins is very likely to play a role in cell rounding in transformation, the same may apply for cell rounding in mitosis. In fact, protein phosphorylation is central to cell division. As already mentioned in the Introduction of this thesis (section 6), CDK kinase activities form part of a conserved mechanism by which cells are driven into cell division. Theses activities are responsible for the structural reorganisation taking place at the G2—>Mitosis transition, which includes disassembly of nuclear laminae, rearrangement of cytoskeletal components and arrest of endomembrane traffic, and coincides in time with cell rounding.

There are several substrates for CDK activity participating in these changes, of obvious interest for the work described in this thesis (see 6.1.2. in Introduction). pp60^{c-src} is one of them (Shenoy et al. 1992). Its downstream candidates might well include cytoskeletal components, or even integrins. Caldesmon is another substrate for CDK. Yamashiro and Matsumura (1991) have suggested that phosphorylation of caldesmon would cause its disassociation from microfilaments, and that this would help in the process of rounding up at mitosis. Vimentin, an intermediate filament (IF) protein, is also phosphorylated by CDK, and this is accompanied by vimentin IF diassembly (Chou et al. 1991). Interestingly, microinjection of CDK into cells at any time of the cell cycle except in S phase caused cell rounding and reorganisation of microfilaments and microtubules (Lamb et al 1990). Thus, correlation of cytoskeletal rearrangements and cellular rounding is apparent. However, it is also imaginable that a regulated control of rounding at G2/prophase and respreading at anaphase should involve not only cytoskeleton re-organisation, but also inactivation of the interactions between the ECM and their receptors at G2/prophase, followed by reactivation after

metaphase. Therefore, one of the objectives of my work was to find out whether integrins played a role in the cellular rounding up at mitosis, and a reasonable hypothesis was that integrins might be involved in the phosphorylation cascades triggered by CDK. For example, as mentioned above, β_1 integrins may be phosphorylated by pp60^{src}, which in turn is a substrate for CDK.

It is also noteworthy that to date there are no published data on the role of any ECM receptor in the cellular rounding up at mitosis. Nevertheless, Hynes (1992) makes reference to unpublished results from his group (C.Grandori and R. Hynes, unpublished data), mentioning that a Ser in the β_1 subunit of the fibronectin receptor $\alpha_5\beta_1$ is phosphorylated in mitosis and the receptor no longer binds to fibronectin. However, these results remain to be confirmed. There is some work published about celi-cell interactions at mitosis, in epithelial cells. Baker and Garrod (1993) reported that confluent epithelial cell layers retained cell-cell junctions (see 3.2, in Introduction) at mitosis. From their work it seems clear that these junctions remain functional during cell division and are not involved in the processes triggered by CDK. The authors also report that hemidesmosomes are retained during mitosis, in basal epidermal keratinocytes. Thus, it appears that retention of cell-basal lamina contacts through hemidesmosomes may be important in retaining dividing cells in the basal layer.

In conclusion, the above data present sufficient evidence in the direction of some role for integrins in mitosis. An obvious approach to test this idea was the use of affinity columns to analyse cell cycle-related differences in the binding ability of the fibronectin receptor $\alpha_5\beta_1$, together with integrin immunoprecipitation from ³²P-labeled cells, using anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antiserum. This would allow detection of changes in the phosphorylation state of integrins which might correlate with different states of activity.

4.1 isolation of the fibronectin receptor using affinity chromatography

The use of the fibronectin cell-binding fragment to isolate the fibronectin receptor(s) was first reported by Pytela *et al.* 1985. The material coupled to the isolation column was a highly purified fragment obtained from digested fibronectin (Pierschbacher *et al.* 1981), which contains the RGDS sequence (see fibronectin section, in Introduction chapter).

I followed basically the same procedure. As described in Materials and Methods, the fibronectin digest fraction directly eluted from the gelatin column (unbound fraction) was used as the coupling material for receptor isolation. Two differences from the published procedure were the use of Mn^{2+} in all buffers up to receptor elution, as Mn^{2+} improves receptor binding (Gailit and Ruoslahti, 1988), and the use of the cell-binding fragment as obtained from the gelatin column, instead of further purified from heparin and gel filtration columns (Pierschbacher *et al* 1981). In my experiments, the cell-binding fragment eluted from the gelatin column constituted practically the only major component (fig.3.1). Furthermore, this fraction has already been succesfully used to isolate the fibronectin receptor from BHK cells in our lab (Edwards and Campbell, unpublished results).

A major problem found using this approach was a very low sensitivity in the detection of the fibronectin receptor eluted with EDTA, which needed several weeks of film incubation. Although technical problems may account for this low sensitivity, it is also possible that very low amounts of the receptor are present in HeLa cells. In fact, although relatively high amounts of β_1 integrins are detected by immunoprecipitation using ¹²⁵I from as little as ~10⁷ cells (figs. 3.11 and 3.12), the percentage of $\alpha_5\beta_1$ seems in fact much smaller (see section 3, this chapter). This low percentage may have also been the cause of the negative results achieved with immunoprecipitation of the eluted receptor using anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antiserum (not shown).

Nevertheless, the main objective sought with this approach, namely the comparison of the activity of the fibronectin receptor between mitotic and interphase cells, was successfully carried out (see also below, section 6, for discussion on the activity of the fibronectin receptor in CL-A-treated cells).

Figure 3.14 shows the c.p.m. eluted from the cclumns with EDTA. Amounts in the same range are recovered from both interphase samples, and from both mitotic samples. Table 3.2 shows the total post-EDTA c.p.m. recovered from each sample as a percentage of the total c.p.m. applied to each column. c.p.m. recovered from mitotic cells represent ~50-60% of those from interphase, regardless of the presence of phosphatase inhibitors.

Although the high and uneven background present in the autoradiographs (fig.3.15) prevents a clear comparison between samples, the point that must be stressed is that integrin bands are present in all samples. Therefore, full inactivation of the mitotic fibronectin receptor does not occur.

If we compare the 50-60% of mitotic recovery (table 3.2) with the poor spreading ($\leq 10\%$ of that of interphase cells, and only using optimum conditions) shown by mitotic cells, it becomes apparent that the loss fibronectin receptor activity alone, as detected in solution, cannot account for mitotic rounding.

42 Changes in phosphorylation

Figure 3.16 shows clearly the absence of phosphorylated integrins in interphase and mitosis. No bands were either immunoprecipitated with the antibody PY20 (see also fig. 3.24).

Although the partial inactivation of $\alpha_5\beta_1$ cannot account for the poor spreading shown by mitotic cells, it is clearly significant. Phosphorylation of either subunit is a possible mechanism to account for such changes in activity. However, my results indicate that β_1 integrins are not phosphorylated. Also, they are in contradiction with the results mentioned by Hynes (1992), where $\alpha_5\beta_1$ is inactivated and β_1 becomes phosphorylated in mitosis, although in this latter case the results remain to be confirmed.

Therefore, a mechanism for the partial inactivation of the mitotic fibronectin receptor remains to be identified. On the other hand, it is quite possible that the poorer recovery from mitotic samples could be due solely to the differences between samples in cell harvesting for radioiodination. Integrins bind to the ECM and also to components in the cystoskeleton to achieve fully active conformations (section 5, Introduction chapter, Hynes, 1992). In mitotic cell rounding, G2 cells re-organise their cytoskeleton as they enter mitosis, which is likely to be accompanied by inactivation of components interacting with integrins, which in turn may affect integrin activity. The final result is cellular rounding. Therefore there is an inactivation of cell-ECM interaction initiated from inside the cell. On the other hand, interphase cells are detached from the substrate by removing divalent cations from the medium, so that cytoskeletal structures linked to integrins may not be essentially modified, as they are in mitosis.

Thus, it is possible that interactions of cytoskeletal components (e.g. talin or vinculin) with interphase integrins are not disrupted in the solubilisation procedure with nonionic detergent. However, such interactions have been already disrupted from inside in mitotic cells. The hypothesis is that this difference causes interphase and mitotic integrins to keep different conformations when solubilised with β -octyl-glucoside, which could account for the different recovery from the fibronectin fragment columns. Note also that, although these considerations are speculative, they explain the irrelevance of using phosphatase inhibitors, while keeping the importance of the phosphorylation events triggered by CDK activity. In interphase, as no phosphorylation is involved, the use of phosphatase inhibitors is irrelevant. In mitosis, as the cytoskeleton is already rearranged when cells have rounded up, lysis is extremely unlikely to restore integrin-cytoskeleton interactions that are already disrupted, regardless of the effect of the absence or presence of phosphatase inhibitors.

In conclusion, then, it is possible that, in HeLa cells, $\alpha_5\beta_1$ is indeed less active in mitosis, due not to post-translational changes, but to modification of its interaction with the cytoskeleton. This would also explain the spreading results obtained with mitotic cells. Since much of the spreading machinery is committed to cell division, very limited spreading is possible in mitosis.

It is also possible that the use of Mn^{2+} in the affinity isolation accounts for the results obtained. It could be that the mitotic receptor has lost its activity, and that the presence of Mn^{2+} stimulates its activity to the extent of being detectable by affinity chromatography (see Integrin regulation section, in Introduction chapter). However, this possibility does not explain satisfactorily the irrelevance of the use of phosphatase inhibitors.

Future work should test the validity of these hypothesis. A possible experiment could be the use of electrophoresis under nondenaturing conditions, so that any changes in integrin mobility due to the presence of bound proteins are detected. These proteins could then be identified by immunoblotting using antibodies against vinculin, talin, α -actinin, etc.

5. BIOSYNTHESIS OF β_1 INTEGRINS

The results from figure 3.18 show metabolic labelling of the putative β 1 subunit, together with its precursor and two α subunits, and the absence of β_3 integrins. This pattern of three bands is probably the same of that obtained from radioiodinated cells. However, the relative intensity of β is much higher from ³⁵S-labeled cells. This difference cannot be explained by the different contents of Cys and Met residues between α and β subunits (see

Biosynthesis of Integrins, in Results chapter). It is likely then that there is a higher turn-over of β subunit. There is also a difference between asynchronous and G1+S (T2) cells. Asynchronous cultures have a stronger β_1 band (fig. 3.18a), and α subunits are not present in T2 cells. A further experiment (fig.3.18b) showed that, although asynchronous cells still show stronger bands, α subunits were detectable in T2 cells. The main difference between asynchronous and T2 samples is the presence of a higher proportion of G2 cells in asynchronous cultures. Taking these results at face value, it would suggest that there is a peak of synthesis of integrins at G2, especially of α subunits. However, further work is clearly needed in order to understand the synthesis of integrins during the cell cycle. Analysis of mRNA at different stages of the cell cycle should clarify whether there is a regulated synthesis of integrins in G2 or such synthesis is constitutive during the cell cycle.

6. EFFECTS OF CALYCULIN A ON CELL SPREADING AND ON β_1 INTEGRINS

Two potent inhibitors of phosphatases PP1 and PP2A (see section 4, in Introduction), namely okadaic acid (OA) and calyculin A (CL-A) have recently been discovered (see Cohen *et al.* 1990; Ishihara *et al.* 1989 for reviews). ID₅₀ values for OA are ~1nM for the catalytic subunit of type 2A, 100nM for the multisubunit 2A1 and 0.5μ M for the catalytic subunit of type 1. Values for CL-A are similar, with the exception of type 1 phosphatase. ID₅₀ values with CL-A in this case are 1-2nM (Chartier *et al.* 1991). Treatment of cells with these inhibitors enhances the overall state of phosphorylation due to phosphorylation, and is a useful approach to investigate processes involving phosphorylation-dephosphorylation events.

These inhibitors have been shown to induce morphological changes similar to those in mitosis. For example, Kipreos and Wang (1990) showed that μ M OA activates cdc2 kinase and induces cell rounding. Furthermore, cabl protooncoprotein becomes phosphorylated at the same site as in mitosis. Yamashita *et al.* (1990) reported that treatment of cells synchronised in S phase with 0.5 μ M OA caused cellular rounding, nuclear envelope breakdown and chromosome condensation. In fact, cdc2 kinase may be activated by OA at

concentrations that inhibit PP2A but no PP1 (Cohen *et al.* 1990; see also section 4, in Introduction).

CL-A also induces shape changes in 3T3 cells at 0.1μ M, accompanied by reorganisation of IFs, microfilaments and microtubules. These effects were fully reversible (Chartier *et al* 1991).

The effect of both OA and CL-A on cellular shape, and their possible link to the cell cycle make these inhibitors ideal reagents to study the activity and phosphorylation state of integrins in a model that closely mimicks the changes taking place in mitosis. As a small quantity of CL-A was available in our lab, I undertook such studies, using approaches similar to those used to compare mitotic and interphase integrins.

Figure 3.20 shows the typical morphology of normal HeLa cells (3.20a) and of cells treated with 50nM CL-A. Removal of CL-A restored the normal morphology (not shown). Spreading experiments (figS. 3.19a-d) showed that CL-A-treated cells spread to a limited extent, but retract after a short time. The negative effect of CL-A is clear only after 1 hour of incubation. There is no significant difference in spread area between control and CL-A treated cells after 30 min. However, the morphology of all CL-A treated cells after 30 min was different from that of control cells (fig. 3.19e). It showed a more irregular, stellate shape. With no more data available, it is not possible to know whether CL-A treated cells spread uniformly at the very early stages of spreading and then retract in a way that would cause the stellate shapes, or their spreading involves initially the adoption of such morphology. Obviously, analysis of spreading at the very early stages (less than 30 min) will be necessary in order to understand better the effect of CL-A on the spreading of HeLa cells.

Integrin subunits, presumably α_5 and β_1 , are shown in figure 3.21 (see also fig. 3.13). The activity of $\alpha_5\beta_1$ was analysed by affinity chromatography on the cell binding fragment of fibronectin. Figure 3.22 shows the difference between spread, interphase cells and cells treated with CL-A. Very little counts are present from CL-A-treated cells, and these counts do not translate into bands, even after long times of film incubation (>4 weeks). It seems then that the fibronectin receptor does not bind to fibronectin after CL-A has been added to the cells. However, as in mitotic cells, no phosphorylation of integrins could be detected in CL-A-treated cells, although a general increase

in tyrosine phosphorylation appears in proteins larger than ~60kDa (smaller bands are also present in other lanes and are probably nonspecific).

Therefore, it appears that there are at least two basic differences in the behaviour of the mitotic and CL-A-treated cells concerning the fibronectin receptor and the pattern of tyrosine phosphorylation. The mitotic fibronectin receptor still binds to fibronectin, although with a reduced affinity. On the contrary, the receptor from CL-A-treated cells apparently loses all its activity. Also, the level of tyrosine phosphorylation in mitosis does not change appreciably (fig. 3.16) whereas a clear rise in tyrosine phosphorylation is detected in CL-A-treated cells. A similar increase in overall phosphorylation has been reported by Chartier *et al* (1991) using 0.1µM CL-A.

It might be expected that mitosis and addition of CL-A would have a similar effect on the fibronectin receptor. The effect of CL-A at 1-2nM is thought to be the inactivation of PP2A, which would cause cdc25 hyperphosphorylation, increasing its cdc2 phosphatase activity. At the end, a mechanism similar to mitosis is triggered. However, activation of cdc2 also requires the apropriate level of cyclin A and/or B (see section 5 in Introduction). If that level is not met, CL-A-treated cells will pass normally through all phases of the cell cycle until they are blocked in metaphase. This is indeed the case with LLC-PK cells (Vandre and Wills, 1992). BHK cells, on the other hand, accumulate cyclin B from early S phase (Yamashita et al 1990), and treatment with OA induces premature mitosis in many of them. Accumulation of cyclin B in HeLa cells occurs at G2 (Pines and Hunter, 1989). Therefore, a result similar to that with LLC-PK cells is to be expected. My results are in accordance with these data. ~1-5nM and indeed much higher concentrations of CL-A have no effect on spread HeLa cells. In other words, no premature mitosis is induced with concentrations that would inactivate PP2A. In consequence, it must be assumed that the rounding induced by CL-A in my experiments is due to more general, cell cycle-unrelated phosphorylation processes, most likely taking place in the cytoskeleton, and involving many phosphatases. It is not unreasonable to think that the differences encountered in the activity of the fibronectin receptor between interphase, mitotic and CL-A-treated cells may depend on the way cells have rounded prior to cell labeling with ¹²⁵I. In interphase, removal of cations from the medium causes cell rounding but may leave some cytoskeleton/integrin interactions untouched. Mitosis may inactivate such

4

interactions more completely from inside but, obviously, is a highly regulated process, lasting only from early prophase until metaphase → anaphase transition. Finally, in CL-A-treated cells, the concentrations of CL-A used may disrupt a wider number of interactions in the cytoskeleton, achieving total inactivation of the receptor, as measured by affinity chromatography.

Also, as shown by immunoprecipitation of integrins from ³²P-labeled cells, I could find no evidence that integrin phosphorylation is involved in modulating the different degrees of activity (fig. 3.24). However, it is likely that phosphorylation of other components from the cytoskeleton must participate in integrin inactivation, as both treatment with CL-A and mitosis involve changes in the phosphorylation state of cytoskeletal components (see above, this section).

7. FINAL CONCLUSIONS

Expression of integrin subunits in HeLa cells

The use of the anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and anti- β_3 antisera in immunoprecipitation experiments show the presence of β_1 , but not β_3 integrins. The presence of $\alpha_5\beta_1$ is reasonably clear, and there is evidence to suggest that $\alpha_v\beta_1$ is also present. First, positive results are obtained with anti- $\alpha_v\beta_3$ antiserum in flow cytometry and immunofluorescence experiments, although no β_3 integrins are detectable by immunoblotting and immunoprecipitation, suggesting the presence of α_v associated with a β subunit different from β_3 . Second, when anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ antiserum is used, at least three bands are detected, one of which corresponds to an α subunit of a mobility expected of α_v , suggesting the presence of the heterodimer $\alpha_v\beta_1$. Further work using antibodies against specific α subunits will be needed to confirm the presence of $\alpha_v\beta_1$ and $\alpha_5\beta_1$ in HeLa cells.

Expression of integrins: interphase versus mitosis

Flow cytometry experiments showed that integrins recognised by anti- $\alpha_5\beta_1$ and anti- $\alpha_v\beta_3$ antisera are not expressed differently in mitosis and interphase. This result is also suggested by immunoprecipitation experiments.

Activity of integrins: interphase versus mitosis

Spreading assays have revealed that rounded, metaphase-arrested cells do not spread on fibronectin. Only a very limited spreading ability is achieved when Mn²⁺ is present in the medium. Also, when arrested in metaphase for 2-3 hours in normal medium, cells are able to spread to a very limited extent (less than 10% of interphase cells), and immunofluorescence experiments reveal that integrins are involved in such process, and also in the process of respreading in mitotic, nonblocked cells. These experiments also showed the absence of focal contacts, although it cannot be discerned whether such absence is due to restricted access of antibodies to the ventral surface or such structures are really absent. However, the absence of stress fibers, as detected with actin staining, suggests that focal contacts are not present.

Affinity chromatography showed that the fibromectin receptor $\alpha_5\beta_1$ partially loses its ability to bind to the cell binding fragment of fibronectin in
Discussion

mitosis. However, the remaining activity is higher than expected if fibronectin receptor inactivation alone were responsible for mitotic rounding-up. Also, as spreading experiments have shown that mitotic spreading is very limited, even under optimum conditions for integrin activity, it is likely that the cytoskeletal spreading machinery in mitosis is mainly committed to the cell cycle. However, when such limited mitotic spreading is detected by immunofluorescence, it is apparent that integrins are present at the cellular edge, in the spread fringes, suggesting that, although integrin activity is modified at mitosis, it may be restored under optimum conditions. If this were the case, full spreading would not be achieved only because the cytoskeletal spreading machinery is committed to the cell cycle.

Mechanism of regulation of cell cycle-related activity of integrins

Integrin phosphorylation could not be detected in immunoprecipitation experiments. However, it is likely that phosphorylation events are involved in the mitotic partial inactivation of the fibronectin receptor, due to the nature of the mitotic events. They are triggered by CDK activities, and affect several cytoskeletal components (see introduction, phosphorylation section). It is possible that interactions of some cytoskeletal components with integrins are disrupted in mitosis via cytoskeletal phosphorylation, which in turn may modify integrin conformation and activity. Thus, the conditions of the experimental procedure may account for the different recovery between interphase and mitosis. Radioiodination of mitotic samples takes place on rounded cells, with a reorganised cytoskeleton. It is likely that components interacting with integrins are inactivated, which in turn may affect integrin conformation and activity. Thus, there would be an inactivation of cell-ECM interaction initiated from inside the cell. On the other hand, radioiodination of interphase samples takes place on cells previously detached from the substrate by removing divalent cations from the medium (outside->inside inactivation of integrins), so that cytoskeletal structures linked to integrins (e.g. talin or vinculin) may not be disrupted in the solubilisation procedure with β -octylglucoside. In conclusion, this difference could cause interphase and mitotic integrins to keep different conformations when solubilised, which could account for the different recovery from the fibronectin fragment columns. It also would explain that the use of phosphatase inhibitors does not affect the recovery of fibronectin receptor, as phosphorylation would not

Discussion

be involved in interphase cells, and in mitosis, as the cytoskeleton is already rearranged, lysis is extremely unlikely to restore integrin-cytoskeleton interactions that are already disrupted by cytoskeletal phosphorylation, even in the presence of phosphatases.

Alternatively, it is possible that the use of Mn^{2+} in all buffers up to receptor elution may explain the results obtained. It could be that inactivation of the mitotic receptor is complete, and that Mn^{2+} stimulates its activity to the extent of being detectable by affinity chromatography (see above, integrin section, Introduction chapter). Future work will be needed to assess the validity of these hypothesis.

Effect of calyculin A on integrin activity

Treatment of cells with calyculin A was a reasonable approach to create a model mimicking the conditions of mitotic cell rounding. However, HeLa cells do not respond to concentrations (1-2nM) at which this may be the case, and therefore cell rounding caused by larger concentrations cannot be compared with that of mitosis, as effects become unspecific. The use of calyculin A has also confirmed that phosphorylation events affect cell shape. The fibronectin receptor is fully inactivated when cells are treated with calyculin A and, similarly to mitosis, receptor phosphorylation could not be detected. Complete disruption of cytoskeletal/integrin interactions may account for these results, in a model similar to that proposed for mitotic cells. In CL-A-treated cells, such disruptions would achieve total inactivation of the receptor, as measured by affinity chromatography. The presence of Mn²⁺ does not cause an active receptor conformation, as might be the case for mitosis. Interestingly, spreading results showed that CL-A-treated cells respond faster than normal cells when spreading is at its early steps (less than 30 min.). Further work using calyculin A or okadaic acid in short-term spreading essays should give further information about a role for these phosphatase inhibitors in cell spreading.

Biosynthesis of integrins during the cell cycle

Integrin synthesis is detected in asynchronous cells and in cultures enriched in G1+S phases. A putative β_1 subunit is detected, together with its precursor. Two α subunits are also present, in a pattern similar to that obtained with radioiodinated samples. The evidence shows that there may be Discussion

a peak of synthesis at G2, especially of α subunits, although a basal level of synthesis seems to be present throughout the cell cycle. Further work using Northern blots and protein synthesis inhibitors should clarify whether there is G2-specific integrin synthesis or such synthesis is not cell cycle-dependent.

TWAA Microscopy" Exp

a second s

Effect of serum in metaphase—>anaphase transition

It has been shown that serum improves the recovery of metaphasearrested cells after release of the nocodazole block. It is well known that serum-starved cells will arrest at G1 phase in the cell cycle. However, my results show that there is a clear improvement in the rate of recovery from metaphase to anaphase when serum is present in the medium. This discrepancy may be explained by the fact that I am using highly synchronised cells. In cells synchronised in mitosis, a component from serum may be needed for exit from metaphase. This component may be synthesised by non mitotic cells in asynchronous cultures, thus bypassing the necessity of serum for the small population in metaphase. However, these considerations are merely speculative, and further work will be required to assess a possible role for serum in mitosis.

REFERENCES

Abercrombie, M. and G.A. Dunn. "Adhesions of fibroblasts to substratum during contact inhibition observed by interference reflexion microscopy." <u>Exp.</u> <u>Cell Res.</u> 92 (1975): 57-62.

Abercrombie, M., J. Heaysman, and S.M. Pegrum. "The locomotion of fibroblasts in culture." <u>Exp. Cell Res.</u> 67 (1971): 359-67.

Adams, J.C. and F.M. Watt. "Changes in keratinocyte adhesion during terminal differentiation: reduction in fibronectin binding precedes α5β1 integrin loss from the cell surface." <u>Cell</u> 63 (1990): 425-435.

Adams, J.C. and F.M. Watt. "Expression of β_1 , β_3 , β_4 and β_5 integrins by human epidermal keratinocytes and non-differentiating keratinocytes." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 115 (1991): 829-841.

Adams, R.L.P. 1980. "Laboratory techniques in biochemistry and molecular biology". Volume 8. Edited by T.S. Work and R.H. Burdon. Elsevier/North-Holland:Amsterdam.

Adlakha, R.C., C.G. Sahasrabuddhe, D.A. Wright, W.F. Lindsey, and P.N. Rao. "Localization of mitotic factors on metaphase chromosomes." <u>I. Cell Sci.</u> 54 (1982): 193-206.

Akiyama, S.K., H. Larjava, and K.M. Yamada. "Differences in the biosynthesis and loscalization of the fibronectin receptor in normal and transformed cultured human cells." <u>Cancer Res.</u> 50 (1990): 1601-1607.

Akiyama, S.K., S.S. Yamada, W.T. Chen, and K.M. Yamada. "Analysis of fibronectin receptor function with monoclonal antibodies: roles in cell adhesion, migration, matrix assembly, and cytoskeletal organization." <u>J. Cell Biol.</u> 109 (1989): 863-875.

Albelda, S.M. and C.A. Buck. "Integrins and other cell adhesion molecules." <u>FASEB Journal</u> 4 (1990): 2868-80.

Alfa, C.E., B. Ducommun, D. Beach, and J.S. Hyams. "Distinct nuclear and spindle pole body populations of cyclin-cdc2 in fission yeast." <u>Nature</u> 347 (1990): 680-682.

Amon, A., U. Surana, I. Muroff, and K. Nasmyth. "Regulation of p34^{CDC28} tyrosine phosphorylation is not required for entry into mitosis in *S. cerevisiae*" <u>Nature</u> 355 (1992): 368-371.

Andreasen, P.R. and R.L. Margolis. "Induction of partial mitosis in BHK cells by 2-aminopurine." <u>I. Cell Sci.</u> 100 (1991): 299-310.

Aneskievich, B.J., B. Haimovich, and D. Boettiger. "Phosphorylation of integrin in differentiating ts-Rous sarcoma virus-infected myogenic cells." <u>Oncogene</u> 6 (1991): 1381-1390.

Argraves, W.S., K. Dickerson, W.H. Burgess, and E. Ruoslahti. "Fibulin, a novel protein that interacts with the fibronectin receptor beta subunit cytoplasmic domain." <u>Cell</u> 58 (1989): 623-629.

Arion, D., L. Meijer, L. Brizuela, and D. Beach. "cdc2 is a component of the M phase-specific histone H1 kinase: evidence for identity with MPF." <u>Cell</u> 55 (1988): 371-378.

Arroyo, A. G., P. Sanchezmateos, M. R. Campanero, I. Martinpadura, E. Dejana, and F. Sanchezmadrid. "Regulation of the VLA integrin-ligand interactions through the β_1 subunit." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 117 (1992): 659-670.

Aruffo, A., I. Stamenkovic, M. Melnick, C.B. Underhill, and B. Seed. "CD44 is the principal cell surface receptor for hyaluronate." <u>Cell</u> 61 (1990): 1303-1313.

Bagrodia, S., I. Chackalaparampil, T.E. Kmiecik, and D. Shalloway. "Altered tyrosine 527 phosphorylation and mitotic activation of p60^{c-src}." <u>Nature</u> 349 (1991): 172-175.

Band, V., S. Dalal, L. Delmolino, and E.J. Androphy. "Enhanced degradation of p53 in HPV-6 and BPV-1 E6 immortalized human mammary epithelial cells." <u>EMBO I.</u> 12 (1993): 1847-1852.

Barnes, D.W. and J. Silnutzer. "Isolation of human serum spreading factor." <u>J.</u> <u>Biol. Chem.</u> 258 (1983): 12548-52.

Basson, C.T., W.J. Knowles, L. Bell, S.M. Albelda, V. Castronovo, L.A. Liotta, and J.A. Madri. "Spatiotemporal segregation of endothelial cell integrin and nonintegrin extracellular matrix-binding proteins during adhesion events." <u>J.</u> <u>Cell Biol.</u> 110 (1990): 789-801.

Beach, D.H., B. Durkacz, and P.M. Nurse. "Functionally homologous cell cycle control genes in budding and fission yeast." <u>Nature</u> 300 (1982): 706-9.

Beacham, D.A. and B.S. Jacobson. "Mg2+ mediates the cell-substratum interaction of Arg-Gly-Asp-dependent HeLa cell collagen receptors." <u>Exp. Cell</u> <u>Res.</u> 189 (1990): 69-80.

Bennett, J.P., K.S. Zaner, and T.P. Stossel. "Isolation and some properties of macrophage a-actinin: evidence that it is not an acting gelling protein." <u>Biochemistry</u> 23 (1984): 5081-6.

Benton, H.P. "Cytokines and their receptors." <u>Current Opinion in Cell Biology</u> 3 (1991): 171-175.

Bischoff, J.R. and P.N. Friedman. "Human p53 is phosphorylated by p60-cdc2 and cyclin B-cdc2." Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87 (1990): 4766-70.

Bodary, S.C. and J.W. McLean. "The integrin beta1 subunit associates with the vitronectin receptor alphaV subunit to form a novel vitronectin receptor in a human embryonic kidney cell line." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 265 (1990): 5938-5941.

Bretscher, A. "Fimbrin is a cytoskeletal protein that crosslinks F-actin *in vitro*." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u> 78 (1981): 6849-53.

Broach, J.R. "RAS genes in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: signal transduction in search of a pthway." <u>Trends in Genetics</u> 7 (1991): 28-32.

Broek, D., R. Bartlett, K. Crawford, and P. Nurse. "Involvement of p34cdc2 in establishing the dependency of S phase on mitosis." <u>Nature</u> 349 (1991): 388-393.

Brugge, J.S. and S.J. Shattil. "Role of platelet membrane glycoprotein libilia in agonist-induced tyrosin phosphorylation." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 111 (1990): 3117-27.

Buck, C.A. and A.F. Horwitz. "Integrin, a transmembrane glycoprotein complex mediating cell-substratum adhesion." <u>I. Cell Sci. Suppl.</u> 8 (1987): 231-250.

Buckley, M.F., K.A. Loveland, W.J. MacKinstry, and O.M. Garson. "Plasma cell membrane glycoprotein PC-1. cDNA cloning of the human molecule, aminoacid sequence and chromosomal location." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 265 (1990): 17506-11.

Burgeson, R.E. "New collagens, new concepts." <u>Ann. Rev. .Cell Biol.</u> 4 (1988): 551-77.

Burke, D., M.J. Brown, and B.S. Jacobson. "HeLa cell adhesion to microcarriers in high shear conditions: evidence for membrane receptors for collagen but not laminin or fibronectin." <u>Tissue & Cell</u> 15 (1983): 181-191.

Burridge, K. and L. Connell. "A new protein of adhesion plaques and ruffling membranes." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 97 (1983): 359-67.

Burridge, K., K. Fath, T. Kelly, G. Nuckolls, and C. Turner. "Focal adhesions: transmembrane junctions between the extracellular matrix and the cytoskeleton." <u>Ann. Rev. Cell Biol.</u> 4 (1988): 487-525.

Burridge, K. and J.R. Feramisco. "Microinjection and localization of a 130k protein in living fibroblasts: a relationship to actin and fibronectin." <u>Cell</u> 19 (1980): 587-95.

Burridge, K. and P. Mangeat. "n interaction between vinculin and talin." <u>Nature</u> 308 (1984): 744-6.

Burridge, K., L.A. Petch, and L.H. Romer. "Signals from focal adhesions." Intracellular Signalling. 2 (1992): 537-539.

Buyon, J.P., S.G. Slade, J. Reibman, S.B. Abramson, M.R. Philips, G. Weissman, and R. Winchester. "Constitutive and induced phosphorylation of the alfa- and beta-chains of the CDC11/CD18 leukocyte integrin family. Relationships to Adhesion-Dependent Functions." <u>I. Immunol.</u> 144 (1990): 191-197.

Cao, G., L.M. Liu, and S.F. Cleary. "Modified Method of Mammalian Cell Synchrinization Improves Yield and Degree of Synchronization." <u>Exp. Cell Res.</u> 193 (1991): 405-410.

Cao, L-G. and Y-L. Wang. "Mechanisms of the formation of contractile ring in dividing cultured animal cells.I.Recruitment of preexisting actin filaments into the cleavage furrow." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 110 (1990): 1089-1095.

Cao, X., R. Mahendran, G.R. Guy, and Y.H. Tan. "Protein phosphatase inhibitors induce the sustained expression of the Egr-1 gene and the hyperphosphorylation of its gene product." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 267 (1992): 12991-12997.

Carter, W.G., M.C. Ryan, and P.J. Gahr. "Epiligrin, a new cell adhesion ligand for integrin $\alpha_3\beta_1$ in epithelial basement membranes." <u>Cell</u> 65 (1991): 599-610.

Carter, W.G., E.A. Wayner, T.S. Bouchard, and P. Kaur. "The role of integrins alpha2 beta1 and alpha3beta1 in cell-cell and cell-substrate adhesion of human epidermal cells." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 110 (1990): 1387-1404.

Cawston, T.E., E. Mercer, De Silva M., and B.L. Hazleman. "Metalloproteinases and collagenase inhibitors in rheumatoid synovial fluid." <u>Arthritis and</u> <u>rheumatism</u> 27 (1984): 285-90.

Chan, B. M., P. D. Kassner, J. A. Schiro, H. R. Byers, T. S. Kupper, and M. E. Hemler. "Distinct cellular functions mediated by different VLA integrin α subunit cytoplasmic domains." <u>Cell</u> 68 (1992): 1051-1060.

Charbonneau, H. and N.K. Tonks. "1002 protein phosphatases?" Ann. Rev. Cell Biol. 8 (1992): 463-93.

Charo, I.F., L. Nannizzi, J.W. Smith, and D.A. Cherersh. "The vitronectin receptor alphaVbeta3 binds fibronectin and acts in concert with alpha5beta1 in promoting cellular attachment and spreading on fibronectin." <u>I. Cell Biol</u> 111 (1990): 2795-2800.

Chartier, L, L.L. Rankin, R.E. Allen, Y. Kato, N. Fusetani, H. Karaki, S. Watabe, and D.J. Hartshorne. "Calyculin-A increases the level of protein phosphorylation and changes the shape of 3T3 fibroblasts." <u>Cell Motility and the Cytoskeleton</u> 18 (1991): 26-40.

Cheresh, D.A. and J.R. Harper. "Arg-Gly-Asp recognition by a cell adhesion receptor requires its 130-kDa α subunit." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 262 (1987): 1434-1437.

Chou, Y-H, K-L. Ngai, and R. Goldman. "The regulation of intermediate filament reorganization in mitosis." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 266 (1991): 7325-7328.

Chou, Y.H., J.R. Bischoff, D. Beach, and R.D. Goldman. "Intermediate filament reorganization during mitosis is mediated by p34cdc2 phosphorylation of vimentin." <u>Cell</u> 62 (1990): 1063-1071.

Chun, J.S. and B.S. Jacobson. "Spreading of HeLa cells on a collagen substratum requires a second messenger formed by the lipoxygenase metabolism of arachidonic acid released by collagen receptor clustering." <u>Mol. Biol. Cell</u> 3 (1992): 481-492.

Clark, R.A.F. "Wound Repair." <u>Current Opinion in cell biology</u> 1 (1989): 1000-1008.

Cohen, P. "The structure and regulation of protein phosphatases." <u>Ann Rev.</u> <u>Biochem.</u> 58 (1989): 453-508.

Cohen, P., C.F.B. Holmes, and Y. Tsukitani. "Okadaic acid: a new probe for the study of cellular regulation." <u>TIBS</u> 15 (1990): 98-102.

Coleman, T.R., Z. Tang, and W.G. Dunphy. "Negative regulation of the wee1 protein kinase by direct action of the Nim/Cdr1 mitotic inducer." <u>Cell</u> 72 (1993): 919-29.

Collins, J.M. "Rates of DNA synthesis during the S-Phase of HeLa Cells." <u>I.Biol.</u> <u>Chem.</u> 253 (1971): 8570-8577.

Cool, D. E., P. R. Andreassen, N. K. Tonks, E. G. Krebs, E. H. Fischer, and R. L. Margolis. "Cytokinetic failure and asynchronous nuclear division in BHK cells overexpressing a truncated protein-tyrosine-phosphatase." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad.</u> <u>Sci. USA</u> 89 (1992): 5422-5426.

Culp, L, J. Laterra, M. Lark, R.J. Beyth, and S.L. Tobey. "Heparan sulfate proteoglycan as mediator of some adhesive responses and cytoskeletal reorganization of cells on fibronectin matrices." In <u>Functions of the</u> <u>proteoglycans. CIBA Symposium 124</u>, ed. V.C. Hascall ed. 158-183. London and New York: John Wiley and Sons, Ltd., 1986.

Curtis, A.S.G. "The mechanism of adhesion of cells to glass. A study by interference reflection microscopy." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 20 (1964): 199-215.

D'Souza, S.E., M.H. Ginsberg, T.A. Burke, S.C.-T. Lam, and E.F. Plow. "Localization of an Arg-Gly-Asp recognition site within an integrin adhesion receptor." <u>Science</u> 242 (1988): 91-93.

D'Souza, S.E., M.H. Ginsberg, T.A. Burke, and E.F. Plow. "The ligand binding site of the platelet integrin receptor GPIIb-IIIa is proximal to the second calcium binding domain of its a subunit." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 265 (1990): 3440-3446.

D'Souza, S.E., M.H. Ginsberg, and E.F. Plow. "Arginyl-glycyl-aspartic acid (RGD): a cell adhesion motif." <u>TIBS</u> 16 (1991): 246-250.

Damus, P.S., M. Hicks, and R.D. Rosenberg. "A generalized view of heparin's anticoagulant action." <u>Nature</u> 246 (1973): 355-57.

Dasso, M. and J.W. Newport. "Completion of DNA replication is monitored by a feedback system that controls the initiation of mitosis in vitro: studies in Xenopus." <u>Cell</u> 61 (1990): 811-823.

David-Pfeuty, T. and Y.N. Nouvian-Dooghe. "Immunolocalization of the cellular src protein in interphase and mitotic NIH c-src overexpresser cells." <u>J. Cell Biol.</u> 111 (1990): 3097-3116.

De Brabander, M., J.C. Bulinski, G. Geuens, J. De Mey, and G.G. Borisy. "Immunoelectron microscopic localization of the 210,000-Ml Wt microtubuleasociated protein in cultured cells of primates." <u>J. Cell Biol</u>. 91 (1981): 438-445.

de Curtis, I. "Neuronal interactions with the extracellular matrix." <u>Current</u> <u>Opinion in Cell Biology</u> 3 (1991): 824-831. Dedhar, S., W.S. Argraves, S. Suzuki, E. Ruoslahti, and M.D. Pierschbacher. "Human osteosarcoma cells resistant to detachment by an Arg-Gly-Aspcontaining peptide overproduce the fibronectin receptor." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 105 (1987): 0000-0000.

Dedhar, S. and V. Gray. "Isolation of a novel integrin receptor mediating Arg-Gly-Asp-directed cell adhesion to fibronectin and type I collagen from human neuroblastoma cells. Association of a novel beta1-related subunit with alfaV." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 110 (1990): 2185-2193.

Dover, R. and C.S. Potten. "Cell cycle kinetics of cultured human epidermal keratinocytes." <u>I. Invest. Dermatol.</u> 80 (1983): 423-429.

Draetta, G. "Cell cycle control in eukaryotes: molecular mechanisms of cdc2 activation." <u>TIBS.15</u> (1990):

Draetta, G. and D. Beach. "Activation of cdc2 protein kinase during mitosis in human cells: cell cycle-dependent phosphorylation and subunit rearrangement." <u>Cell</u> 54 (1988): 17-26.

Draetta, G., F. Luca, J. Westendorf, L. Brizuela, J. Ruderman, and D. Beach. "cdc2 protein kinase is complexed with both cyclin A and B: evidence for proteolytic inactivation of MPF." <u>Cell</u> 56 (1989): 829-838.

Du, X., E.F. Plow, A.L. Frelinger, O'Toole T.E., J.C. Loftus, and M.H. Ginsberg. "Ligands "Activate" Integrin alfaIIb-beta3 (Platelet GPIIb-IIIa)." <u>Cell</u> 65 (1991): 409-416.

Duesberg, P.H. "Duesberg replies." Nature 346 (1990): 788.

Duesberg, P.H. "AIDS epidemiology:inconsistences with human immunodeficiency virus and with infectious disease." <u>Proc. .Natl. Acad. Sci.</u> <u>USA</u> 88 (1991): 1575-1579.

Dunn, AEG. and MM. Ogilvie. "Intranuclear virus particels in human genital wart tissue: observation on the ultrastructure of the epidermal layer." <u>I. Ultrast.</u> <u>Res.</u> 22 (1968): 282-295.

Durkin, J.P., T. Youdale, and J.F. Whitfield. "tsLA23-NRK cells need pp60^{v-src} protein-tyrosine kinase activity in G2 phase to initiate mitosis in serum-free medium." <u>Cellular Signalling</u> 3 (1991): 93-97.

Durst, M., A. Kleinheinz, M. Hotz, and L. Gissmann. "The physical state of human papillomavirus type 16 DNA in benign and malignant genital tumors." <u>I. Geret. Virol.</u> 66 (1985): 1515.

Dutta, A. and B. Stillman. "cdc family kinases phosphorylate a human cell DNA replication factor, RPA, and activate DNA replication." <u>EMBO I.</u> 11 (1992): 2189-99.

Edwards, J.G., G. Campbell, A.W. Grierson, and S.R. Kinn. "Vanadate inhibits both intercellular adhesion and spreading on fibronectin of BHK21 cells and transformed derivatives." <u>I. Cell Sci.</u> 98 (1991): 363-368.

Edwards, J.G., H. Hameed, and G. Campbell. "Induction of fibroblast spreading by Mn2+: a possible role for unusual binding sites for divalent cations in receptors for proteins containing Arg-Gly-Asp." <u>I. Cell Sci.</u> 89 (1988): 507-13.

Edwards, J.G., R.T. Robson, and G. Campbell. "A major difference between serum and fibronectin in the divalent cation requirement for adhesion and spreading of BHK21 cells." <u>I. Cell Sci.</u> 87 (1987): 657-665.

Elices, M.J., L.A. Urry, and M.E. Hemler. "Receptor Functions for the Integrin VLA-3: Fibronectin, Collagen, and Laminin Binding Are Differentially Influenced by ARG-GLY-ASP Peptide and by Divalent Cations." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 112 (1991): 169-181.

Elledge, S. J., R. Richman, F. L. Hall, R. T. Williams, N. Lodgson, and J. W. Harper. "CDCK2 encodes a 33-kDa cyclin A-associated protein kionase and is expressed before CDC2 in the cell cycle." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u> (1992): 2907-2911.

Engvall, E. and E. Ruoslahti. "Binding of soluble form of fibroblast surface protein, fibronectin, to collagen." Int. I. Cancer 20 (1977): 1-5.

Engvall, E., E. Ruoslahti, and E.J. Miller. "Affinity of fibronectin to collagen of different genetic types and to fibrinogen." <u>I. Exp. Med.</u> 147 (1978): 1584-1595.

Enoch, T. and P. Nurse. "Mutation of fission yeast cell cycle control genes abolishes dependence of mitosis on DNA replication." <u>Cell</u> 60 (1990): 665-673.

Enoch, T. and P. Nurse. "Coupling M phase and S phase: controls maintaining the dependence of mitosis on chromosome replication." <u>Cell</u> 65 (1991): 921-923.

Evans, T., E.T. Rosenthal, J. Youngbloom, D. Distel, and T. Hunt. "Cyclin: a protein specified by maternal mRNA in sea urchin eggs that is destroyed at each cleavage division." <u>Cell</u> 33 (1983): 389-96.

Fairman, K. and B.S. Jacobson. "Unique morphology of HeLa cell attachment, spreading and detachment from microcarrier beads covalently coated with s specific and non-specific substratum." <u>Tissue & Cell</u> 15 (1983): 167-180.

Fang, F. and J.W. Newport. "Evidence that the G1-S and G2-M transitions are controlled by different cdc2 proteins in higher eukaryotes." <u>Cell</u> 66 (1991): 731-742.

Felix, M.A., P. Cohen, and E. Karsenti. "Cdc2 H1 kinase is negatively regulated by a type 2A phosphatase in the Xenopus early embryonic cell cycle: evidence from the effects of okadaic acid." <u>EMBO I.</u> 9 (1990): 675-683.

Ferguson, J.E. and M.R. Hanley. "The role of phospholipases and phospholipidderived signals in cell activation." <u>Current Opinion in Cell Biology</u> 3 (1991): 206-212.

Fernandez, A., D.L. Brautigan, and N.J.C. Lamb. "Protein phosphatase type 1 in mammalian cell mitosis: chromosomal localization and involvement in mitotic exit." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 116 (1992): 1421-1430.

Fernandez, M.P., O. Selmin, G.R. Martin, Y. Yamada, M. Pfeaffle, and et al. "The structure f anchorin CII, a collagen binding protein isolated from chondrocytes." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 263 (1988): 5921-25.

Ferreira, O.C., J.E. Valinsky, K. Sheridan, E.A. Wayner, C. Bianco, and A. Garcia-Pardo. "Phorbol ester-induced differentiation of U937 cells enhances attachment to fibronectin and distinctly modulates the $\alpha 5\beta 1$ and $\alpha 4\beta 1$ fibronectin receptors." <u>Exp. Cell Res.</u> 193 (1991): 20-26.

Fischer, E.H. and E.G. Krebs. "Conversion of phosphorylase b to phosphorylase a in muscle extracts." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 216 (1955): 121-32.

Flaumenhaft, R. and D.B. Rifkin. "Extracellular matrix regulation of growth factor and protease activity." <u>Current Opinion in Cell Biology</u> 3 (1991): 817-823.

Freed, E., J. Gailit, P. van der Geer, E. Ruoslahti, and T. Hunter. "A novel integrin beta subunit is associated with the vitronectin receptor alfa subunit (alfaV) in a human osteosarcoma cell line and is a substrate for protein kinase C." <u>EMBO I.</u> 8 (1989): 2955-2965.

Gail, M.H. and C.W. Boone. "Effect of colcemid on fibroblast motility." <u>Exp. Cell</u> <u>Res.</u> 65 (1971): 221-27.

Gailit, J. and E. Ruoslathi. "Regulation of the fibronectin receptor affinity by divalent cations." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 263 (1988): 12927-12932.

Galaktionov, K. and D. Beach. "Specific activation of cdc25 tyrosine phosphatases by B-type cyclins: evidence for multiple roles of mitotic cyclins." <u>Cell</u> 67 (1991): 1181-94.

Garcia-Pardo, A., O.C. Ferreira, J. Valinsky, and C. Bianco. "Fibronectin receptors of mononuclear phagocytes: binding characteristics and biochemical isolation." <u>Exp. Cell Res.</u> 181 (1989): 420-431.

Gautier, J., C. Norbury, M. Lohka, P. Nurse, and J. Maller. "Purified maturation-promoting factor contains the product of a Xenopus homolog of the fission yeast cell cycle control gene cdc2+." <u>Cell</u> 54 (1988): 433-9.

Gebb, C., E.G. Hayman, E. Engvall, and E. Ruoslahti. "Interaction of vitronectin with collagen." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 261 (1986): 16698-16703.

Geiger, B. "Cytoskeleton-associated cell contacts." <u>Current Opinion in Cell</u> <u>Biology</u> 1 (1989): 103-9.

Geiger, B. "Long-range morphogenetic signals and cell adhesion." <u>Bioessays</u> 13 (1991): 665-666.

Geiger, B. and O. Ayalon. "Cadherins." Ann.l Rev. Cell Biol. 8 (1992): 307-32.

Geiger, B., A.H. Dutton, K.T. Tokuyasu, and S.J. Singer. "Immunoelectron microscope studies of membrane-microfilament interactions: distribution of aactinin, tropomyosin and vinculin in intestinal brush border and chicken gizzard smooth muscle cells." <u>J. Cell Biol.</u> 91 (1981): 614-28.

Geiger, B., T. Volk, and T. Volberg. "Molecular heterogeneity of adherens junctions." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 101 (1985): 1523-31.

Geuens, G., G.G. Gundersen, R. Nuydens, F. Cornelissen, J.C. Bulinski, and M. DeBrabander. "Ultrastructural colocalization of tyrosinated and detyrosinated alfa-tubulin in interphase and mitotic cells." <u>J. Cell Biol.</u> 103 (1986): 1883-1893.

Ghiara, J.B., H.E. Richardson, K. Sugimoto, M. Henze, D.J. Lew, C. Wittenberg, and S.I. Reed. "A cyclin B homolog in S. cerevisiae: chronic activation of the cdc28 protein kinase by cyclin prevents exit from mitosis." <u>Cell</u> 65 (1991): 163-174.

Giancotti, F.G. and E. Ruoslahti. "Elevated levels of the alpha5beta1 fibronectin receptor supress the transformed phenotype of chinese hamster ovary cells." <u>Cell</u> 60 (1990): 849-859.

Girard, F., U. Strausfeld, A. Fernandez, and N.J.C. Lamb. "Cyclin A is required for the onset of DNA replication in mammalian fibroblasts." <u>Cell</u> 67 (1991): 1169-79.

Glenney Jr., J.R. "Tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins: mediators of signal transduction from the tyrosine kinases." <u>Biochimica et Biophysica Acta</u> 1134 (1992): 113-127.

Goebl, M.G. and M. Winey. "The yeast cell cycle." <u>Current Opinion in Cell</u> <u>Biology</u> 3 (1991): 242-246.

Gorbsky, G.J. "Chromosome motion in mitosis." BioEssays 14 (1992): 73-80.

Gould, K.L. and P. Nurse. "Tyrosine phosphorylation of the fission yeast cdc2+ protein kinase regulates entry into mitosis." <u>Nature</u> 342 (1989): 39-45.

Green, K.J. and R.D. Goldman. "Evidence for an interaction between the cell surface and intermediate filaments in cultured fibroblasts." <u>Cell Motility and the Cytoskeleton</u> 6 (1986): 389-405.

Greve, J.M. and D.I. Gottlieb. "Monoclonal antibodies which alter the morphology of cultured chick myogenic cells." <u>I. Cell. Biochem.</u> 18 (1982): 221-230.

Grinnell, F. "Focal adhesion sites and the removal of substratum-bound fibronectin." <u>I. Cell biol.</u> 103 (1986): 2697-706.

Grinnell, F. "Wound repair, keratinocyte activation and integrin modulation." <u>I. Cell Sci.</u> 101 (1992a): 1-5.

Grinnell, F. "Wound repair, keratinocyte activation and integrin modulation." <u>I. Cell Sci.</u> 101 (1992b): 1-5.

Guan, J-L. and D. Shalloway. "Regulation of focal adhesion-associated protein tyrosine kinase by both cellular adhesion and oncogenic transformation." <u>Nature</u> 358 (1992): 690-692.

Guan, J-L, J.E. Trevithick, and R.O. Hynes. "Fibronectin/integrin interaction induces tyrosine phosphorylation of a 120-kDa protein." <u>Cell Regulation</u> 2 (1991): 951-964.

Guan, J.L. and R.O. Hynes. "Lymphoid cells recognize an alternatively spliced segment of fibronectin via the integrin receptor alfa4beta1." <u>Cell</u> 60 (1990): 53-61.

Haimovich, B., B.J. Aneskievich, and D. Boettiger. "Cellular partitioning of β -1 integrins and their phosphorylated forms is altered after transformation by Rous sarcoma virus or treatment with cytochalasin D." <u>Cell Regulation</u> 2 (1991): 271-283.

Halazonetis, T.D., LJ. Davis, and A.N. Kandil. "Wild-type p53 adopts a "mutant" like conformation when bound to DNA." <u>EMBO I</u> 12 (1993): 1021-1028.

Hall, D.E., Reichardt. L.F., E. Crowley, B. Holley, H. Moezzi, A. Sonnenberg, and C.H. Damsky. "The α_1/β_1 and α_6/β_1 integrin heterodimers mediate cell attachment to distinct sites on laminin." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 110 (1990): 2175-84.

Hall, F.L. and P.R. Vulliet. "Proline-directed protein phosphorylation and cell cycle regulation." <u>Current Opinion in Cell Biology</u> 3 (1991): 176-184.

Ham, J, N. Dostani, J-M. Gauthier, and M. Yaniv. "The papillomavirus E2 protein: a factor with many talents." <u>TIBS</u> 16 (11 1991): 440-444.

Hanks, S. K., M. B. Calalb, M. C. Harper, and S. K. Patel. "Focal adhesion protein-tyrosine kinase phosphorylated in response to cell attachment to fibronectin." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u> (1992): 8487-8491.

Hartwell, L. "Defects in a cell cycle checkpoint may be responsible for the genomic instability of cancer cells." <u>Cell</u> 71 (1992): 543-6.

Hartwell, L.H. and T.A. Weinert. "Checkpoints: controls that ensure the order of cell cycle events." <u>Science</u> 246 (1989): 629-633.

Hayles, J. and P. Nurse. "Cell cycle regulation in yeast." <u>I. Cell Sci. (Suppl.)</u> 4 (1986): 155-170.

Hayman, E.G., E. Engvall, E. A'Hearn, D. Barnes, M. Pierschbacher, and et al. "Cell attachment of replicas of SDS polyacrylamide gels reveals two adhesive plasma proteins." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 95 (1982): 20-23.

Heald, R. and F. McKeon. "Mutations of phosphorylation sites in lamin A that prevent nuclear lamina disassembly in mitosis." <u>Cell</u> 61 (1990): 579-589.

Hermanowski-Vosatka, A., J.A.G. Van Strijp, W.J. Swiggard, and S.D. Wright. "Integrin modulating factor-1: a lipid that alters the function of leukocyte integrins." <u>Cell</u> 68 (1992): 341-352.

Hibbs, M.L, H. Xu, S.A. Stacker, and T.A. Springer. "Regulation of adhesion of ICAM-1 by the cytoplasmic domain of LFA-1 integrin β subunit." <u>Science</u> 251 (1991): 1611-13.

Hiebert, S.W., S.P. Chellapan, J.M. Horowitz, and J.R. Nevins. "The interaction of Rb with E2F coincides withan inhibition of the transciptional activity of E2F." <u>Genes & Development</u> 6 (1992): 177-185.

Hirst, R., A. Horwitz, B. Clayton, and L. Rohrschneider. "Phosphorylation of the fibronectin receptor complex in cells transformed by oncogenes that encode tyrosine kinases." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u> 83 (1986): 6470-6474.

Horvath, A.R., M.A. Elmore, and S. Kellie. "Differential tyrosine-specific phosaphorylation of integrin in Rous sarcoma virus transformed cells with differing transformed phenotypes." <u>Oncogene</u> 5 (1990): 1349-57.

Horvath, A.R. and S. Kellie. "Regulation of integrin mobility and cytoskeletal association in normal and RSV-transformed chick embryo fibroblasts." <u>I. Cell</u> <u>Sci.</u> 97 (1990): 307-315.

Humphries, M.J. "The molecular basis and specificity of integrin-ligand interactions." <u>I. Cell Sci.</u> 97 (1990): 585-592.

Humphries, M.J., S.K. Akiyama, A. Komoriya, K. Olden, and K.M. Yamada. "Identification of an alternatively spliced site in human plasma fibronectin that mediates cel type-specific adhesion." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 103 (1986): 2637-2647.

Humphries, M.J., A. Komoriya, S.K. Akiyama, K. Olden, and K.M. Yamada. "Identification of two distinct regions of the type III connecting segment of human plasma fibronectin that promote cell type-specific adhesion." <u>I. Biol.</u> <u>Chem.</u> 262 (1987): 6886-6892.

Hunt, T. "Destruction's our delight." Nature 349 (1991): 100-101.

Hunter, T. "A thousand and one protein kinases." Cell 50 (1987): 823-9.

Hunter, T. and B.M. Sefton. "Transforming gene product of Rous sarcoma virus phosphorylates tyrosine." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u>77 (1980): 1311-1315.

Hyafil, F., D. Morello, C. Babinet, and F. Jacob. "A cell surface glycoprotein involved in the compaction of embryonal carcinoma cells and cleavage stage embryos." <u>Cell</u> 21 (1980): 927-34.

Hynes, R.O. Fibronectins. New York: Springer Verlag, 1990.

Hynes, R.O. "Integrins: versatility, modulation and signaling in cell adhesion." <u>Cell</u> 69 (1992): 11-25.

Ingber, D.E., D. Prusty, J.V. Frangioni, Jr. Cragoe E.J., C. Lechene, and M.A. Schwartz. "Control of intracellular pH and growth by fibronectin in capillary endothelial cells." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 110 (1990): 1803-1811.

Izumi, M., T. Shimo-Oka, N. Morishita, I. Li, and M. Hayashi. "Identification of the collagen-binding domain of vitronectin using monoclonal antibodies." <u>Cell</u> <u>Struct. Funct.</u> 13 (1988): 217-25.

Izzard, C.S. and L.R. Lochner. "Cell-to-substrate contacts in living fibroblasts: an interference reflexion study with an evaluation of the technique." <u>J. Cell Sci.</u> 21 (1976): 120-59.

Jacq, A. and B. Holland. "Control of the bacterial cell cycle." <u>Current Opinion in</u> <u>Cell Biology</u> 3 (1991): 237-241.

Jenne, D. and K.K. Stanley. "Nucleotide sequence and organization of the human S-protein gene: repeating peptide motifs in the "pexin" family and a model for their evolution." <u>Biochemistry</u> 26 (1987): 6735-42.

Jessus, C., B. Ducommun, and D. Beach. "Direct activation of cdc2 with phosphatase: identification of p13suc1-sensitive and insensitive steps." <u>FEBS</u> <u>Lett.</u> 266 (1990): 4-8.

Jessus, C., H. Rime, O. Haccard, J. Van Lint, J. Goris, W. Merlevede, and R. Ozon. "Tyrosine phosphorylation of p34-cdc2 and p42 during meiotic maturation of Xenopus oocyte. Antagonistic action of okadaic acid and 6-DMAP." <u>Development</u> 111 (1991): 813-820.

Kipreos, E.T. and J.Y.J. Wang. "Differential phosphorylation of c-Abl in cell cycle determined by cdc2 kinase and phosphatase activity." <u>Science</u> 248 (1990): 217-220.

Kirchhofer, D., J. Grzesiak, and M.D. Pierschbacher. "Calcium as a potential physiological regulator of integrin-mediated cell adhesion." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 266 (1991): 4471-4477.

Kishimoto, T. and H. Kanatani. "Cytoplasmic factor responsible for germinal vesicle breakdown and meiotic maturation in starfish oocytes." <u>Nature</u> 260 (1976): 321-2.

Kitagaki-Ogawa, H., T. Yatohgo, M. Izumi, M. Hayashi, H. Kashiwagi, and et al. "Diversities in animal vitronectins. Differences in molecular weight, Immunoreactivity and carbohydrate chains." <u>Biochimica et Biophysica acta</u> 1033 (1990): 49-56. Klausner, R.D. and L.E. Samelson. "T cell antigen receptor activation pathways: the tyrosine kinase connection." <u>Cell</u> 64 (1991): 875-878.

Klumpp, S., P. Cohen, and J.E. Schultz. "Okadaic acid, an inhibitor of protein phosphatase 1 in Paramecium, causes sustained Ca2+-dependent backward swimming in response to depolarizing stimuli." <u>EMBO I.</u> 9 (1990): 685-689.

Knox, P. and S. Griffiths. "The distribution of cell-spreading activities in sera: a quantitative approach." <u>I. Cell Sci.</u> 46 (1980): 97-112.

Knox, P. and S. Griffiths. "The abnormal morphology of polyoma-transformed BHK cells is due to a failure to respond to 70K spreading factor." <u>I. Cell Sci.</u> 55 (1982): 301-316.

Krek, W. and E.A. Nigg. "Mutations of $p34^{cdc2}$ phosphorylation sites induce premature mitotic events in HeLa cells: evidence for a double block to $p34^{cdc2}$ kinase activation in vertebrates." <u>EMBO I.</u> 10 (1991): 3331-3341.

Kumagai, A. and W.G. Dunphy. "The cdc25 protein controls tyrosine dephosphorylation of the cdc2 protein in a cell-free system." <u>Cell</u> 64 (1991): 903-914.

Kumagai, A. and W. G. Dunphy. "Regulation of the cdc25 protein during the cell cycle in Xenopus extracts." <u>Cell</u> 70 (1992): 139-151.

Kuriyama, R. and C. Nislow. "Molecular components of the mitotic spindle." <u>BioEssays</u> 14 (1992): 81-88.

Laflamme, S. E., S. K. Akiyama, and K. M. Yamada. "Regulation of fibronectin receptor distribution." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 117 (1992): 437-447.

Lamb, N.J.C., A. Fernandez, A. Watrin, J.C. Labbe, and J.C. Cavadore. "Microinjection of p34-cdc2 kinase induces marked changes in cell shape, cytoskeletal organization, and chromatin structure in mammalian fibroblasts." <u>Cell</u> 60 (1990): 151-165.

Lane, D.P. "p53, guardian of the genome." Nature 358 (1992): 15-16.

Larjava, H., J. Peltonen, S.K. Akiyama, S.S. Yamada, H.R. Gralnick, J. Uitto, and K.M. Yamada. "Novel function for beta1 integrins in keratinocyte cell-cell interactions." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 110 (1990): 803-815.

Laskey, R.A., M.P. Fairman, and J.J. Blow. "S phase of the cell cycle." <u>Science</u> 246 (1989): 609-621.

Laterra, J. and L.A. Culp. "Differences in hyaluronate binding to plasma and cell surface fibronectins. Requirement for aggregation." <u>J. Biol. Chem.</u> 257 (1982): 719-726.

Laterra, J., J.E. Silbert, and L.E. Culp. "Cell surface heparan sulfate mediates some adhesive responses to glycosaminoglycan-binding matrices, including fibronectin." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 96 (1983): 112-123.

Lee, E.C., M.M. Lotz, G.D. Steele, and A.M. Mercurio. "The integrin $\alpha_6\beta_4$ is a laminin receptor." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 117 (1992): 671-678.

Lee, M.G. and P. Nurse. "Complementation used to clone a human homolog of the fission yeast cell cycle control cdc2+." <u>Nature</u> 327 (1987): 31-35.

Leslie, R.J., E. Kohler, and L. Wilson. "A component of the interphase cytoskeleton is cyclically recruited into spindle poles during mitosis." <u>Cell</u> <u>Motility and the cutoskeleton</u> 19 (1991): 80-90.

Levine, A.J., J. Momad, and C.A. Finlay. "The p53 tumour suppresso gene." Nature 351 (1991): 453456.

Lewin, B. "Drivng the cell cycle: M phase kinase, its partners, and substrates." <u>Cell</u> 61 (1990): 743-752.

Lindberg, R.A., A.M. Quinn, and T. Hunter. "Dual-specificity protein kinases: will any hydroxyl do?" <u>TIBS</u> 17 (1992): 114-9.

Lohka, M.J. "Mitotic control by metaphase-promoting factor and cdc2 proteins." <u>I. Cell Sci</u>.92 (1989): 131-135.

Lucocq, J., G. Warren, and J. Pryde. "Okadaic acid induces Golgi apparatus fragmentation and arrest of intracellular transport." <u>J. Cell Sci.</u> 100 (1991): 753-759.

Luscher, B., L. Brizuela, D. Beach, and R.N. Eisenman. "A role for the $p34^{cdc2}$ kinase and phosphatases in the regulation of phosphorylation and disassembly of lamin B₂ during the cell cycle." <u>EMBO I.</u> 10 (1991): 865-875.

MacKrell, A.J., B. Blumberg, S.R. Haynes, and J.H. Fessler. "The lethal myospheroid gene of Drosophila encodes a membrane protein homologous to vertebrate integrin beta subunits." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u> 85 (1987): 2633-2637.

Maller, J.L. "Mitotic control." Current Opinion in Cell Biology 3 (1991): 269-275.

Maller, J.L, J. Gautier, T.A. Langan, M.J. Lohka, S. Shenoy, D. Shalloway, and P. Nurse. "Maturation-promoting factor and the regulation of the cell cycle." <u>J. Cell Sci. Suppl.</u> 12 (1989): 53-63.

Marcantonio, E.E., J.L. Guan, J.E. Trevithick, and R.O. Hynes. "Mapping of the functional determinants of the integrin beta1 cytoplasmic domain by sitedirected mutagenesis." <u>Cell Regulation</u> 1 (1990): 597-604.

Marchisio, P.C., S. Bondanza, O. Cremona, R. Cancedda, and M. De Luca. "Polarized expression of integrin receptors (alpha6beta4, alpha2beta1, alpha3beta1 and alphaVbeta5) and their relationship with the cytoskeleton and membrane matrix in cultured human keratinocytes." <u>J. Cell Biol.</u> 112 (1991): 761-773.

Marks, P.W., B. Hendley, and F.R. Maxfield. "Attachment to Fibronectin or Vitronectin Makes Human Neutrophil Migration Sensitive to Alterations in Cytosolic Free Calcium Concentration." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 112 (1991): 149-158.

Marshall, C.J. "How does p21ras transform cells?" TIGS 7 (1991): 91-95.

Marx, J.L. "The cell cycle coming under control." Science 245 (1989): 252-255.

McInnes, C., P. Knox, and D.J. Winterbourne. "Cell spreading on serum is not identical to spreading on fibronectin." <u>I. Cell Sci.</u> 88 (1987): 623-629.

McIntosh, J.R. and M.P. Koonce. "Mitosis." Science 246 (1989): 622-628.

McKnight, G.S. "Cyclic AMP second messenger systems." <u>Current Opinion in</u> <u>Cell Biology</u> 3 (1991): 213-217.

McKnight, S. and R. Tjian. "Transcriptional selectivity of viral genes in mammalian cells." <u>Cell</u> (793-805.

Meisner, H. and M.P. Czech. "Phosphorylation of transcriptional factors and cell cycle-dependent proteins by casein kinase II." <u>Current Opinion in Cell</u> <u>Biology</u> 3 (1991a): 474-83.

Meisner, H. and M.P. Czech. "Phosphorylation of transcriptional factors and cell-cycle- dependent proteins by casein kinase II." <u>Current Opinion in Cell</u> <u>Biology</u> 3 (1991b): 474-483.

Menko, A.S. and D. Boettiger. "Occupation of the extracellular matrix receptor, integrin, is a control point for myogenic differentiation." <u>Cell</u> 51 (1987): 51-57.

Millar, Jba and P. Russell. "The cdc25 M-phase inducer: an unconventional protein phosphatase." <u>Cell</u> 68 (1992): 407-410.

Moolenaar, W.H. "Effect of growth factors on intracellular pH regulation." Ann. Rev. Phyiol. 48 (1986): 363-376.

Moreno, S. and P. Nurse. "Clues to action of CDC25 protein." <u>Nature</u> 351 (1991): 194.

Moreno, S., P. Nurse, and P. Russell. "Regulation of mitosis by cyclic accumulation of p80-cdc25 mitotic inducer in fission yeast." <u>Nature</u> 344 (1990): 549-552.

Morla, A.O., G. Draetta, D. Beach, and J.Y.J. Wang. "Reversible tyrosine phosphorylation of cdc2: dephosphorylation accompanies activation during entry into mitosis." <u>Cell</u> 58 (1989): 193-203.

Mould, A.P., L.A. Wheldon, A. Komoriya, E.A. Wayner, K.M. Yamada, and M.J. Humphries. "Affinity chromatographic isolation of the melanoma adhesion receptor for the IIICS region of fibronectin and its identification as the integrin $\alpha 4\beta 1$." I. Biol. Chem. 7 (1990): 4020-4024.

Mullis, K.B. "The unusual origin of the polymerase chain reaction." <u>Scientific</u> <u>American</u> (1990): 104-111.

Murray, A. W. "Never-in-mitosis in mitosis." Nature 353 (1991a): 701-702.

Murray, A.W. "Rememberance of things past." Nature 349 (1991b): 367-368.

Naeve, G.S., A. Sharma, and A.S. Lee. "Temporal events regulating the early phases of the mammalian cell cycle." 3 (1991): 261-268.

Naidet, C., M. Semeriva, K.M. Yamada, and J.P. Thiery. "Peptides containing the cell-attachment recognition signal Arg-Gly-Asp prevent gastrulation in Drosophila embryos." <u>Nature</u> 327 (1987): 348-50.

Neff, N.T., C. Lowrey, C. Decker, A. Tovar, C. Damsky, C. Buck, and A.F. Horwitz. "A monoclonal antibody detaches embryonic skeletal muscle from extracellular matrices." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 96 (1982): 654-666.

Neugebauer, K.M. and L.F. Reichardt. "Cell-surface regulation of β_1 -integrin activity on developing retinal neurons." <u>Nature</u> 350 (1991): 68-71.

Nicolson, G.L. "Metastatic tumor cell interactions with endothelium basement membrane and tissue." <u>Current Opinion in Cell Biology</u> 1 (1989): 1009-1019.

Nigg, E.A. "Targets of cyclin-dependent protein kinases." <u>Current Opinion in</u> <u>Cell Biology</u> 5 (1993): 187-93.

Nishizuka, Y. "The molecular heterogeneity of protein kinase C and its implications for cellular regulation." <u>Nature</u> 334 (1988): 661-5.

North, G. "Regulating the cell cycle." Nature 339 (1989): 97-98.

Nurse, P. "Checkpoints and spindles." Nature 354 (1991): 356-358.

Nurse, P. and Y. Bissett. "Gene required in G1 for commitment to cell cycle and in G2 for control of mitosis in fission yeast." <u>Nature</u> 292 (1981): 558-60.

O'Farrell, P.H. "High resolution two-dimensional electrophoresis of proteins." <u>J. Biol. Chem.</u> 250 (1975): 4007-4021.

O'Farrell, P.H., B.A. Edgar, D. Lakich, and C.F. Lehner. "Directing cell division during development." <u>Science</u> 246 (1989): 635-640.

O'Toole, T.E., D. Mandelman, J. Forsyth, S.J. Shattil, E.F. Plow, and M.H. Ginsberg. "Modulation of the affinity of integrin $\alpha_{IIb}\beta_3$ (GPIIB-IIIa) by the cytoplasmic domain of α_{IIb} ." <u>Science</u> 254 (1991): 845-847.

Obara, M., M.S. Kang, S. Rocher-Dufour, A. Kornblihtt, J.P. Thiery, and K.M. Yamada. "Expression of the cell-binding domain of human fibronectin in E. coli. Identification of sequences promoting full to minimal adhesive function." <u>FEBS lett.</u> 213 (1987): 261-264.

Obara, M., M.S. Kang, and K.M. Yamada. "Site-directed mutagenesis of the cellbinding domain of human fibronectin: Separable, synergistic sites mediate adhesive function." <u>Cell</u> 53 (1988): 649-657.

Olmsted, J.B. et al. "Cell cycle-dependent changes in the dynamics of MAP 2 and MAP 4 in cultured cells." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 109 (1989): 211-223.

Oriel, JD. and JD. Almeida. "Demonstration of virus particles in human genital warts." <u>British Iournal of Venereal Diseases</u> 46 (37-42 1970):

Pagano, M., M. Durst, S. Joswig, G. Draetta, and P. Jansendurr. "Binding of the human e2f transcription factor to the retinoblastoma protein but not to cyclin-a is abolished in hpv-16-immortalized cells." <u>Oncogene</u> 7 (1992): 1681-1686.

Pallen, C.J., Y.H. Tan, and G.R. Guy. "Protein phosphatases in cell signalling." Current Opinion in Cell Biology 4 (1992): 1000-7.

Pardee, A.B. "G1 events and regulation of cell proliferation." <u>Science</u> 246 (1989): 603-608.

Pardi, R., L. Inverardi, C. Rugarli, and J.R. Bender. "Antigen-receptor complex stimulation triggers protein kinase C-dependent CD11a/CD18-cytoskeleton association in T lymphocytes." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 116 (1992): 1211-1220.

Pepperkok, R., M.H. Bre, J. Davoust, and T.E. Kreis. "Microtubules are stabilized in confluent epithelial cells but not in fibroblasts." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 111 (1990): 3003-3012.

Phelps, WC., CL. Yee, K. Munger, and PM. Howley. "The human papillomavirus type 16 E7 gene encodes transactivaton and transformation functions similar to those of adenovirus E1A." <u>Cell</u> 53 (1988): 539-.

Phillips, D.R., I.F. Charo, and R.M. Scarborough. "GPIIb-IIIa: The Responsive Integrin." <u>Cell</u> 65 (1991): 359-362.

Piersbacher, M.D. and E. Ruoslahti. "The cell attachment activity of fibronectin can be duplicated by small synthetic fragments of the molecule." <u>Nature</u> 309 (1984): 30-33.

Pierschbacher, M.D., E.G. Hayman, and E. Ruoslahti. "Location of the cellattachment site in fibronectin with monoclonal antibodies and proteolytic fragments of the molecule." <u>Cell</u> 26 (1981): 259-267.

Plantefaber, L.C. and R.O. Hynes. "Changes in integrin receptors on oncogenically transformed cells." <u>Cell</u> 56 (1989): 281-290.

Podack, E.R., B. Dahlback, and J.H. Griffin. "Binding of desoxycholate, phosphatidylcholine vesicles, lipoprotein and of the S-protein to complexes of terminal complement components." <u>I.f Immunol.</u> 121 (1986): 1025-1030.

Pondaven, P. and L. Meijer. "Protein phosphorylation and oocyte maturation. I. Induction of starfish oocyte maturation by intracellular microinjection of a phosphatase inhibitor, alfa-naphthylphosphate." <u>Exp. Cell Res.</u> 163 (1986):

Preissner, K.T. "Structure and biological role of vitronectin." <u>Ann. Rev.Cell</u> <u>Biol.</u> 7 (1991): 275-310.

Preissner, K.T. and G. Muller-Berghaus. "Neutralization and binding of heparin by S protein/vitronectin in the inhibition of factor Xa by antithrombin

III. Involvement of an inducible heparin binding domain of S protein/vitronectin." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 262 (1987a): 12247-53.

Preissner, K.T., L. Zwicker, and G. Muller-Berghaus. "Formation, characterization and detection of a ternary complex between S protein, thrombin and antithrombin III in serum." <u>Biochem. I.</u> 243 (1987b): 105-11.

Pringle, J.R. "Cell Multiplication." <u>Current Opinion in Cell Biology</u> 3 (1991): 235-236.

Ptashne, M. "Gene regulation by proteins acting nearby and at a distance." Nature 322 (1986): 697-.

Pytela, R., M.D. Pierschbacher, and E. Ruoslathi. "Identification and isolation of a 140 kd cell surface glycoprotein with properties expected of a fibronectin receptor." <u>Cell</u> 40 (1985): 191-198.

Rabinovitch, M. and M.J. DeStefano. "Manganese stimulates adhesion and spreading of mouse sarcoma I ascites cells." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 59 (1973): 165-176.

Reed, S.I. "G1 specific cyclins: in search of an S-phase promoting factor." <u>TIGS</u> 7 (1991): 95-9.

Reich, N.C., M. Oren, and A.J. Levine. "Two distinct mechanisms regulate the levels of a cellular tumor antigen p53." <u>Mol. Cell. Biol.</u> 3 (12 1983): 2143-2150.

Reid, G.G. "The interaction of mammalian cells with modified and composite collagen substrata." University of Glasgow, 1991.

Reszka, A. A., Y. Hayashi, and A. F. Horwitz. "Identification of amino acid sequences in the integrin b1 cytoplasmic domain implicated in cytoskeletal association." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 117 (1992): 1321-1330.

Riabowol, K., G. Draetta, L. Brizuela, D. Vandre, and D. Beach. "The cdc2 kinase is a nuclear protein that is essential for mitosis in mammalian cells." <u>Cell</u> 57 (1989): 393-401.

Rinnerthaler, G., B. Geiger, and J.V. Small. "Contact formation during fibroblast locomotion: involvement of membrane ruffles and microtubules." <u>J. Cell Biol.</u> 106 (1988): 747-60.

Roberts, C.J., T.M. Birkenmeier, J.J. McQuillan, S.K. Akiyama, S.S. Yamada, W-T. Chen, K.M. Yamada, and J.A. McDonald. "Transforming growth factor b stimulates the expression of fibronectin and of both subunits of the human fibronectin receptor by cultured human lung fibroblasts." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 263 (1988): 4586-4592. Roman, J. et al. "The fibronectin receptor is organized by extracellular matrix fibronectin: implications for oncogenic transformation and for cell recognition of fibronectin matrices." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 108 (1989): 2529-2543.

Ruoslahti, E., E.G. Hayman, E. Engvall, W.C. Cothran, and W.T. Butler. "Alignment of biologically active domains in the fibronectin molecule." <u>I. Biol.</u> <u>Chem.</u> 256 (1981): 7277-7281.

Ruoslahti, E. and Y. Yamaguchi. "Proteoglycans as modulators of growth factor activities." <u>Cell</u> 64 (1991): 867-869.

Ruoslathi, E. "Fibronectin and its receptors." <u>Ann. Rev. Biochem.</u> 57 (1988): 375-413.

Russell, P. and P. Nurse. "The mitotic inducer nim1+ functions in a regulatory network of protein kinase homologs controlling the initiation of mitosis." <u>Cell</u> 49 (1987): 569-76.

Saksela, O. and D.B. Rifkin. "Release of basic fibroblast growth factor-heparan sulfate complexes from endothelial cells by plasminogen activator-mediated proteolytic activity." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 110 (1990): 767-775.

Sane, D.C., T.L. Moser, A.M.M. Pippen, C.J. Parker, K.E. Achyuthan, and et al. "Vitronectin is a substrate for transglutaminases." <u>Biochem. Biophysi. Res.</u> <u>Commun.</u> 157 (1988): 115-120.

Satterwhite, L.L., M.J. Lohka, K.L. Wilson, T.Y. Scheron, L.J. Cisek, J.L. Corden, and T.D. Pollard. "Phosphorylation of myosin-II regulatory chain by cyclinp34cdc: a mechanism for the timing of cytokinesis." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 118 (1992): 595-605.

Saunders, S. and M. Bernfield. "Cell surface proteoglycan binds mouse mammary epithelial cells to fibronectin and behaves as a receptor for interstitial matrix." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 106 (1988): 423-430.

Saunders, S., M. Jalkanen, S. O'Farrell, and M. Bernfield. "Molecular cloning of syndecan, an integral membrane glycoprotein." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 108 (1989): 1547-56.

Schaller, M. D., C. A. Borgman, B. S. Cobb, R. R. Vines, A. B. Reynolds, and J. T. Parsons. "pp125^{FAK}, a structurally distinctive protein-tyrosine kinase associated with focal adhesion." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u>89 (1992): 5192-5196.

Schittny, J.C. and P.D. Yurchenco. "Basement membranes: molecular organization and function in development and disease." <u>Current opinion in cell biology</u> 1 (1989): 983-989.

Schneider, C., S. Gustincich, and G. Del Sal. "The complexity of cell proliferation control in mammalian cells." <u>Current Opinion in Cell Biology</u> 3 (1991): 276-281.

Schwartz, M. A., G. Both, and C. Lechene. "Effect of cell spreading on cytoplasmic pH in normal and transformed fibroblasts."<u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.</u> <u>USA</u> 86 (1989): 4525-4529.

Schwartz, M. A. and C. Lechene. "Adhesion is required for protein kinase Cdependent activation of the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter by platelet-derived growth factor." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u> 89 (1992): 6138-6141.

Schwartz, M.A., C. Lechene, and D.E. Ingber. "Insoluble ribronectin activates the Na/H antiporter by clustering and immobilizing integrin alpha5beta1, independent of cell shape." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u> 88 (1991): 7849-7853.

Schwarzbauer, J.E. "Fibronectin: from gene to protein." <u>Current Opinion in</u> <u>Cell Biology</u> 3 (1991): 786-791.

Sczekan, M.M. and R.L. Juliano. "Internalization of the fibronectin receptor is a constitutive process." <u>I. Cell Physiol.</u> 142 (1990): 574-580.

Sekiguchi, K., T. Maeda, and K. Titani. "Artificial cell adhesive proteins." In Essays in Biochemistry. ed. K.F. Tipton. 26. Cambridge: Portland Press Ltd, 1991.

Shattil, S.J. and J.S. Brugge. "Protein tyrosine phosphory!ation and the adhesive functions of platelets." <u>Current Opinion in Cell Biology</u> 3 (1991): 869-879.

Shaw, A. and M.L. Thomas. "Coordinate interactions of protein tyrosine kinases and protein tyrosine phasphatases in T-cell receptor-mediated signalling." <u>Current Opinion in Cell Biology</u> 3 (1991): 862-868.

Shaw, L.M., J.M. Messier, and A.M. Mercurio. "The activation dependent adhesion of macrophages to laminin involves cytoskeletal anchoring and phosphorylation of th alpha6beta1 integrin." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 110 (1990a): 2167-2174.

Shaw, L.M., J.M. Messier, and A.M. Mercurio. "The activation dependent adhesion of macrophages to laminin involves cytoskeletal anchoring and phosphorylation of the $\alpha_6\beta_1$ integrin." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 110 (1990b): 2167-2174.

Shaw, L.M., J.M. Messier, and A.M. Mercurio. "The Activation Dependent Adhesion of Macrophages to Laminin Involves Cytoskeletal Anchoring and Phosphorylation of the alfa6beta1 Integrin." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 110 (1990c): 2167-2174. Shenoy, S., I. Chackalaparampil, S. Bagodria, P-H. Lin, and D. Shalloway. "Role of p34^{cdc2}-mediated phosphorylations in two-step activation of pp60^{c-src} during mitosis." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u> 89 (1992): 7237-7241.

Simanis, V. and P. Nurse. "The cell cycle control gene cdc2+ of fission yeast encodes a protein kinase potentially regulated by phosphorylation." <u>Cell</u> 45 (1986): 261-8.

Small, J.V. "Geometry of actin-membrane attachments in the smooth muscle cell: the localizations of vinculin and α -actinin." <u>EMBO I</u> 4 (1985): 45-9.

Smith, J.C., K. Symes, R.O. Hynes, and D. DeSimone. "Mesoderm induction and the control of gastrulation in Xenopus laevis: the roles of fibronectin and integrins." <u>Development</u> 108 (1990b): 229-238.

Smith, J.W. and D.A. Cheresh. "The Arg-Gly-Asp binding domain of the vitronectin receptor. Photoaffinity cross-linking implicates aminoacid residues 61-203 of the β subunit." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 263 (1988): 18726-18731.

Smith, J.W. and D.A. Cheresh. "Integrin $(\alpha_v \beta_3)$ -ligand interaction." <u>I. Biol.</u> <u>Chem.</u> 265 (1990a): 2168-2172.

Smotkin, D. and FO. Wettstein. "TRanscription of human papillomavirus type 16 early genes in cervical cancer and cancer-derived cell line and identification of the E7 protein." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u> 83 (1986): 4680.

Smythe, C. and J.W. Newport. "Coupling of mitosis to the completion of S phase inb Xenopus occurs via modulation of the tyrosine kinase that phosphorylates p34cdc2." <u>Cell</u> 68 (1992): 787-797.

Solowska, J., J.M. Edelman, S.M. Albelda, and C.A. Buck. "Cytoplasmic and transmembrane domains of integrin β_1 and β_3 subunits are functionally interchangeable." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 114 (1991): 1079-1088.

Sonnenberg, A., J. Calafat, H. Janssen, and H. Daams. "Integrin a6/b4 complex is located in hemidesmosomes, suggesting a major role in epidermal cell-basement membrane adhesion." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 113 (1991): 907-17.

Spalholz, BA., Y-C. Yang, and PM. Howley. "Transactivation of a bovine papillomavirus transcriptional regulatory element by the E2 product." <u>Cell</u> 42 (1985): 183-191.

Springer, T.A. "Adhesion receptors of the immune system." <u>Nature</u> 346 (1990): 425-434.

Stamatoglou, S.C. and J.M. Keller. "Interactions of cellular glycosaminglycans with plasma fibronectin and collagen." <u>Biochimica et Biophysica Acta</u> 719 (1982): 90-97.

Stamatoglou, S.C., K.H. Sullivan, S. Johansson, P.M. Bayley, I.D.J. Burdett, and R.C. Hughes. "Localization of two fibronectin-binding glycoproteins in rat liver and primary hepatocytes. Co-distribution in vitro of integrin (alpha5beta1) and non-integrin (Agp110) receptors in cell-substratum adhesion sites." <u>I. Cell Sci.</u> 97 (1990): 595-606.

Steinmann, K.E., G.S. Belinsky, D. Lee, and R. Schlegel. "Chemically induced premature mitosis: differential response in rodent and human cells and the relationship to cyclin B synthesis and p34^{cdc2}/cyclin B complex formation." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u>(1991): 6843-6847.

Steinmeyer, K., H. Maacke, and W. Deppert. "Cell cycle control by p53 in normal (3T3) and chemically transformed (Meth A) mouse cells. I. Regulation of p53 expression." <u>Oncogene</u> 5 (1990): 1691-1699.

Stickel, S.K. and Y. Wang. "Synthetic peptide GRGDS induces dissociation of alpha-actinin and vinculin from the sites of focal contacts." <u>J. Cell Biol.</u> 107 (1988): 1231-1239.

Storey, A., D. Pim, A. Murray, K. Osborn, L. Banks, and L. Crawford. "Comparison of the *in vitro* transforming activities of human papillomavirus types." <u>EMBO I.</u> 7 (1988): 1815.

Strausfeld, U., J.C. Labbe, D. Fesquet, J.C. Cavadore, A. Picard, K. Sadhu, P. Russell, and M. Doree. "Dephosphorylation and activation of a p34cdc2/cyclin B complex in vitro by human CDC25 protein." <u>Nature</u> 351 (1991): 242-245.

Sunshine, J., K. Balak, U. Rutishauser, and M. Jacobson. "Changes in NCAM structure during vertebrate neural development." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u> 84 (1987): 5986-90.

Surana, U., H. Robitsch, C. Price, T. Schuster, I. Fitch, A.B. Futcher, and K. Nasmyth. "The role of cdc28 and cyclins during mitosis in the budding yeast S. cerevisiae." <u>Cell</u> 65 (1991): 145-161.

Sutherland, E.W. and W.D. Wosilait. "Inactivation and activation of liver phosphorylase." <u>Nature</u> 175 (1955): 169-70.

Suzuki, S., A. Oldberg, E.G. Hayman, M. Pierschbacher, and E. Ruoslahti. "Complete aminoacid sequence of human vitronectin deduced from cDNA. Similarity of cell attachment sites in vitronectin and fibronectin." <u>EMBO I.</u> 4 (1985): 2519-24.

Suzuki, S., M.D. Pierschbacher, E.G. Hayman, K. Nguyen, Y. Ohgren, and et al. "Domain structure of vitronectin." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 259 (1984): 15307-14.

Takahashi, N., Y. Takahashi, and F.W. Putnam. "Complete aminoacid sequence of human hemopoxin, the heme-binding protein of serum." <u>Proc.</u>. <u>Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u> 82 (1985): 73-77.

Tamkun, J.W., J.E. Schwarzbaure, and R.O. Hynes. "Plasma fibronectin is synthesised and secreted by hepatocytes." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 258 (1983): 4641-4647.

Tamkun, J.W., J.E. Schwarzbaure, and R.O. Hynes. "A single rat fibronectin gene generates three different mRNAs by alternative splicing of a complex exon." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u> 81 (1984): 5140-5144.

Tamm, I., I. Cardinale, and J. S. Murphy. "Decreased adherence of interleukin 6-treated breast carcinoma cells can lead to separation from neighbors after mitosis." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA</u> 88 (1991): 4414-44184414-4418.

Tamura, R.N., H.M. Cooper, G. Collo, and V. Quaranta. "Cell type-specific integrin variants with alternative α chain cytoplasmic domains." <u>Proc. Natl.</u> <u>Acad. Sci. USA</u> 88 (1991): 10183-10187.

Tamura, T., E. Simon, K. Geschwill, and H. Niemann. "cdc2/pp56-62 are in vitro substrates for the tyrosine kinase encoded by the v-fms oncogene." <u>Oncogene</u> 5 (1990): 1259-1263.

Taylor, S.S., D.R. Knighton, Z. Jianhua, F.T. Eyck, and J.M. Somadski. "Structural framework for the protein kinase family." <u>Ann. Rev. Cell Biol.</u> 8 (1992): 429-62.

Taylor, S.S., D.R. Knighton, Z. Jianhua, F.T. Eyck, and J.M. Somadski. "A template for the protein kinase family." <u>TIBS</u> 18 (1993): 84-9.

Tidball, J.G. "a-actinin is absent from the terminal segments of myofibrils and from subsarcolemmal densities in frog skeletal muscle." <u>Exp. Cell Res.</u> 170 (1987): 469-82.

Tidball, J.G., T. O'Halloran, and K. Burridge. "Talin at myotendinous junctions." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u>103 (1986): 1465-72.

Tomasini, B.R. and D.F. Mosher. "Conformational states of vitronectin: preferential expression of an antigenic epitope when fibronectin is covalently and noncovalently complexed with thrombin-antithrombin III or treated with urea." <u>Blood</u> 72 (1988): 903-912.

Tonks, N.K. "Protein phosphatases: key players in the regulation of cell function." <u>Current Opinion in Cell Biology</u> 2 (1990): 1114-24.

Townes, P. and J. Holtfretter. "Directed movements and selective adhesion of embryonic amphibian cells." <u>I. Exp. Zool.</u> 128 (1955): 53-120.

Tsukita, S., K. Oishi, T. Akiyama, Y. Yamanashi, T. Yamamoto, and S. Tsukita. "Specific proto-oncogenic tyrosine kinases of src family are enriched in cell-tocell adherens junctions where the level of tyrosine phosphorylation is elevated." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 113 (1991): 867-879.

Turner, C.E. "Paxillin is a major phosphotyrosine-containing protein during embryonic development." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 115 (1991): 201-207.

Ullrich, A. and J. Schlessinger. "Signal transduction by receptors with tyrosine kinase activity." <u>Cell</u> 61 (1990): 203-12.

Uy, R. and F. Wold. "Posttranslational covalent modification of proteins." <u>Science</u> 198 (1977): 890-6.

van Kooyk, Y., P. van de Wiel-van Kemenade, P. Weder, T.W. Kuijpers, and C.G. Figdor. "Enhancement of LFA-1-mediated cell adhesion by triggering through CD2 or CD3 on T lymphocytes." <u>Nature</u> 342 (1989): 811-813.

Vandre, D.D., V.E. Centonze, J. Peloquin, R.M. Tombes, and G.G. Borisy. "Proteins of the mammalian mitotic spindle:phosphorylation/dephosphorylation of MAP-4 during mitosis." <u>I. Cell</u> <u>Sci.e</u> 98 (1991): 577-588.

Vandre, D. D. and V. L. Wills. "Inhibition of mitosis by okadaic acid: possible involvement of a protein phosphatase 2A in the transition from metaphase to anaphase." <u>I.Cell Sci.</u> 101 (1992): 79-91.

Vasiliev, J.M., I.M. Gelfand, L.V. Domnina, and O.Y. Ivanova. "Effect of colcemid on the locomotory behavior of fibroblasts." <u>J. Embryol. exp. Morph.</u> 24 (1970): 625-640.

Vogel, B.E., G. Tarone, F.G. Giancotti, J. Gailit, and E. Ruoslahti. "A novel fibronectin receptor with an unexpected composition (alphaVbeta1)." <u>J. Biol.</u> <u>Chem.</u> 265 (1990): 5934-5937.

Volk, T., O. Cohen, and B. Geiger. "Formation of heterotypic adherens-type junctions between L-CAM-containing liver cells and A-CAM-containing lens cell." <u>Cell</u> 50 (1987): 987-94.

Volpi, M. and R.D. Berlin. "Intracellular elevations of free calcium induced by activation of histamine H1 receptors in interphase and mitotic HeLa cells: hormone signal transductions is altered during mitosis." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 107 (1988): 2533-2539.

Vyas, N.K., M.N. Vyas, and F.A. Quiocho. "A novel calcium binding site in the galactose-binding protein of bacterial transport and chemotaxis." <u>Nature</u> 327 (1987): 635-38.

Walker, D.H., A.A. Depaoli-Roach, and J.L. Maller. "Multiple roles for protein phosphatase 1 in regulating the Xenopus early embryonic cell cycle." <u>Mol. Biol.</u> <u>Cell</u> 3 (1992): 687-98.

Ward, G.E. and M.W. Kirschner. "Identification of cell cycle-regulated phosphorylation sites on nuclear lamin C." <u>Cell</u> 61 (1990): 561-577.

Warren, G. "Mitosis and membranes." Nature 342 (1989): 857-858.

Wayner, E.A., W.G. Carter, R.S. Piotrowicz, and T.J. Kunicki. "The function of multiple extracellular matrix receptors..." <u>I. Cell biol.</u> 107 (1988): 1881-91.

Wayner, E.A., R.A. Orlando, and D.A. Cheresh. "Integrins alphaV beta3 and alphaV beta5 contribute to cell attachment to vitronectin but differentially distribute on the cell surface." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 113 (1991): 919-929.

Welch, M.P., G.F. Odland, and R.A.F. Clark. "Temporal Relationships of F-Actin Bundle Formation, Collagen and Fibronectin Matrix Assembly, and Fibronectin Receptor Expression to Wound Contraction." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 110 (1990): 133-145.

Welch, P.J. and J.Y.J. Wang. "Coordinated synthesis and degradation of cdc2 in the mammalian cell cycle." <u>Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA.</u> 89 (1992): 3093-3097.

Werb, Z., P.M. Tremble, O. Behrendtsen, E. Crowley, and C.H. Damsky. "Signal transduction through the fibronectin receptor induces collagenase and stromelysin gene expression." <u>I. Cell Biol.</u> 109 (1989): 877-889.

Westwood, J.T. and E.B. Wagenaar. "Chinese hamster cells can be reversibly blocked before mitosis with the protein synthesis inhibitor, emetine." <u>I. Cell</u> <u>Sci.</u> 59 (1983): 257-268.

Whyte, P., K.J. Buchkovich, J.M. Horowitz, S Friend, M. Raybuck, R. Weinberg, and E. Harlow. "Association between an oncogene and a antioncogene: the adenovirus E1A proteins bind to the retinoblastoma gene product." <u>Nature</u> 334 (1988): 124-129.

Williams, A.F. and N. Barclay. "The immunoglobulin superfamily-domains for cell surface recognition." <u>Ann. Rev. Immunol.</u> 6 (1988): 381-405.

Woods, A. and J.R. Couchman. "Protein kinase C involvement in focal adhesion formation." <u>I. Cell Sci.</u> 101 (1992): 277-290.

Woods, A., J.R. Couchman, S. Johansson, and M. Hook. "Adhesion and cytoskeletal organization of fibroblasts in response to fibronectin fragments." <u>EMBO I.</u> 5 (1986): 665-70.

Yamada, K.M. "Fibronectins: structure, functions and receptors." <u>Current</u> <u>Opinion in Cell Biology</u> 1 (1989): 956-963.

Yamada, K.M., D.W. Kennedy, K. Kimata, and R.M. Pratt. "Characterization of fibronectin interactions with glycosaminglycans and identification of active proteolytic fragments." <u>I. Biol. Chem.</u> 255 (1980): 6055-6063.

Yamashiro, S. and F. Matsumura. "Mitosis-specific phosphorylation of caldesmon: possible molecular mechanism of cell rounding during mitosis." <u>BioEssays</u> 13 (1991): 563-568.

Yamashiro, S., Y. Yamakita, H. Hosoya, and F. Matsumura. "Phosphorylation of non-muscle caldesmon by p34cdc2 kinase during mitosis." <u>Nature</u> 349 (1991): 169-172.

Yamashita, K., H. Yasuda, J. Pines, K. Yasumoto, H. Nishitani, M. Ohtsubo, T. Hunter, T. Sugimura, and T. Nishimoto. "Okadaic acid, a potent inhibitor of type 1 and type 2A protein phosphatases, activates cdc2/H1 kinase and transiently induces a premature mitosis-like state in BHK21 cells." <u>EMBO J.</u> 9 (1990): 4331-4338.

Zhao, J., J. Kuang, R.C. Adlakha, and P.N. Rao. "Threonine phosphorylation is associated with mitosis in HeLa cells." <u>FEBS Lett.</u> 249 (1989): 389-395.

Zieve, G.W., D. Turnbull, J. Mullins, and J.R. Mcintosh. "Production of large numbers of mitotic mammalian cells by use of the reversible microtubule inhibitor nocodazole." <u>Exp. Cell Res.</u> 126 (1980): 397-405.

